





Ghent University – Faculty of Sciences Flanders Institute for Biotechnology Department for Molecular Biomedical Research December 2007

Modulation of dendritic cell function through delivery of effector proteins by genetically modified *Lactococcus lactis*

Michaela Loos

Thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

DOCTOR IN SCIENCES: BIOTECHNOLOGY

Promoters: Prof. Dr. Erik Remaut and Dr. Pieter Rottiers

Examination Commission

Chairman

Prof. Dr. Rudi Beyaert¹

Reading committee

Dr. Pieter Rottiers²

Dr. An De Creus²

Prof. Dr. Johan Grooten¹

Dr. Geert Raes ³

Other members

Prof. Dr. Erik Remaut¹

Prof. Dr. Eric Cox⁴

Prof. Dr. Dirk Elewaut ⁵

1 Department of Molecular Biomedical Research, Ghent University, Belgium

2 ActoGeniX NV, Ghent, Belgium

3 Department of Molecular and Cellular Interactions, VUB, Brussels, Belgium

4 Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Ghent University, Belgium

5 Department of Rheumatology, Ghent University Hospital, Belgium

Dankwoord

ij het bereiken van een doel en het afsluiten van een mooie periode hoort traditioneel een dankwoord. En dat ik dit werk uiteindelijk tot een goed einde heb kunnen brengen, heb ik zeker niet alleen aan mezelf te danken. Daarom deze bescheiden poging om iedereen die me de afgelopen zes jaar heeft bijgestaan eventjes in de schijnwerpers te stellen. Allereerst gaat mijn dank natuurlijk uit naar (Emeritus) professor Erik Remaut. Niet alleen heb ik de kans gekregen om in uw labo aan mijn doctoraat te beginnen, u was ook altijd bereid om me met goede raad bij te staan. Kritisch soms maar altijd goedbedoeld. Tevens wil ik Lothar bedanken voor het vertrouwen dat hij me zes jaar geleden heeft gegeven door een project voor me te schrijven waardoor ik met een FWO mandaat van start ben kunnen gaan. Al is er uiteindelijk helaas niets van dit oorspronkelijke project overgebleven, ik heb toch veel geleerd in die eerste jaren. Als derde wil ik mijn andere promotor Pieter bedanken, in het bijzonder voor zijn niet aflatend en aanstekelijk enthousiasme, zelfs bij de meest teleurstellende data. Naast je fulltime bezigheid bij ActoGeniX heb je je ook afgelopen jaar op tijd en stond tijd vrij gemaakt voor het bespreken van mijn data wat ertoe heeft bijgedragen dat ik dit werk tot een goed einde heb weten te brengen.

en welgemeende merci ook aan *An*; zonder jou ideeën zou dit werk, in zijn huidige vorm, zelfs niet bestaan. En alsof dat nog niet genoeg was, stond je ook steeds klaar om me met het praktische werk te helpen. **N**aast het vele werk dat we samen verzet hebben, soms tot in de late uurtjes, was je ook steeds te vinden voor een welverdiende koffiepauze. Ik hoop dat je evenveel plezier beleefd hebt aan onze samenwerking als ik. Een bekroning voor alle moeite volgt hopelijk snel in de vorm van een publicatie. **D**aarnaast mag ook *Karolien* niet op mijn bedanklijstje ontbreken. Een goede vriendin en lotgenote ;-), ondanks de tijdsdruk hebben we toch nog veel plezier en steun aan elkaar gehad. **R**eken maar dat we heel snel ook een ander doel zullen bereiken, komend seizoen winnen we samen onze eerste tennismatch! Dereid voor een leuke babbel en een helpende hand. De sfeer op het labo de voorbije jaren was ondanks de onvermijdelijke kleine strubbelingen altijd positief. Reden daarvoor: toffe collega's. Ook aan helpende handen was er nooit een gebrek. Een gemeend woordje van dank dus aan alle overige (ex-)unit 1 leden die al vanaf mijn thesisjaar het labo bemanden: *Inge, Hilde, Koen, Klaas* en *Sofie*. Gaven de afgelopen jaren ook even kleur aan onze unit: *Jeroen, Ken, Linde, Eline* en *Sofie* G.

Is ik terugkijk op de afgelopen jaren zijn er nog enkele mensen in het DMBR die ik niet mag vergeten. Als eerste denk ik daarbij aan de mensen uit de keuken: *Carine, An* en *Christianne*. *Nancy*, jou wil ik bedanken voor je behulpzaamheid als mijn bestellingen weer eens te laat toekwamen. De mensen van het *secretariaat* mag ik ook niet vergeten. In het bijzonder *Chantal* voor de bestellingen en *Marita* voor het regelen van mijn contracten en ander papierwerk. Tevens een woord van dank aan *Steven* en *Didier* voor het oplossen van de talloze kleine computerprobleempjes. *Wim*, bedankt voor het printen van mijn posters. Eveneens een dikke merci aan *Daisy* voor alle moeite die je hebt gedaan voor mijn speciale muisbestellingen en voor de celsorts. **R**est mij verder nog een woord van dank aan *Miek* voor het sequeneren, *Charly* voor het herstellen van vele grote en kleine toestellen, *Amin* voor het verbeteren van mijn manuscripten, *Wilma* voor het pulsen en aan de *proefdierverzorgers*. **K**ortom, aan iedereen die de afgelopen jaren heeft bijgedragen tot een stimulerende en aangename werkomgeving.

A aast het mensen op het labo wil ik ook alle vrienden bedanken die er de afgelopen jaren in geslaagd zijn om me af en toe alle (werkgerelateerde) ellende te doen vergeten. Uiteraard denk ik hierbij in de eerste plaats aan doctorerende lotgenote *Katrien* maar ook *Tine* en *Kristof* zonder wie ik heel wat toffe avondjes uit zou hebben moeten missen; jullie zijn ondertussen al aan andere uitdagingen begonnen, ik sluit het rijtje af. **B**ekijk jullie agenda's alvast eens zodat we binnenkort eens echt met zijn allen op weekend kunnen. **E**en groepsvakantie in Griekenland heeft me naast onvergetelijke momenten ook een mooie vriendschap opgeleverd, *Sarah* bedankt voor alle leuke afspraakjes de afgelopen jaren. **N**iettegenstaande de drukke agenda's en jullie leven in het verre Antwerpen zijn we elkaar nooit uit het oog verloren. Ik wil jullie dan ook bedanken voor de originele uitstapjes lieve *Anik* en *Jess*. **K**onden mij steeds afleiden met een spelletjesnamiddag, quizzen, een avondje op de Racso of een van de talloze andere activiteiten: *Marianne, Olivier, Filip, Vicky, Gurvan* en *Karolien*.

regen iets meer dan anderen af te rekenen met mijn gefrustreerde buien en momenten van "wanhoop": mijn familie. Lieve mama en papa, bedankt voor alle steun die ik niet alleen de afgelopen zes jaar maar al mijn hele leventje van jullie heb gekregen. Alle toffe familieweekendjes en -vakanties deden alle stress voor even van me afglijden. Als ik van jou iets kan leren Ben, dan is het de kunst om onder alle omstandigheden kalm te blijven, het is voor sommige mensen waarschijnlijk moeilijk te geloven dat we broer en zus zijn. Redelijk onvervangbaar het laatste jaar was jij, Stoere Silke. Van bij het begin van mijn zwangerschap tot nu ben je thuis komen helpen, waardoor ik me 100% op dit boekje kon concentreren. Ook Lenaatje kent haar tante ondertussen al goed door de vele uurtjes die je al met haar hebt doorgebracht als ik het te druk had of weg moest. Opa, ik hoop dat je fier bent op mij, jij bent immers mijn grote voorbeeld. Resten mij nog mijn lieve schoonouders. Dankjewel Annie voor de vele rustige zondagavonden en lekkere maaltijden, geen moeite was je te veel om mij te verwennen als ik het weer eens te druk had. En Philippe, je stond altijd klaar om klusjes op te knappen in ons nieuwe appartement.

och is er maar één iemand die echt bij momenten heeft geleden onder dit doctoraat: mijn allerliefste *KRIS*. Ook al was ik soms ongenietbaar, je hebt het me altijd vergeven. En ik weet dat jij meer nog dan ikzelf verlangde naar het einde, al was het maar omdat je het beu bent om alle strijk alleen te doen (juich niet te vroeg, ik bedenk wel een ander excuus). Koken, boodschappen doen, rekening houden met mijn onvoorspelbare werkuren, je hebt het allemaal (min of meer) zonder morren op jou genomen. Onlangs werden we beloond met de liefste dochter ter wereld (zo cliché maar o zo waar). Met haar lieve lach doet ze me steeds alle stress vergeten. Samen zijn jullie een onmisbare steun geweest in de laatste rechte lijn naar het einde. Trouwen, een dochtertje en tot slot een doctoraat, 2007 zal op vele vlakken een gedenkwaardig jaar blijven.

Gent, november 2007

Michaela

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PART I: GENERAL INTRODUCTION			
1 Shaping an immune response 3			3
	1.1	T cell subsets	6
	1.1.1	T helper subsets: Th1, Th2 and Th17	6
	1.1.2	Regulatory T cell subsets	8
	1.2	Dendritic cells	. 10
	1.2.1	Origin and differentiation of dendritic cells	. 11
	1.2.2	DC subsets	14
	1.2.3	DC activation, migration and T cell activation	17
	1.3	Polarization of the immune response	. 18
	1.3.1	DC subsets and polarization of the immune response	18
	1.3.2	PAMPs, TLRs and polarization of the immune response	19
	1.3.3	Conditioning of DCs in the peripheral microenvironment	22
	1.3.4	DC-derived effector molecules polarizing the immune response	23
	1.4	Dendritic cells and tolerance	. 24
	1.4.1	Induction of T cell apoptosis	24
	1.4.2	Induction of T cell anergy	25
	1.4.3	Induction of regulatory T cells	26
	1.5	Dendritic cells in the gastro-intestinal immune system	. 27
	1.5.1	Antigen sampling	28
	1.5.2	Regulation of immune responses by intestinal DCs	30
	1.5.3	Probiotics and intestinal DCs	32
2	Infla	Immatory Bowel Disease	35
	2.1	The pathogenesis of IBD	. 35
	2.2	Intestinal dendritic cells in IBD	. 37
	2.3	Current and potential therapies for IBD	. 37
3	Inte	rleukin-10 and the Trefoil Factor Family	41
	3.1	Interleukin-10	. 41
	3.1.1	IL-10 protein, gene and expression	. 41
	3.1.2	The IL-10 receptor: structure and expression	. 42
	3.1.3	Signaling pathway	. 43
	3.1.4	Anti-inflammatory functions	44

3.1	1.5 Induction of tolerogenic DCs by IL-10	. 46
3.2	2 Trefoil factor family of peptides	. 47
3.2	2.1 TFF expression and gene regulation	. 47
3.2	2.2 TFF structure	. 49
3.2	2.3 TFF receptor and signaling	. 50
3.2	2.4 TFF functions	. 51
3.2	2.5 TFF modulating the immune system	. 53
4	L. lactis as a delivery tool in the gastro-intestinal tract	57
4.1	Production and secretion of heterologous proteins	. 58
4.2	2 Local delivery of heterologous proteins	. 59
4.2	2.1 Intestinal IL-10 delivery by genetically modified L. lactis	. 60
4.2	2.2 Intestinal delivery of TFF by genetically modified L. lactis	. 62
4.3	Biological containment of genetically modified <i>L. lactis</i>	. 64
AIM OF T	THE PROJECT	. 67
PART II	· EXPERIMENTS AND RESULTS	71
1	Murine trefoil factor 3 does not directly modulate LPS-mediated	
denc	dritic cell function	. 73
1.1	1 Abstract	. 73
1.2	2 Introduction	. 73
1.3	3 Materials and Methods	. 75
1.3	3.1 Animals	. 75
1.3	3.2 Media, reagents and antibodies	. 75
1.3	3.3 Bioassay for mTFF3	. 76
1.3	3.4 Generation of bone marrow-derived DCs	. 77
1.3	3.5 Preparation of ex vivo DCs	. 77
1.3	3.6 Phenotypic analysis of DCs	78
1.3		
1.3	3.7 Measuring cytokine concentrations with cytometric bead array	. 78
	 3.7 Measuring cytokine concentrations with cytometric bead array 3.8 Mixed lymphocyte reaction 	. 78 . 78 . 78
1.3	 3.7 Measuring cytokine concentrations with cytometric bead array 3.8 Mixed lymphocyte reaction 3.9 Statistical analysis 	. 78 . 78 . 78 . 78
1.3 1.4	 Measuring cytokine concentrations with cytometric bead array	. 78 . 78 . 78 . 78 . 79
1.3 1. 4 1.4	 Measuring cytokine concentrations with cytometric bead array	. 78 . 78 . 78 . 78 . 79 . 79
1.3 1.4 1.4 1.4	 Measuring cytokine concentrations with cytometric bead array Mixed lymphocyte reaction Statistical analysis Results mTFF3 induces COX-2 mRNA expression in CMT-93 IECs mTFF3 does not inhibit LPS-induced phenotypic maturation of DCs 	. 78 . 78 . 78 . 78 . 79 . 79 . 80
1.3 1.4 1.4 1.4	 Measuring cytokine concentrations with cytometric bead array Mixed lymphocyte reaction Statistical analysis Results mTFF3 induces COX-2 mRNA expression in CMT-93 IECs mTFF3 does not inhibit LPS-induced phenotypic maturation of DCs mTFF3 does not alter LPS-induced cytokine secretion by DCs 	. 78 . 78 . 78 . 78 . 79 . 79 . 80 . 82
1.3 1.4 1.4 1.4 1.4	 Measuring cytokine concentrations with cytometric bead array Mixed lymphocyte reaction Statistical analysis Results mTFF3 induces COX-2 mRNA expression in CMT-93 IECs mTFF3 does not inhibit LPS-induced phenotypic maturation of DCs mTFF3 does not alter LPS-induced cytokine secretion by DCs mTFF3 does not alter the capacity of DCs to stimulate allogeneic T cells 	. 78 . 78 . 78 . 78 . 79 . 79 . 80 . 82 . 83

2	Gen	etically engineered <i>Lactococcus lactis</i> secreting murine IL-10	
m	odulate	es the function of bone marrow-derived dendritic cells in the	
рі	resence	e of LPS	39
	2.1	Abstract	89
	2.2	Introduction	90
	2.3	Materials and Methods	91
	2.3.1	Animals.	91
	2.3.2	Media, reagents and antibodies	91
	2.3.3	Bacterial strains.	92
	2.3.4	Generation of bone marrow derived DCs.	92
	2.3.5	Phenotypic analysis of DCs.	93
	2.3.6	Mixed lymphocyte reaction.	93
	2.3.7	Measuring cytokine concentrations with cytometric bead array.	94
	2.3.8	Quantitative analysis of mRNA expression in DCs	94
	2.3.9	Re-stimulation of T cells for the detection of IL-17 secretion	95
	2.3.10	Statistical analysis.	95
	2.4	Results	96
	2.4.1	L. lactis treatment induces a semi-mature BM-DC phenotype	96
	2.4.2	L. lactis treatment modulates the ability of BM-DCs to activate allogeneic T cel	ls. 97
	2.4.3 allogen	BM-DCs treated with L. lactis and stimulated with LPS inhibit the activation of eic T cells by mature BM-DCs.	99
	2.4.4 MCP-1	BM-DCs treated with LL-pTmIL10 or LL-pTREX differ in their ability to secrete and IL-12p70 in response to LPS1	00
	2.4.5 IL-12/IL	LPS-stimulated BM-DCs pretreated with LL-pTmIL10 express less -23p40 mRNA than LL-pTREX-pretreated cells	02
	2.4.6 differ in	Allogeneic T cells stimulated by LL-pTREX- or LL-pTmlL10-treated BM-DCs the ability to secrete IL-17	04
	2.5	Discussion1	05
PAR	T III: Su	MMARY AND DISCUSSION 1	11
PAR	T IV: SA	MENVATTING EN DISCUSSIE	23
PAR	T V: REF	ERENCES	39

LIST OF FIGURES

GENERAL INTRODUCTION

Figure 1 Immunity to infection.	5
Figure 2 CD4 ⁺ T helper subsets.	7
Figure 3 Targets of regulatory T cells and mechanisms of suppression.	10
Figure 4 Theoretical model of the developmental origin of mouse dendritic cells.	13
Figure 5 Murine dendritic cell subsets in spleen and lymph nodes.	15
Figure 6 Pathogen triggered maturation of a peripheral dendritic cell (DC).	18
Figure 7 T cell stimulation and T helper 1 (Th1)/Th2-cell polarization	21
Figure 8 The origin of tissue specific dendritic cell functions.	23
Figure 9 The uptake of antigens across mucosal surfaces.	29
Figure 10 Mucosal dendritic cells (DCs) during steady-state and inflammatory conditions.	31
Figure 11 Treatment of murine colitis by <i>L. lactis</i> secreting IL-10 (<i>LL-mIL10</i>).	62
Figure 12 Induction of COX-2 expression by TFF-secreting <i>L. lactis</i> .	64
EXPERIMENTS AND RESULTS	
Murine trefoil factor 3 does not directly modulate LPS-mediated dendritic cell funct	lion
Figure 13 Induction of COX-2 mRNA expression in CMT-93 by mTFF3.	79
Figure 14 Phenotypic analysis of BM-DCs after LPS-induced maturation.	81
Figure 15 Cytokine production by BM-DCs after LPS-induced maturation.	83
Figure 16 T cell-stimulating capacity of BM-DCs after LPS-induced maturation.	84
Genetically engineered <i>Lactococcus lactis</i> secreting murine IL-10 modulates the function of bone marrow-derived dendritic cells in the presence of LPS	;
Figure 17 Phenotypic analysis of BM-DCs before and after LPS-induced maturation.	97
Figure 18 T cell-stimulating capacity of activated BM-DCs.	98
Figure 19 Modulation of T cell proliferation by the addition of regulator BM-DCs.	100
Figure 20 Cytokine production by activated BM-DCs.	101
Figure 21 IL-12p35, IL-12p40 and IL-23p19 mRNA expression in activated BM-DCs.	103
Figure 22 IL-17 production of activated T cells.	104

SUMMARY AND DISCUSSION

Figure 23 Summary of the effects in BM-DCs treated with <i>LL-pTREX</i> or <i>LL-pTmIL10</i> .	117
Figure 24 Overview of in vivo experiments.	122
SAMENVATTING EN DISCUSSIE	
Schema 1 Overzicht van <i>LL-pTREX</i> en <i>LL-pTmlL10</i> geïnduceerde effecten in BM-DC's.	131
Schema 2 Mogelijke in vivo experimenten.	137

Schema 2 Mogelijke in vivo experimenten.

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

Akt	protein kinase B (PKB)
AP-1	activator protein 1
APC(s)	antigen-presenting cell(s)
Bad	Bcl-xL/Bcl-2 associated death promoter
BAG	BCL2-associated athanogene
BM-DC(s)	bone marrow-derived dendritic cell(s)
CARD	caspase recruitment domain
CBA	cytometric beads array
CCL(2)	chemokine (C-C motif) ligand (2)
CCR6/7	chemokine (C-C) receptor 6/7
CD	Crohn's disease
C/EBPβ	CAAT/enhancer-binding protein β
CFU	colony forming units
(μ)Ci	(μ)Curie, a unit of radioactivity
CLP	common lymphoid progenitors
CMP	common myeloid precursors
COX	cyclooxygenase
срт	counts per minute
CRIP	cysteine rich intestinal peptide
DC(s)	dendritic cell(s)
DC-SIGN	dendritic cell-specific intercellular adhesion molecule 3
	(ICAM-3) grabbing nonintegrin
DMEM	Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium
dsRNA	double stranded RNA
DSS	dextran sodium sulfate
EDTA	ethylene-diamine tetra-acetic acid
EGF	epidermal growth factor
ERK(s)	extracellular signal regulated kinase(s)
FCS	fetal calf's serum
FHA	filamentous hemagglutinin
FITC	fluorescein isothiocyanate

Flt3	FMS-like tyrosine kinase 3
<i>Foxp3</i>	forkhead box P3
GALT	gut associated lymphoid tissue
GlyCAM-1	glycosylation dependent cell adhesion molecule 1
GM	genetically modified
GM-CSF	granulocyte/macrophage_colony-stimulating factor
GRAS	Generally Regarded As Safe
Groα	growth regulated oncogene $lpha$
L.	h
n	nours
HBSS	Hank's balanced sait solution
HEPES	4-(2-hydroxyethyl)-1-piperazineethanesulfonic acid
HNF-3	hepatocyte nuclear factor 3
HPLC	high performance liquid chromatography
HSC	hematopoietic stem cell
IBD	inflammatory bowel disease
ICAM-1	intercellular adhesion molecule 1
IEC	intestinal epithelial cell lines
IECs	intestinal epithelial cells
IFN	interferon
lg(A/E/G)	immunoglobulin (A/E/G)
IL	interleukin
IL-(10)R	interleukin (10) receptor
ILT3/4	immunoglobulin like transcript 3_4
iNOS	inducible nitric oxide synthase
IP10	IFNγ-inducible protein 10
kb	kilo base pairs
kDa	kilo Dalton
LAB	lactic acid bacteria
LFA-1	leukocyte function-associated antigen 1
LL-pTmlL10	Lactococcus lactis producing murine interleukin-10
LL-pTREX	Lactococcus lactis transformed with empty vector
LMP2/7	low molecular mass polypeptide 2/7
LPS	lipopolysaccharide

LRR	leucine-rich repeats
mAbs	monoclonal antibodies
MAdCAM	mucosal addressin cell adhesion molecule-1
MAPK(s)	mitogen-activated protein kinase(s)
M cells	microfold cells
MCP-(1,)	monocyte chemotactic protein (1,)
MDC	macrophage derived chemokine
MFI	mean fluorescence intensity
МНС	major histocompatibility complex
MIP-(1α/β)	macrophage inflammatory protein (1 $lpha / eta,$)
MLN	mesenteric lymph node(s)
mTFF3	murine trefoil factor family 3
mRNA	messenger RNA
MyD88	myeloid differentiation primary response gene 88
NF-κB	nuclear factor-kappaB
NO	nitric oxide
NOD(2)	nuclear type binding oligomerization domain (2)
OVA	ovalbumin
PAMP	pathogen associated molecular pattern
PBS	phosphate-buffered saline
PBS PCR	phosphate-buffered saline polymerase chain reaction
PBS PCR PD-L1	phosphate-buffered saline polymerase chain reaction programmed death-1 ligand
PBS PCR PD-L1 PE	phosphate-buffered saline polymerase chain reaction programmed death-1 ligand phyco-erythrin
PBS PCR PD-L1 PE PG (E2, I2)	phosphate-buffered saline polymerase chain reaction programmed death-1 ligand phyco-erythrin prostaglandin (E ₂ , I ₂)
PBS PCR PD-L1 PE PG (E ₂ , I ₂) PI	phosphate-buffered saline polymerase chain reaction programmed death-1 ligand phyco-erythrin prostaglandin (E ₂ , I ₂) propidium iodide
PBS PCR PD-L1 PE PG (E ₂ , I ₂) PI PI3K	phosphate-buffered saline polymerase chain reaction programmed death-1 ligand phyco-erythrin prostaglandin (E ₂ , I ₂) propidium iodide phosphoinositide-3 kinase
PBS PCR PD-L1 PE PG (E ₂ , I ₂) PI PI3K PLC	phosphate-buffered saline polymerase chain reaction programmed death-1 ligand phyco-erythrin prostaglandin (E ₂ , I ₂) propidium iodide phosphoinositide-3 kinase phospholipase C
PBS PCR PD-L1 PE PG (E ₂ , I ₂) PI PI3K PLC PKC	phosphate-buffered saline polymerase chain reaction programmed death-1 ligand phyco-erythrin prostaglandin (E ₂ , I ₂) propidium iodide phosphoinositide-3 kinase phospholipase C protein kinase C
PBS PCR PD-L1 PE PG (E ₂ , I ₂) PI PI3K PLC PKC PP	<pre>phosphate-buffered saline polymerase chain reaction programmed death-1 ligand phyco-erythrin prostaglandin (E₂, I₂) propidium iodide phosphoinositide-3 kinase phospholipase C protein kinase C Peyer's patche(s)</pre>
PBS PCR PD-L1 PE PG (E ₂ , I ₂) PI PI3K PLC PKC PP PRR	phosphate-buffered salinepolymerase chain reactionprogrammed death-1 ligandphyco-erythrinprostaglandin (E2, 12)propidium iodidephosphoinositide-3 kinasephospholipase Cprotein kinase CPeyer's patche(s)pattern recognition receptor
PBS PCR PD-L1 PE PG (E ₂ , I ₂) PI PI3K PLC PKC PP PRR PS	phosphate-buffered saline polymerase chain reaction programmed death-1 ligand phyco-erythrin prostaglandin (E ₂ , I ₂) propidium iodide phosphoinositide-3 kinase phospholipase C protein kinase C Peyer's patche(s) pattern recognition receptor penicillin/streptomycin
PBS PCR PD-L1 PE PG (E ₂ , I ₂) PI PI3K PLC PKC PP PRR PS RANTES	<pre>phosphate-buffered saline polymerase chain reaction programmed death-1 ligand phyco-erythrin prostaglandin (E₂, I₂) propidium iodide phosphoinositide-3 kinase phospholipase C protein kinase C Peyer's patche(s) pattern recognition receptor penicillin/streptomycin regulated on activation, normal, T-cell expressed and secreted</pre>

RPL13A	ribosomal protein L13A
SCID	severe combined immunodeficiency
SD	standard deviation
SED	subepithelial dome
SEM	standard error of the mean
SHP2	Src homology 2-containing tyrosine phosphatase
SLAM	signaling lymphocytic activation molecule
SOCS	suppressor of cytokine signaling
Sp(1,3)	specificity protein (1,3)
Src	sarcoma (tyrosine kinase)
STAT	signal transducer and activator of transcription
TAP1	transporter associated with antigen processing
TBP	TATA box binding protein
TCR	T cell receptor
TFF	trefoil factor family
TFIZ1	trefoil factor interactions(z)
$TGF\beta$	transforming growth factor eta
Th	T helper
TLR	Toll-like receptor
TNBS	trinitrobenzene sulphonate
TNF	tumor necrosis factor (α)
TRAIL	tumor necrosis-related apoptosis-inducing ligand
Treg cell	regulatory T cell
TTFC	tetanus toxin fragment C
TUNEL	terminal uridine deoxynucleotidyl transferase dUTP nick end
	labeling
TXA2-R	thromboxane A2 receptor
UC	ulcerative colitis
USF	upstream stimulating factor
Usp45	unknown secreted protein of 45 kDa
Vangl1	Van Gogh like protein 1
VCAM-1	vascular cell adhesion molecule 1

PART I: GENERAL INTRODUCTION

1 SHAPING AN IMMUNE RESPONSE

The immune system is composed of many interdependent cell types that collectively protect the body from bacterial, parasitic, fungal and viral infections. This large variety of danger signals presents different challenges to the immune system in terms of recognition and mounting appropriate immune responses. Many of the immune cell types involved have specialized functions to optimally defend the body against foreign pathogens.

To establish an infection, the pathogen must first overcome numerous surface barriers. Any organism that breaks through these first barriers leads immediately or within hours after antigen exposure to the induction of an innate immune response (Figure 1). Innate (natural) responses are general defense mechanisms that are antigen-nonspecific. Cells of the innate immune system are designed to recognize a few highly conserved structures, called 'pathogen-associated molecular patterns' (PAMPs) such as LPS, peptidoglycan, lipotechoic acids, mannose, bacterial DNA, double-stranded viral RNA and glycans. These PAMPs are common in many different micro-organisms and are recognized by 'pattern recognition receptors' (PRRs) present on most cells of the innate immune sytem. PAMPs can also be recognized by a series of proteins in the blood that initiate the complement pathways. The innate response uses phagocytic cells (neutrophils, monocytes and macrophages), cells that release inflammatory mediators (basophils, mast cells and eosinophils), and natural killer cells. The molecular components of the innate responses include complement, acute-phase proteins and cytokines such as interferons. However, innate immune cells alone cannot always eliminate infectious organisms. B and T lymphocytes, which are cells of the acquired (adaptive) immune system, have evolved to mount a stronger and more effective immune response against any pathogen. Acquired immune responses are antigen-specific and need some time to develop but are improved upon repeated exposure to a given pathogen, which is called immunological memory. (for review see [1,2])

Acquired immune responses are generated in the lymph nodes, spleen and mucosa-associated lymphoid tissues. Two types of acquired immune responses exist: cellular and humoral immune responses. CD4⁺ T cells and CD8⁺ T cells, which are part of the cellular immune response, have evolved to eliminate intracellular pathogens and to provide help to B cells, which are part of the humoral immune response. T cells can eradicate intracellular pathogens by activating macrophages and by killing virally infected cells. B cells secrete immunoglobulins, antigen-specific

3

antibodies responsible for eliminating extracellular micro-organisms. To be activated, T cells need to recognize antigens presented by specialized cells, called antigen-presenting cells (APCs), in the context of major histocompatibility complex (MHC) molecules through interaction with their T cell receptor (TCR). In addition, APCs provide co-stimulatory signals necessary to fully activate T cells. In the absence of co-stimulation T cell anergy is induced. However, in addition to eradicate harmful pathogens, the acquired immune response is also responsible for the induction of allergies and autoimmune responses. (Figure 1)

A key cellular component of innate immunity is the dendritic cell (DC), a professional APC. These cells constantly but quietly endocytose antigens in the periphery. When antigens are encountered, they are activated and migrate to the draining lymph node where they efficiently activate naive T cells and prime an immune response for which immunological memory has not been established. DCs also determine the character of the activated T cells that mediate the effect against a specific pathogen.



Figure 1 Immunity to infection.

Innate immune effector cells, including macrophages, dendritic cells (DCs), neutrophils and natural killer (NK) cells (not shown), together with various protein components of the complement system, provide the first line of defense against invading micro-organisms. Binding of conserved pathogen-derived molecules to pattern-recognition receptors (PRRs), such as Toll-like receptors (TLRs), on the cell surface of macrophages and DCs activates the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines, which help to attract other effector cells to the site of infection. Pathogen-activated DCs present pathogen-derived antigens to T cells and promote the differentiation of naive T cells to various subtypes of effector CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells. CD4⁺ T helper 1 (Th1) cells secrete interferon- γ (IFN- γ), which activates the anti-microbial activity of macrophages and helps B cell production of IgG2a antibodies, whereas Th2 cells provide help for B cell production of IgG1, IgA and IgE. CD8⁺ T cells lyse host cells infected with viruses, intracellular bacteria or parasites. In normal individuals, regulatory T cells (both natural regulatory T cells circulating in the periphery and those induced by infection) help to control these effector functions and the associated damage to host tissues. IL: interleukin; TCR: T cell receptor; TNF: tumor necrosis factor. Source: [3]

1.1 T cell subsets

The thymus is central to establish a functioning immune system. In the thymus, T cells mature from hematopoietic progenitors, driven by mutual interactions of stromal cells and the developing thymocytes. As a result, different types of T cells are generated, all of which have been carefully selected for their ability to mount an immune response to non-self without driving pathogenic self-reactive autoimmune responses.

As the emphasis of this work relates to the outcome of the DC-T cell interaction, I will further focus on CD4⁺ T cells of which some different subsets have been identified over the last decades.

1.1.1 Effector T cells: Th1, Th2 and Th17

A major breakthrough was the classification of CD4⁺ T cells into T helper 1 (Th1) and T helper 2 (Th2) subsets based on cytokine secretion *in vitro* [4,5].

The cytokine typical for Th1 responses is interferon γ (IFN γ). Besides increasing phagocytic activity, IFN γ also supports the development of cytotoxic CD8⁺ T cells that are required for killing virus infected host cells. In contrast, Th2 cells produce mainly interleukin 4 (IL-4), IL-5 and IL-13, favoring humoral responses (Figure 2). Because Th2 cells secrete the anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10 as well as IL-4, these cells might also have regulatory functions as well as effector functions. They are distinguished from the later described regulatory T cells (see 1.1.2) by the production of large amounts of IL-4 and smaller amounts of IL-10 as well as the lack of transforming growth factor β (TGF β) production.

Appropriate responses against micro-organisms require selective forms of specific immunity mediated by these functionally polarized subsets of effector Th cells. For example, Th1 cells are necessary for immune responses against intracellular viruses, production bacteria and promoting the of opsonizing and complement-binding antibodies by plasma cells. They also activate macrophages and neutrophils. Immune responses against helminthes are dependent on Th2 cells, switching antibody production towards neutralizing immunoglobulin G (IgG) antibodies as well as IgE and lead to activation of eosinophils [5]. Conversely, deregulated Th responses promote several pathological conditions as in the case of allergy and asthma, which are characterized by excessive Th2 responses [6]. Th1-dominated responses may be involved in the pathogenesis of human diseases

characterized by granuloma formation, such as organ-specific autoimmune disorders, Crohn's disease and atherosclerosis [7,8].



Figure 2 CD4⁺ T helper subsets.

A CD4⁺ naive T cell can develop into different effector cell subsets that can be recognized by their specific cytokine profile and are each responsible for a specific type of immune response. Next to pathogen elimination, deregulated T helper (Th) responses can also lead to several pathological conditions (in red). IFN γ : interferon γ ; IL: interleukin; M ϕ : macrophages; CTL: cytotoxic T lymphocytes; Ab: antibodies.

Until recently the Th1 and Th2 subtypes were the only two CD4⁺ effector cell types described since their discovery two decades ago. But a new type of CD4⁺ effector cell has been added, the Th17 cells. These cells are characterized by their secretion of IL-17, IL-17F and IL-6, and have probably evolved to enhance host clearance of a range of pathogens distinct from those targeted by Th1 and Th2 (Figure 2). IL-17 is the founding member of a small family of cytokines that is generally thought to increase inflammation by recruiting other immune cells, like eosinophils, to peripheral tissues. The breakthrough leading to discovery of the Th17 lineage came from murine models of autoimmunity. The link with IL-12 and induction of Th1 responses in these models was questioned with the discovery that a new IL-12 family member, IL-23, shares with IL-12 the p40 subunit [9]. Given that key experimental data, linking

experimental autoimmune encephalitis and collagen induced arthritis to Th1 autoimmunity, were based on protection associated with manipulations that targeted the IL-12p40 subunit, the question arose whether protective effects might not involve inhibition of IL-23 instead of IL-12. After a range of studies it became indeed clear that IL-23 and not IL-12 is critically linked to autoimmunity in these models [10-12]. There is now plenty of evidence that IL-23, a cytokine produced by APCs, elicits production of IL-17 from a CD4⁺ effector T cell that causes the harmful effects in autoimmune disorders [13-18].

1.1.2 Regulatory T cell subsets

Homeostasis in the immune system depends on a balance between the responses that control infection and the reciprocal responses that prevent inflammation and autoimmune diseases. It is now recognized that regulatory T cells (Treg cells) have a crucial role in suppressing immune responses to self-antigens and in preventing autoimmune diseases. Evidence is also emerging that Treg cells control immune responses to bacteria, viruses, parasites and fungi, preventing severe inflammation and collateral tissue damage.

The group of Treg cells can be further divided into naturally occurring (or constitutive) and inducible (or adaptive) Treg cells [3,19]. Both have complementary and overlapping functions in the control of immune responses. However the lineage relationship, if any, between these subsets remains to be defined.

The naturally occurring subset of CD4⁺ Treg cells is characterized by its continuous expression of the α chain of the IL-2 receptor, CD25 [20]. They also express the transcription factor Foxp3 [21], the only phenotypic marker unique to this subset. Naturally occurring Treg cells represent 5-10% of the CD4⁺ T cell pool in healthy adult humans and mice and are thought to be important for keeping auto-reactive T cells, which have escaped negative selection in the thymus, in check. Furthermore, they have been shown to induce tolerance to allo-antigens [22] and inhibit development of colitis in the T cell transfer SCID model [23,24].

A unique cytokine-production profile, rather than the expression of cell surface markers, has been used to define at least 2 populations of inducible Treg cells. These are not selected for in the thymus during T cell maturation, but are generated from naive T cells in the periphery during infection or can be induced by tolerance-inducing antigen administration regimens [3,25]. For experimental use, this cell population can also be derived from *in vitro* culture systems [26]. Both human

and mouse $CD4^+T$ cells, repeatedly stimulated in the presence of IL-10, differentiate into a new subset of $CD4^+T$ cells, termed Tr1 cells [26]. This subset is defined by its poor proliferative response, its ability to produce high levels of IL-10 and suppression of Th1 and Th2 responses *in vitro* and *in vivo* [26,27]. These cells may play a beneficial role in the tolerance to allo-antigens but also to allergens and self-antigens [28]. Weiner and co-workers showed that the induction of oral tolerance and the prevention of Th1-mediated autoimmune disease by feeding self-antigens were associated with the generation of TGF β secreting T cells in the gut [29]. These T cells, which were distinct of Th2 cells in that they produce large amounts of TGF β and varying amounts of IL-4 and IL-10, were named Th3. TGF β promotes an isotype switch in B cells from IgM to IgA [30]. So Th3 cells help to explain the unique phenomena recognized in the gastro-intestinal tract; selective production of secretory IgA, suppression of IgG and IgM secretion and the induction of oral tolerance.

The exact mechanism by which natural and inducible T cells exert their suppressive effects is still subjected to speculations (Figure 3). Studies in animal models provide strong evidence for a role of cytokines in the effector function of Treg cells in vivo. Both IL-10 and TGF β , produced by T cells, are important in providing protection from colitis in the SCID model [23,31]. Many studies have shown that using antibodies specific for IL-10 and TGF^B can reverse the suppression mediated by Tr1 and Th3 cells. Furthermore, mechanisms requiring cell-cell contact have been described for CD4⁺ CD25⁺ T cells [32], presumably via cytotoxic T lymphocyte associated antigen 4 (CTLA4) signaling [23], glucocorticoid-induced tumor necrosis factor receptor (GITR) [33] and/or membrane bound TGF β [34,35]. Finally, it has been proposed that naturally occurring Treg cells might inhibit pathogenic effector T cells by competing for shared resources in the normal immune system [36]. So, although the mechanisms of suppression by Tr1 and Th3 cells seem to be mediated mainly by cytokines. CD4⁺CD25⁺ Treg cells might use many and as-yet-unidentified mechanisms to mediate suppression.



Figure 3 Targets of regulatory T cells and mechanisms of suppression.

CD4⁺ CD25⁺ FOXP3⁺ (forkhead box P3) natural regulatory T cells (Treg cells) inhibit the proliferation of CD25⁻ T cells. The mechanism of suppression seems to be multifactorial and includes cell–cell contact. CD4⁺ CD25⁺ Treg cells express cytotoxic T lymphocyte antigen 4 (CTLA4), which interacts with CD80 and/or CD86 on the surface of antigen-presenting cells (APCs) such as dendritic cells (DCs), and this interaction delivers a negative signal for T cell activation. There is also some evidence that secreted or cell surface TGF- β or secreted IL-10 might have a role in suppression mediated by natural Treg cells. Inducible populations of Treg cells, which include T regulatory 1 (Tr1) cells, T helper 3 (Th3) cells (and CD8⁺ regulatory T cells), secrete IL-10 and/or TGF- β . These immunosuppressive cytokines inhibit the proliferation of and cytokine production by effector T cells, including Th1 cells, Th2 cells and CD8⁺ cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTLs), either directly or through their inhibitory influence on the maturation and activation of DCs or other APCs. The TGF- β producing Th3 cells are also important effector cells in mucosal immunity, inducing B cells to switch from immunoglobulin (Ig)M to an IgA isotype (not shown). TCR, T cell receptor. Source: [3]

1.2 Dendritic cells

DCs were first described in 1973 by Ralph Steinman [37] and are now recognized as crucial cells of the immune system, involved in T cell activation and differentiation. They are professional APCs that form a link between the adaptive and innate immune system. DCs originate from hematopoietic stem cells (HSCs) derived from the bone marrow. These precursors seed the blood and give rise to immature DCs,

which in the periphery act as sentinels, continuously sampling the environment for the presence of foreign antigens. 'Danger signals' induce activation of antigen-bearing DCs and migration into secondary lymphoid organs such as draining lymph nodes and the spleen. Mature DCs can initiate an immune response by efficiently presenting the sampled antigen to naive T cells. The interaction between the DC and a naive T cell will determine the outcome of T cell priming into either tolerance or immunity and the emergence of T cells carrying a Th1, Th2 or Th17 phenotype.

DCs were originally considered to be of myeloid origin and closely related to monocytes, macrophages and granulocytes. Recent studies, however, suggest that DCs can be generated along distinct developmental pathways and can originate from precursors of different hematopoietic lineages.

Furthermore, several DC types with different biological features have been identified in different tissues, including Langerhans cells in the epidermis, interstitial DCs in various tissues, thymic DCs and DC populations found in lymphoid organs. Differences in the tissue distribution, phenotype and function indicate the existence of a heterogeneous population of DCs. Another cell type, which belongs to the DC system, is the so-called plasmacytoid DC, originally identified as plasmacytoid T cells or plasmacytoid monocytes due to their morphological similarity to plasma cells and expression of certain T cell markers and MHC II molecules.

The development of DCs, their role in immunity and tolerance together with the existence of specific subsets and their functional differences will be described in this chapter, with specific emphasis on a population of DCs with special characteristics, namely the mucosal DCs.

1.2.1 Origin and differentiation of dendritic cells

DCs have been identified in lymphoid as well as non-lymphoid organs but their relationship and origin remain unclear and controversial. DCs were originally thought to be derived from myeloid precursors due to their functional, phenotypic and morphological similarities with macrophages and monocytes [38]. However, an initial study of DC reconstitution in bone marrow irradiated chimaeras showed that thymic DCs can be derived from CD4^{low} early thymic precursors, which are devoid of myeloid reconstitution potential, and led to the concept that some DCs could be of lymphoid origin [39]. Furthermore, it has been shown that all DCs can develop from clonogenic bone marrow-derived common myeloid precursors (CMP) as well as from

clonogenic bone marrow-derived common lymphoid precursors (CLP) suggesting that all DCs can be generated along both myeloid and lymphoid pathways [40-42].

The fact that both CMP and CLP can generate all the DC populations suggests plasticity in developmental potentials of these early precursors [43]. It also suggests that the CMP and CLP that can give rise to DCs may share some common features. Moreover, it was demonstrated that most DC and plasmacytoid DC precursor activity was within the bone marrow hematopoietic precursors expressing FMS-like tyrosine kinase 3 (Flt3) [44,45]. The majority of mouse bone marrow CLP express high levels of Flt3 and these are the most efficient precursors of both DCs and plasmacytoid DCs [45]. In contrast, only a small proportion of the CMP express Flt3, yet the precursor activity for both DCs and plasmacytoid DCs resides in this minor Flt3⁺ CMP fraction [45]. These findings demonstrate that the early precursors for all DC subtypes and for plasmacytoid DCs are within the bone marrow Flt3⁺ precursor populations, regardless of their lymphoid or myeloid lineage orientation, and Flt3 signaling is required for the development of both DCs and plasmacytoid DCs.

However, it remains unclear whether DCs are generated from CMP and CLP within the bone marrow from where they migrate to the periphery, or alternatively, from circulating DC precursors that home to the peripheral lymphoid organs where they differentiate. Some recent reports support the concept that precursor DCs are recruited to the lymph nodes during infection where they differentiate into DCs [46-48].

A definition of DC-committed precursors has remained elusive both in humans and mice. Most articles on this subject either describe precursor populations with a differentiation potential not restricted to the DC lineage or describe immediate precursors of defined DC subsets such as plasmacytoid cells or monocytes, with limited DC differentiation potential. However, a CD11c⁺MHC II⁻ DC restricted precursor population which can fully reconstitute splenic CD8 α^- , CD8 α^+ and plasmacytoid B220⁺ DC subpopulations and is devoid of lymphoid- or myeloid-differentiation potential, has recently been identified in mouse blood [46] (Figure 4). Whether this pre-DC is a common precursor for all DC subpopulations or an environmentally regulated DC precursor that is involved in the generation of only certain DC subpopulations, remains to be addressed.



Figure 4 Theoretical model of the developmental origin of mouse dendritic cells.

The differentiation of dendritic cells (DCs) — including CD8 α^- , CD8 α^+ , plasmacytoid B220⁺ DCs and Langerhans cells — has been proposed to proceed directly through myeloidand lymphoid-derived DC precursors [40], and through circulating common DC precursors (pre-DCs) [46]. On the basis of the relative DC differentiation potential and the absolute number of common lymphoid progenitors (CLP) and common myeloid progenitors (CMP), it has been established that thymic DC differentiation results from an equal contribution of both precursors, whereas peripheral DCs are derived mainly from CMP [41,42]. Myeloid-derived DC precursors have been shown to be derived from the fraction of CMP that express fms-related tyrosine kinase 3 (Flt3⁺) [45]. Lymphoid-derived DC precursors, which give rise to T cells, thymic DCs and B cells. Pre-DCs and monocytes have been proposed to be involved in the generation of DCs after recruitment to reactive sites [46]. The origin of pre-DCs from myeloid and/or lymphoid progenitors, and their relative contribution to the generation of DCs in relation to CMP and CLP under steady state conditions have also to be determined. HSC: hematopoietic stem cell; NK: natural killer. Source: [49]

1.2.2 DC subsets

As mentioned before, a large variety of DC subsets have been described in lymphoid and non-lymphoid organs of humans as well as mouse. The distinction of these subsets has been made, depending on both functional and phenotypical differences but as explained before both the origin and development of these different subsets remain under investigation.

Several factors have made this field complex. First, considerable heterogeneity exist in the antibody panels used to characterize DC subsets, especially in the mouse where the ready availability of tissues and reagents has led to numerous studies. In humans, the lack of CD8 α expression by any subset makes comparison with mouse DC subsets difficult [50]. Second, it is still a matter of debate whether the different subsets described represent different activation states of a single lineage or whether the distinguishable DC phenotypes are all products of separate developmental lineages. Reality probably is a mixture of these two models and furthermore a large degree of functional plasticity is a general feature of all DCs.

Murine subsets

Despite the use of different antibody panels, several common markers have been used in most studies so far, enabling some comparison between the described subsets and have lead to the identification of six distinct populations (Figure 5), some of which are only present in specific tissues.

Conventional DCs are characterized by the expression of high levels of CD11c. In lymphoid tissues they can be divided into $CD8\alpha^+$ and $CD8\alpha^-$ subpopulations, which have been extensively studied over the past few years [51]. These subsets were previously known as lymphoid and myeloid DCs respectively. In the meantime it has been recognized that myeloid committed cells as well as lymphoid committed cells can give rise to both lymphoid ($CD8\alpha^+$) and myeloid ($CD8\alpha^-$) subsets. Moreover, until now it is still not clear whether $CD8\alpha$ expression on DCs indeed means an independent DC development pathway, or if it is merely a DC activation marker. Nevertheless, the terms myeloid and lymphoid DC subsets are still used in connection to their expression of myeloid versus lymphoid markers (CD11b versus CD8 α) [49].

In the spleen, three conventional DC subsets can be found (Figure 5). A CD8 α positive (lymphoid) subset is present in the T cell area with the following phenotype: CD8 α^+ CD11b⁻ CD4⁻ CD205⁺. This is also the dominant subtype of thymic DCs.

Furthermore two CD8 α negative (myeloid) subsets can be defined, with differences in their CD4 expression: CD8 α ⁻CD11b⁺ CD4⁺ CD205⁻ and CD8 α ⁻CD11b⁺ CD4⁻ CD205⁻. Both subsets are found in the marginal zones but migrate into T cell zones on stimulation with microbial products [52-54]. The functional relevance of the differential CD4 expression between those 2 subtypes remains controversial as it also is uncertain if CD8 α ⁻ CD4⁺ and CD8 α ⁻ CD4⁻ are two developmentally and functionally independent DC subsets or if the CD8 α ⁻ CD4⁺ DC [51,55,56].



Figure 5 Murine dendritic cell subsets in spleen and lymph nodes. Differentiation markers: (CD)11c; (CD)8α; (CD)11b; (CD)4; (CD)205; Lgr: langerin; Int: intermediate.

Plasmacytoid B220⁺ cells are a fourth subtype of DCs present in mouse spleen. Plasmacytoid DC precursors have been first described in humans as cells with a plasma cell-like morphology in T cell areas of lymphoid organs. They were recognized not to be classical plasma cells, but their true function remained unknown. As a consequence, they were called plasmacytoid monocytes or plasmacytoid T cells [57]. Recently, it has been discovered that plasmacytoid DC precursors produce massive amounts of type I IFN upon activation with viruses [58,59]. Moreover, once activated, these cells develop into genuine DCs that can potentially stimulate T cells [58]. Therefore they were renamed plasmacytoid DC precursors. The precursor cell is characterized by the expression of low levels of CD11c and MHC II. In addition they stain positive for Ly-6G/C (Gr-1) and B220 [60].

Lymph nodes (LN) have been shown to harbor the same four DC subsets as the spleen does. Moreover, LN contain additional DC subtypes (Figure 5). The mesenteric LN, which belong to the intestine-draining LN, harbor one additional DC subset, whereas all skin draining LN harbor two additional DC subsets. The $CD8\alpha^{-}CD11b^{+}CD4^{-}$ subset with moderate expression of CD205, in contrast to the spleen $CD8\alpha^{-}$ DC, is found in all LN. These cells are believed to be the mature form of tissue interstitial DCs that gain access to the LN through the lymphatics. And, only present in skin draining LN, expressing high levels of langerin, is the mature form of Langerhans cells, $CD8\alpha^{low}CD11b^{+}CD4^{low}CD205^{+}$ [61].

In addition to these main DC subpopulations, other DC subsets have been described in specific organs of the mouse, including the gut, lung, heart and kidney. The available functional and phenotypic data regarding these DCs have not yet allowed them to be ascribed to any of the DC subpopulations listed in Figure 5.

Human subsets

Relatively few studies have been performed on human DCs freshly isolated from tissues. The only readily available source of DCs is blood and although heterogenous in expression of markers, many of the differences in human blood DCs reflect other maturation or activation states rather than separate subsets. Therefore most of the data acquired are derived from several *in vitro* culture systems. As mentioned before, the lack of CD8 α by human DCs makes comparison with mouse DC subsets difficult [50].

Four different mature subsets have been identified so far. Analogous to the murine homologue, Langerhans DCs have been described which express, in addition to CD11c, also langerin, E-cadherin and contain Birbeck granules in their cytoplasm. Interstitial, or 'dermal' DCs, are a second lineage which are CD11c⁺, and can be further identified by CD68 and the coagulation factor XIIIa. Blood monocytes, termed pDC1, are the precursor cells for monocyte-derived DCs. After six days in the presence of granulocyte/macrophage-colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF) and IL-4 they will generate DCs, called DC1 [62]. These cells are positive for CD11c and upon maturation induced by pro-inflammatory cytokines such as tumor necrosis factor (TNF) or microbial products (e.g. LPS), acquire a CD14⁻ CD83⁺ CD86⁺ MHC II^{hi} phenotype. The final subset described in humans is the type I IFN producing plasmacytoid DC, termed pDC2. This subset of DCs was recognized well before their

murine counterpart, initially by their plasma-cell-like morphology and their unique surface phenotype. Typical for these cells are low levels of CD11c expression and the unique expression of IL-3 receptor α [63,64].

1.2.3 DC activation, migration and T cell activation

Immature DCs are spread throughout the periphery, especially at portals of pathogen entry such as the skin, airway and gastro-intestinal mucosa. In this immature state DCs are continuously sampling the microenvironment via three major mechanisms: receptor-mediated endocytosis, macropinocytosis and phagocytosis. Receptor-mediated uptake is accomplished via a myriad of receptors, including C-type lectin receptors (such as langerin, DC-SIGN, dectin, CD205), the mannose receptor for glycoproteins and Fc receptor for immune complexes [65,66].

Upon exposure to a pathogen, maturation of the immature DC is triggered. Maturation comprises a multi-step process that enables the DC to initiate both innate and adaptive effector cells (Figure 6). Initially DCs secrete cytokines and chemokines that recruit other innate effector cells, such as neutrophils and macrophages, to the site of infection. These phagocytic cells exert potent anti-microbial activities and control the pathogen. Toll-like receptor (TLR) mediated signaling leads to down-regulation of the chemokine receptor CCR6 and up-regulation of CCR7 [67] together with the enhancement of adhesion molecules, which allow the DC to enter the lymphatic system and govern the migration to the draining lymph nodes. During this transition phase DCs lose their endocytic capacity so that only antigens engulfed at the site of infection are processed and presented. In addition the DCs dramatically increase their levels of antigen-loaded MHC I and MHC II expression [68] together with their expression of co-stimulatory molecules, notably CD80 (B7.1) and CD86 (B7.2) but also CD40, OX40 ligand, 4-1BB ligand and SLAM.

In the lymphoid organs these mature DCs migrate to T cell areas and act as professional APCs by providing signal 1 (TCR crosslinking) and signal 2 (co-stimulation) to pathogen-specific, naive T cells, thereby inducing their activation and clonal expansion. Whereas signal 1 determines the antigen-specificity of the response, signal 2 is required to prevent T cell anergy (see also Figure 7). After expansion these activated T cells migrate back to the site of inflammation, clear the infection and give rise to memory. The character of the immune response is determined by the nature of the activated effector cells and the role of DCs herein will be discussed in the next section (1.3).



Figure 6 Pathogen triggered maturation of a peripheral dendritic cell (DC). Upon exposure to a pathogen in the periphery, immature DCs are activated and migrate to the draining lymph nodes, thereby down-regulating their antigen (Ag) processing machinery but increasing their T cell activation capacities. Upon activation, the DC also secretes chemokines and cytokines to attract other cells of the innate immune system to the site of infection. TLR: Toll-like receptor, CCR7: chemokine C-C receptor 7

1.3 Polarization of the immune response

It has been well established that DCs have a pivotal role in the differentiation of naive CD4⁺ T cells into Th1, Th2 or Th17 cells and evidence is accumulating that DCs are also able to induce T cell anergy or direct the development of Treg cells [69,70] (see 1.4). The final outcome of the differentiation process and thus the character of the immune response is determined by several factors, with the type of pathogen, the subset of DCs stimulated and the cytokine milieu at sites of inflammation being the major determinants.

1.3.1 DC subsets and polarization of the immune response

The existence of phenotypically distinct subsets of DCs that are located in distinct microenvironments raises the question whether they too, like distinct subsets of lymphocytes, may have evolved to serve distinct functions. Traditionally it was indeed
thought that the different human DC subsets had fixed instructive capacities, hence the DC1/DC2 nomenclature [71]. This view implies that myeloid DCs (DC1) induce IFN γ producing Th1 cells and thus pro-inflammatory responses whereas plasmacytoid DCs (DC2) mediate the more tolerogenic Th2 polarization. Studies on CD8 α^+ (or formerly lymphoid-derived) and CD8 α^- DCs (or formerly myeloid-derived) populations in mice also showed Th1 and Th2 priming capacities respectively [72,73]. In addition, it has been shown that CD8 α^- DCs induce Th17 cells much more efficiently than other subsets in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis [74].

Nevertheless, in recent years it has become increasingly clear that DC subsets may not have an intrinsic capacity to direct either Th1 or Th2 cell development, but rather might be modified by environmental factors [75-77]. Colonna and co-workers showed that human blood plasmacytoid DCs stimulated with CD40 ligand or influenza virus matured and became potent stimulators of a Th1 response, driven by type I IFN and IL-12 production [77]. Another study showed that both mouse conventional and plasmacytoid DCs generated from bone marrow, as well as lymphoid tissue DCs can direct Th1 or Th2 responses depending on the dose of antigen presented [75].

All together the conclusion from these seemingly contradictory findings and theories might be that developmentally preprogrammed functions can be fine-tuned by environmental factors, leading to some degree of functional plasticity of the different DC subsets.

In spite of this plasticity in polarizing T cells, it is clear that, following stimulation, each DC subset secretes a lineage specific array of cytokines [78] and chemokines [79]. Stimulating human plasmacytoid DCs and myeloid DCs with a TLR7 ligand demonstrated the association of specific cytokine profiles with DC lineages. Although both subsets undergo similar phenotypic changes upon maturation, they show a different pattern of cytokine secretion. Specifically, myeloid DCs release IL-12 but no type I IFN and plasmacytoid DCs produce type I IFN but no IL-12. However, both subsets promoted the differentiation of T cells into Th1 effectors [78], indicating that the character of an adaptive immune response is ultimately determined by which PAMPs trigger immature DCs.

1.3.2 PAMPs, TLRs and polarization of the immune response

How do different DC subsets discriminate between pathogens when simultaneously present at the site of infection and ensure a proper type of immune response? The recognition of TLRs as main PRRs partially solved this question. The human myeloid

DC1 subset expresses all 10 TLRs with the exception of TLR9 and – according to some publications - TLR7 and therefore recognizes an abundant variety of PAMPs [80-82]. The plasmacytoid subset DC2 possesses a repertoire of TLRs (TLR1, TLR6, TLR7 and TLR9), which complements the TLRs expressed by DC1, enabling the two subsets of DCs to respond to distinct sets of PAMPs [80-82]. In mice the distribution pattern of TLR members shows more overlap between different subsets. While all subsets express TLR1, 2, 4, 6, 8 and 9, murine plasmacytoid DCs do not express TLR3 and CD8 α^+ DCs lack TLR5 and TLR7 expression [83].

TLRs may be expressed as homodimers or heterodimers (TLR2 plus TLR1 or TLR6) and have broad specificity for conserved molecular structures of pathogens [84,85]. LPS from *Escherichia coli* signals through TLR4, whereas TLR2 appears to have several ligands including peptidoglycan from gram-positive bacteria, lipoproteins from *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* and zymosan from yeast as well as LPS from *Porphyromas gingivalis*. TLR3 recognizes dsRNA, TLR5 recognizes flagellin, TLR7 can be triggered by single stranded RNA and may thus be important for viral recognition; TLR9 recognizes certain types of CpG rich DNA found in some viruses and bacteria. TLR3, 7, 8 and 9 are located in the endosomes and require an acidic environment for activation. TLR1, 2, 4, 5 and 6 are expressed on the cell surface. The former TLRs are thus ideal for the detection of internalized viruses and bacteria whereas the latter recognize bacterial products.

A given DC population will only respond to the pathogen for which they have the appropriate TLRs. Transcriptional profiling by microarray analysis of human monocyte derived DCs treated with different classes of pathogens (bacteria, viruses and fungi) revealed the existence of common and pathogen specific genes [86]. Common genes respond to the presence of all pathogens and express proteins that are used in responses against all microbes, such as inflammatory cytokines and adhesion molecules necessary for the migration of maturing DCs to the lymphoid organs. In addition, distinct sets of genes are regulated in response to a specific pathogen, allowing for the generation of an adaptive immune response directed towards elimination of the eliciting pathogen. For example, activation of DCs with virus-derived dsRNA, a TLR3 ligand, but not with bacterial LPS, the prototypic TLR4 ligand, up-regulates the level of type I IFN, essential for anti-viral responses, as well as pro-apoptotic genes that may induce early cell death of infected cells.



Figure 7 T cell stimulation and T helper 1 (Th1)/Th2-cell polarization Signal 1 is the antigen-specific signal that is mediated through T cell receptor (TCR) triggering by MHC II-associated peptides processed from pathogens after internalization through specialized pattern recognition receptors (PRRs). Signal 2 is the co-stimulatory signal, mainly mediated by triggering of CD28 by CD80 and CD86 that are expressed by dendritic cells (DCs) after ligation of PRRs, such as Toll-like receptors (TLRs) that are specialized to sense infection through recognition of pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs). Signal 3 is the polarizing signal that is mediated by various soluble or membrane-bound factors (see 1.3.4), such as interleukin-12 (IL-12) and CC-chemokine ligand 2 (CCL2), that promote the development of Th1 or Th2 cells, respectively. The nature of signal 3 depends on the activation of particular PRRs by PAMPs but can also be influenced by the DC microenvironment (tissue factors: TFs) as discussed in 1.3.3. Type 1 and type 2 PAMPs can be defined as those that selectively prime DCs for the production of high levels of Th1 cell-polarizing or Th2 cell-polarizing factors. Whereas, the profile of T cell-polarizing factors is primed by recognition of PAMPs, optimal expression of this profile often requires feedback stimulation by CD40 ligand (CD40L) expressed by T cells after activation by signals 1 and 2. IFN- γ : interferon- γ ; TNF- β : tumor necrosis factor- β . Source: [70]

These findings have been extended by several groups, showing that although PAMPs that stimulate different TLRs induce similar changes in surface phenotype, they often induce distinct patterns of cytokines, resulting in a Th1/Th2 polarization assumed to be the most appropriate attack towards the specific pathogen (signal 3 in Figure 7). For example LPS, CpG DNA, Poly(I:C) and TLR7 agonists induce IL-12p70 and/or IFN α and stimulate Th1 responses [55,78,87-90]. In contrast, other findings suggest that certain TLR ligands also mediate Th2 responses [88,91-97]. For instance, the TLR2 ligand zymosan promotes the release of IL-10 and the generation of Th2 effector cells in mouse splenic DCs, an effect also observed when using intact yeast [95,96]. *In vivo* studies also revealed that LPS from *P. gingivalis* causes DCs to prime a Th2 response [88,97], contrasting with the Th1 polarizing activities of DCs activated with *E. coli* LPS.

Not much is known concerning TLR ligands that mediate the induction of a Th17 response. Nevertheless it was shown in both human monocyte-derived and murine bone marrow-derived DCs that the TLR2 agonist peptidoglycan is a strong inducer of IL-23p19 mRNA [98,99]. IL-23 secreted by DCs is considered to be important in the induction of Th17 responses.

1.3.3 Conditioning of DCs in the peripheral microenvironment

The specific anatomical compartment where an immature DC resides and encounters a pathogen also profoundly impacts the character of the immune response generated by the DC after it has migrated to the lymph nodes. CD11c⁺ DCs isolated from mouse mucosa such as Peyer's patches or respiratory tracts preferentially induce Th2 differentiation [100,101]. In contrast CD11c⁺ DCs isolated from mouse spleen preferentially induce Th1 differentiation. DCs derived from bone marrow precursors or from liver precursors also displayed different effector functions in polarizing Th cells. While liver-derived DCs produced high IL-10 and induced allogeneic T cells to undergo Th2 differentiation, bone marrow-derived DCs produced low IL-10 and induced allogeneic T cells to undergo Th2 differentiation bone marrow-derived DCs produced low IL-10 and induced allogeneic T cells to undergo Th2 differentiation bone marrow-derived DCs produced low IL-10 and induced allogeneic T cells to undergo Th2 differentiation bone marrow-derived DCs produced low IL-10 and induced allogeneic T cells to undergo Th2 differentiation bone marrow-derived DCs produced low IL-10 and induced allogeneic T cells to undergo Th2 differentiation bone marrow-derived DCs produced low IL-10 and induced allogeneic T cells to undergo Th2 differentiation bone marrow-derived DCs produced low IL-10 and induced allogeneic T cells to undergo Th2 differentiation bone marrow-derived DCs produced low IL-10 and induced allogeneic T cells to undergo Th1 differentiation during primary mixed leukocyte reaction cultures or in allogeneic recipient mice after DC transfer [102].

A recent report showed that $CD8\alpha^+$ and $CD8\alpha^-$ subsets from the liver secrete similar amounts of IL-12 when stimulated with CD40 ligand, whereas in the spleen, only the $CD8\alpha^+$ subset secretes IL-12 [103]. As the two subsets are located in different areas of the spleen ($CD8\alpha^-$ DCs in the marginal zone and $CD8\alpha^+$ DCs in the T cell area [89]) it was hypothesized that these distinct microenvironments might differentially condition DCs to release IL-12 [103]. The functional differences between DCs originating from different tissues may thus result from differences in tissue cytokine microenvironments as well as in the lineage origin of different tissue DCs (Figure 8).



Figure 8 The origin of tissue specific dendritic cell functions.

DCs from mouse mucosal sites or liver (illustrated in light grey) and spleen (dark grey) have different T cell polarizing capacities after migration to the draining lymph node. These tissue specific functions of dendritic cells might result from the action of local microenvironmental factors on a common precursor (A) or from migration of distinct functionally committed precursors to the different tissues (B) or a combination of both mechanisms. BM: Bone marrow. Source: [104] with adaptations

1.3.4 DC-derived effector molecules polarizing the immune response

The conditions under which DCs are primed (microenvironment and pathogen derived compounds) thus strongly influence the Th balance. The T cell polarizing signal expressed by these primed DCs can be either cytokines or cell surface molecules. Some but not all of these DC-derived molecules have been identified.

One of the best documented is IL-12p70, a powerful inducer of effector Th1 cells [105]. Recently IL-23 and IL-27, which are closely related to IL-12, have also been implicated to drive Th1 differentiation [105,106]. IL-18 has also a Th1-promoting ability, amplifying the effects of IL-12, but not capable of Th1 differentiation [105]. Another group of important Th1-driving factors in humans, but not in mice, are type I IFNs (e.g IFN α/β). In both man and mice, type I IFN production is strongly associated with virus infection and may be crucial in the development of protective Th1 immunity

as they can induce IFN γ secretion from CD4⁺ cells in humans [107]. Several cell surface molecules have also been shown to have a Th1-polarizing effect, among them intercellular adhesion molecule 1 (ICAM-1) and the Notch family ligand Delta [108,109].

A number of molecules implicated in Th2 differentiation have been identified up till now but no clear-cut picture has emerged yet. Some recently identified secreted mediators with Th2 inducing properties include the chemokine CCL2 (MCP-1), IL-25 and IL-6 [110,111]. IL-18 has been reported to be able to drive Th2 development in the absence of IL-12 [112]. Cell surface molecules with Th2-driving properties are OX40 ligand and Jagged family members [70,109].

Not much is known concerning DC-derived factors inducing the recently discovered Th17 lineage. The idea that IL-23 is the initiator of Th17 differentiation has been put to rest, although there is definitely a role for this cytokine in expanding and maintaining the Th17 population. TGF β has recently been found to be a potent inducer of Th17 cells [113-115]. Analysis of DC-derived factors that act in concert with TGF β led to the identification of IL-6, elicited by TLR-mediated signaling, as a critical cofactor. The combination of IL-6 in conjunction with TGF β favors Th17 cells but inhibits the expression of Foxp3, a gene transcription factor essential for Treg cell differentiation [113,115]. Furthermore, both IL-1 β and TNF were found to amplify the Th17 response but were not able to substitute for TGF β or IL-6.

1.4 Dendritic cells and tolerance

The induction of antigen specific tolerance in the periphery is critical for the prevention of autoimmunity and maintenance of immune homeostasis. The role of DCs herein includes induction of T cell apoptosis, T cell anergy and generation of Treg cells.

In order to explain the role of DCs in the establishment of peripheral tolerance, the existence of "steady-state" migrating DCs has been suggested. These DCs migrate to the regional lymph nodes in the absence of infection and inflammation, loaded with tissue antigens. In this way self-antigens are transported to the lymph nodes and presented to autoreactive T cells for the induction of peripheral tolerance [116].

1.4.1 Induction of T cell apoptosis

DCs in the steady-state are capable of inducing apoptosis in T cells for the maintenance of immune homeostasis. This concept was derived from observations of

a Fas-ligand expressing DC subset, resident in murine lymph nodes. These DCs are able to mediate apoptosis in allogeneic $CD4^+T$ cells in a mixed leukocyte reaction [117]. *In vivo*, this seemed to be a mechanism to remove potentially self-reactive T cells from the periphery [118]. Treg cells appear to be rather resistant to Fas-ligand-mediated apoptosis [119] indicating that both DCs and Treg cells can act together to terminate a T cell response. Another apoptosis-inducing ligand, TRAIL, is expressed by human CD11c⁺ blood DCs after stimulation with IFN γ or TNF. TRAIL confers the ability to kill TRAIL sensitive targets, including activated T cells [120].

1.4.2 Induction of T cell anergy

T cell anergy is yet another mechanism by which auto-reactive T cells are neutralized in the periphery. When T cells encounter antigen (self peptides) presented by resting APCs, not only do they fail to become optimally activated but they are also hyporesponsive upon rechallenge; they are anergic. The induction of T cell anergy by DCs might be due to incomplete maturation, blockade of the B7 family of co-stimulatory molecules or the influence of specific non-inflammatory molecules such as IL-10 and TGF β .

The induction of T cell anergy by immunosuppressive mediators might be a mechanism to inhibit auto-reactive T cell responses by converting immature DCs into tolerance-inducing cells. It has been demonstrated that immature IL-10-treated human DCs release reduced amounts of inflammatory cytokines such as IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF and do not produce IL-12 [121-123]. As a result such DCs are not only less efficient at stimulating Th1 responses but can induce a state of antigen-specific tolerance due to the induction of T cell anergy [123,124]. The anergic T cells induced by IL-10-modulated DCs are characterized by inhibited antigen-specific proliferation, a reduced production of IL-2 and IFN γ , and a down-regulated expression of CD25 [123,125]. Induction requires direct cell–cell contact between T cells and DCs as well as soluble factors produced by the IL-10-treated DCs.

One way for DCs to promote and maintain anergy is through the presence of the cell surface receptor "Programmed Death Ligand 1" (PD-L1) or B7-H1 [126]. This inhibitory signaling molecule is overruled on mature DCs that express high levels of MHC II and co-stimulatory molecules. But when those signals are low, as is the case for IL-10-treated DCs, B7-H1 signaling may become critical. The finding that B7-H1 signaling might enhance IL-10 production in T cells, but inhibits IL-2 production, could explain how B7-H1 controls T cell anergy [126].

1.4.3 Induction of regulatory T cells

Finally, DCs may also control peripheral tolerance by inducing the differentiation of Treg cells (see 1.1.2). As discussed before, the activation status of the DC and local cytokine environment appear to play an important role in the outcome of T cell responses. This is also true for their function in Treg cell differentiation. Although T cells induced by immature DCs are anergic rather than regulatory, there is some evidence that immature DCs can selectively activate CD4⁺CD25⁺ Treg cells [127]. In contrast to the anergic T cells, the suppressive activity of these Treg cells seems to be antigen non-specific and can be partially inhibited by the addition of exogenous IL-2 *in vitro* [127]. Furthermore, it has been shown that DCs after treatment with vitamin D3 display an immature phenotype and are prone to induce CD4⁺CD25⁺ Treg cells, which are able to mediate transplantation tolerance [128].

DCs that direct the induction of IL-10 secreting Tr1 cells seem to have an intermediate phenotype, including increased expression of MHC II molecules and CD86 but low levels of expression of CD40 and ICAM-1 [129,130]. This is supported by studies showing that DCs lacking surface expression of CD40 can suppress a primed immune response and induce IL-10-secreting CD4⁺ Treg cells [130]. Furthermore, the interaction between ICAM-1 and leukocyte function-associated antigen 1 (LFA-1) is thought to promote the induction of Th1 cells independently of IL-12 [108]. So, DCs in which CD40 and ICAM-1 expression is suppressed but CD80 and CD86 expression is increased might promote the induction of Tr1 cells but block the differentiation of Th1 cells.

Wakkach and colleagues [131] recently identified a subset of dendritic cells in the spleen and lymph node that appear to be a natural tolerizing dendritic cell subset. The cells have plasmacytoid morphology and remain immature even after *in vitro* activation with LPS or CpG, they have an unusual cell-surface phenotype (CD11c^{low}CD45RB^{high}), and they produce large amounts of IL-10 when stimulated. These cells are capable of directly generating Tr1 cells *in vitro* and *in vivo*, and may represent a naturally occurring dendritic cell subset involved in eliciting tolerance *in vivo*.

Th3 cells are a unique mucosal T cell subset with down-regulatory properties for Th1 and other immune cells [29]. In contrast to the other Th cell subsets, Th3 cells provide help for IgA production and primarily secrete TGF β . The mechanism by which Th3 cells are induced remains unknown. It is also not known to what degree

the generation of these regulatory cells is related to unique APCs in the gut, the cytokine milieu, or other factors.

Many results support the concept that DCs are the inducers of Treg cells under certain circumstances. On the other hand, recent results imply that Treg cells also affect DC functions. For instance it has been shown that a subset of CD8⁺ CD28⁻ regulatory T cells induces up-regulation in DCs of the inhibitory receptors ILT3 and ILT4, which are responsible for DC-induced hyporesponsiveness of alloreactive CD4⁺ T cells [132]. Similarly, anergic CD4⁺ T cells have been shown to modify APCs that subsequently induce tolerance in naive T cells [133]. *In vitro*, human CD4⁺ CD25⁺ Treg cells also strongly suppressed TLR-triggered DC maturation, as judged by the blocking of co-stimulatory molecule up-regulation and the inhibition of pro-inflammatory cytokines secretion that resulted in poor antigen presentation capacity [134,135]. However, the exact mechanisms by which DCs induce Treg cells and vice versa remain to be defined.

Presently, microbial products that polarize DCs towards a Treg cell-inducing phenotype are beginning to be identified. Well-documented examples include: filamentous hemagglutinin (FHA) and adenylate cyclase toxin from Bordetella pertussis, Schistosoma mansoni lyophosphatidylserine, cholera toxin β -subunit, and hepatitis C virus glycoprotein NS4 (all reviewed in [3]). Through the generation of Treg cells, these pathogens are able to prevent the generation of protective Th1 or Th2 immune responses. In the case of FHA it has been shown in vitro that the induction of IL-10 and the inhibition of IL-12 production by DCs promotes the clonal expansion of IL-10 producing T cells. There is also evidence that some pathogens block DC maturation, leading to Treg cell development in order to protect themselves against detrimental effects of the immune response [70].

1.5 Dendritic cells in the gastro-intestinal immune system

The gastro-intestinal mucosa is the largest and most complex part of the immune system. It is in constant interaction with the luminal microenvironment, which contains an ever-changing commensal microflora as well as a variety of bacterial, viral and protozoan pathogens. Strong immune responses to these pathogens are required to prevent uncontrolled infections in the host. By contrast, active immunity against harmless antigens, such as food proteins or the commensal microflora, would not only be wasteful but more importantly would trigger hypersensitivity responses against these antigens and can lead to inflammatory disorders such as

Celiac disease and Crohn's disease, respectively. As a result, the usual response to harmless gut antigens is the induction of local and systemic immunological tolerance, known as oral tolerance. This physiological response is most often characterized by IgA production and the induction of Th2 responses, rather than Th1, next to other specific features. Specialized cells and organs that are involved in the uptake of antigens, distinctive subsets of APCs and several unusual populations of B and T cells might contribute to this tolerance-favoring environment.

The gut associated lymphoid tissues (GALT) can be divided into effector sites, which consist of lymphocytes scattered throughout the epithelium and lamina propria, and organized tissues responsible for the inductive phase of the immune response. These are the small intestinal Peyer's patches (PP) and mesenteric lymph nodes (MLN), as well as smaller, isolated lymphoid follicles, which have the appearance of microscopic PP and are distributed throughout the wall of small and large intestines.

As discussed in the previous sections, DCs play a pivotal role in decision between tolerance and immunity. Here we will discuss more specifically the role of mucosal DCs in the induction of oral tolerance. Diverse DC lineages with specific morphological characteristics have been recognized in the different GALT. Some of these subpopulations have unique functions when compared to DCs from non-mucosal sites, both with regard to the induction of Treg cells in the resting, or "steady-state", and in the sampling, processing and presentation of antigens following mucosal infection. It remains however unclear whether they work synergistically, as alternatives, or have distinct functions in the recognition of the intestinal microflora and the regulation of inflammation.

1.5.1 Antigen sampling

Fundamental to understanding how mucosal immune responses are induced and regulated is where different types of antigen are processed and presented by DCs to T and B cells. Primary sites for the induction of intestinal T and B cell responses are PP and MLN. Less clear are the mechanisms of antigen uptake and processing by intestinal DCs. Distinct dendritic cell subtypes may utilize diverse mechanisms to sample antigen in the intestine.

Antigenic material may interact directly with DCs in underlying tissue. This may occur in particular following intestinal epithelial barrier disruption, as occurs in inflammatory bowel disease (IBD). The population of DCs, identified within the lamina propria epithelium, may be the first APCs to come into contact with luminal antigens that cross the epithelial cell barrier.

Four other mechanisms have been described allowing for the uptake of antigens by mucosal DCs under normal physiological conditions, thereby remaining an intact epithelial cellbarrier (Figure 9). Firstly, luminal antigens are shuttled into the PP via the M cells, overlying the dome of the PP. Compared to absorptive epithelial cells, M cells have poorly developed brush borders, reduced enzymatic activity and a thin overlying glycocalyx. These features, possibly combined with a unique cytoskeleton and a pronounced capacity to form endocytic vessels, facilitate the ability of M cells to transport micro-organisms and macromolecules from the mucosal lumen to the subepithelial dome (SED) of the PP where DCs can take up the antigen. M cells are also scattered among the absorptive epithelium, where they could potentially transport antigens to the lamina propria [136].



Figure 9 The uptake of antigens across mucosal surfaces.

M cells can transport antigens directly to underlying DCs. DCs can also extend dendrites between epithelial cells (EC) to directly sample antigens from the intestinal lumen. Neonatal Fc receptors (FcRn) mediate the bidirectional transport of IgG, resulting in transport into the lumen and trafficking back to the lamina propria (LP) of antigen-antibody complexes. Antigens associated with apoptotic epithelial cells can be taken up by DCs either in the steady state or after viral infection. PP, Peyer's patch; IC, immune complex. Source: [137]

Secondly, in the lamina propria, DCs have been described to sample bacteria from the gut lumen by extending their dendrites through the epithelial cell layer of the gut barrier [138,139]. The barrier integrity remains conserved by the expression and modulation of tight junction proteins, including occludin, claudin and zonula occludens [139]. This mechanism appears to require signals from the bacteria in the lumen. Recently, bacterial sampling was demonstrated in the steady-state

[140], indicating that DCs can sample commensal as well as pathogenic organisms from the lumen.

An alternative mechanism for antigen entry across a mucosal surface, that also targets DCs, was proposed [141]. It is mediated by neonatal Fc receptors expressed by adult human (but not mouse) intestinal epithelial cells that transport IgG across the intestinal epithelial barrier and, after binding with cognate antigen in the lumen, recycle the immune complexes back to the lamina propria [141] where this neonatal Fc receptor delivers the antigens in the form of immune complexes to DCs.

DCs in the SED of PP may take up antigen-bearing exosomes, shed from the basolateral surface of epithelial cells [142] or may internalize apoptotic epithelial cells both in the steady-state [116] and after reovirus infection [143], which constitutes a fourth mechanism that directly involves interaction of DCs with the epithelium.

1.5.2 Regulation of immune responses by intestinal DCs

Intestinal DCs have properties distinct from their non-mucosal counterparts, probably as a result of their association with the external environment. Based on the current information on intestinal DC subsets, a model was proposed of how mucosal DCs may play a role in the induction of oral tolerance [144] (Figure 10).

Under steady-state conditions, precursor DCs continuously enter the mucosal lamina propria, PP and colonic isolated lymphoid follicles, develop into immature DCs and localize to different regions due to the differential constitutive expression of specific chemokines, as there are CCL9, CCL19, CCL20 and CCL21. After uptake of antigens, via one of the described mechanisms, DCs migrate from the lamina propria to the MLN, or from the SED of PP to the interfollicular regions. This migration is accompanied by an up-regulation of chemokine receptors for T cell zone chemokines, such as CCR7, but does not affect the levels of co-stimulatory molecules and cytokines. Following migration of these antigen-loaded 'quiescent' DCs to T cell zones, the DCs stimulate T cells to differentiate into tolerizing T cells (Tr1 or Th3) or induce clonal deletion of T cells. These DCs could also interact with B cells and induce IgA responses to commensal bacteria [145].

The induction of regulatory T cells may involve one or more DC populations. $CD8\alpha^{-}CD11b^{+}DCs$ are ideally located for antigen capture in the PP SED and lamina propria, produce IL-10 and induce T cells that produce IL-4, IL-10 and most likely also TGF β [53,100,146]. In addition to CD11b⁺DCs, another candidate for Treg cell induction is the plasmacytoid DC. In particular, CD8 $\alpha^{+}B220^{+}$ plasmacytoid DCs from

the PP and MLN were shown *in vitro* to induce the differentiation of IL-10 producing Treg cells that could mediate suppression [147].

The phenotype of PP, and lamina propria DCs that induce Treg cells may be influenced by local stromal factors, such as prostaglandin E_2 (PGE₂) and TGF β [148-150]. Furthermore, it seems that epithelial cells may have a chief function in 'instructing' mucosal anti-inflammatory DCs. It was demonstrated in co-culture studies of epithelial cell monolayers, DCs and bacteria, that products of epithelial cells condition DCs to release IL-6, which drives the development of IgA producing plasma cells [151], and to prime Th2 responses in an allogeneic proliferation assay [152]. This process was mediated by a combination of thymic stromal lymphopoetin and other factors that are constitutively expressed by epithelial cells. Thus it is possible that the mucosal environment 'educates' DCs to mount non-inflammatory responses to preserve gut homeostasis.



Figure 10 Mucosal dendritic cells (DCs) during steady-state and inflammatory conditions.

See text for details. CTL: Cytotoxic T-lymphocyte; Ig: Immunoglobulin; IL: interleukin; LP: lamina propria; MLN: mesenteric lymph nodes; pDC: plasmacytoid DC; PP: Peyer's Patches; TGF β : Transforming Growth Factor β ; Treg: regulatory T cell. Source: [144]

In contrast to tolerogenic responses to innocuous antigens, DCs become activated during infection or inflammation, migrate more rapidly and induce both innate and adaptive immune responses (Figure 10). In the mouse, $CD11b^+DCs$ or $CD8\alpha^-CD11b^-DCs$ in the SED of PP or lamina propria are, due to their localization, most likely involved in the initial interaction and uptake of invading pathogens. As for peripheral DCs, the induction or expansion of specific T cell responses by mucosal DCs following infection will depend on the subset of DCs involved, the signals to which they are exposed during their activation and subsequent interaction with T cells and the combined effects of antigen dose and duration and/or frequency of T cell-DC contacts.

1.5.3 Probiotics and intestinal DCs

Probiotic bacteria, mainly belonging to the lactic acid group of bacteria, are well known for their health-promoting properties [153]. Regular intake of probiotic bacteria contributes to immune homeostasis by altering microbial balance or by interacting with the gut immune system, explaining their therapeutic effect in IBD [154-156] (see also 2.3). Although there is a considerable amount of information concerning the protective efficacy of probiotics, little is known about the precise mechanisms of action by which such bacteria may exert their beneficial effects. Evidence that intestinal DC populations can interact with luminal organisms is discussed above. As DCs are equipped with a myriad of receptors to recognize microbial structures (C-type lectins, TLRs...), it is likely that these DCs can be modulated by orally administered micro-organisms such as probiotics. Furthermore, the effect of probiotics may also result from soluble factors that mediate their effects on DCs.

Most studies on the probiotic effects on DCs were performed on murine *in vitro* generated bone marrow-derived DCs or on peripheral blood derived human DCs. Therefore one can only hypothesize as to the effects on gut-associated DCs. Oral administration of VSL#3, a probiotic formulation, has been described to ameliorate Th1-mediated murine colitis by the induction of Treg cells [157]. This mixture was also used with some success in clinical trials [156,158]. Incubation of bone marrow-derived DCs with VSL#3 induced some degree of maturation and increased levels of IL-10 production. Furthermore, this combination of strains also inhibits the generation of pro-inflammatory Th1 cells *in vitro* [159,160]. For single probiotic strains, different effects on DCs have been described. *Bifidobacteria* reduce the expression of co-stimulatory molecules CD40 and CD80 and up-regulate IL-10 production by human blood DCs [160]. This increase in IL-10 production may act

both by having direct anti-inflammatory effects and by enhancing the generation of Treg cells. On the other hand, some Lactobacillus strains appear to generate a semi-mature DC phenotype, characterized by increased co-stimulatory expression but low production of pro-inflammatory cytokines [160-162]. For specific Lactobacillus strains, the *in vitro* induction of Treg cells through the targeting of the C-type lectin DC-SIGN in human DCs has been shown [163]. Another study showed that the tolerization of DCs by probiotic lactic acid bacteria was dependent on MyD88, nuclear type binding oligomerization domain 2 (NOD2) and TLR2 signaling whereas the in vivo protective effect of these tolerized DCs in murine colitis required CD4⁺ CD25⁺ regulatory T cells in an IL-10 independent pathway [162]. All these studies show a pleiotropy of possible effects of probiotic strains on DCs. This capacity is however not restricted to lactic acid or even gram-positive bacteria, as it was observed that e.g. Bordetella pertussis and Vibrio cholerae compounds can selectively commit DCs to induce polarizing signals via different mechanisms [76] (and also discussed in 1.4.3). As most of the effects of probiotics were obtained from in vitro studies, the results should be interpreted with great caution. Indeed, not only are many potential players of the mucosal regulatory response lacking in vitro but, possibly more importantly, in an in vivo situation the DC receives signals from the patients entire microflora and thus any DC modulation by the probiotics will ultimately be dependent on variation of strains and concentrations present in the gut.

2 INFLAMMATORY BOWEL DISEASE

IBD is a group of chronic intestinal inflammatory diseases, of which the most common forms are ulcerative colitis (UC), an inflammation of the large intestine, and Crohn's disease (CD), which can affect any part of the gastro-intestinal tract. IBD affects 1-2 in every 1000 individuals in Western societies and is a significant public health problem mainly because of its poorly understood etiology. Clinically, IBD is characterized by chronic inflammation, resulting in diarrhea, abdominal pain, weight loss, rectal bleeding and nausea. If left untreated the disease can be fatal due to malnutrition, dehydratation and anemia. Although many patients are managed successfully with anti-inflammatory medication, some stay refractory to treatment, most will have recurrent activity and two-thirds will require surgery.

2.1 The pathogenesis of IBD

IBD is a multi-factorial disorder involving genetic and environmental elements. It is now widely accepted that the pathogenesis of IBD is due to a dysfunctional interaction between bacterial microflora of the gut and the mucosal immune system. In one version of this view, the disease defect lies within the mucosal immune system, reacting against a normal microflora. In this case, the normal state of immunological tolerance to microbial antigens in the gastro-intestinal tract is disturbed. The second major hypothesis regarding the pathogenesis of IBD views the disease as resulting from one or more causative agents present in the gut microflora, which induce a pathological response from a normal mucosal immune system. (for review see [164]).

Many data support the hypothesis that an aberrant immune response to intestinal bacteria seems to be crucial in the pathogenesis of IBD [165]. Important evidence comes from the identification of the first CD susceptibility gene. The caspase recruitment domain protein 15 gene (CARD15), which encodes NOD2, is located on chromosome 16, associated with the IBD1 locus [166-168]. NOD2 belongs to a family of intracellular proteins possessing a NOD linked at its carboxy terminus by a leucine-rich repeat domain (LRR). NOD2, expressed mainly by APCs, is intimately involved in intracellular bacterial sensing and generation of the innate immune response as its LRR domain recognizes muramyl dipeptide, derived from peptidoglycan, present in the cell wall of most bacteria. Through its CARD domain NOD2 activates NF- κ B [169]. The 3 NOD2 polymorphisms associated with CD are located in and around of the LRR domain and are all loss-of-function mutations,

preventing binding of the muramyl dipeptide. How this loss of NF-KB activity can be linked to excessive inflammation is still a matter of debate. Additional studies have led to the hypothesis that signaling through NOD2 normally causes an overall inflammatory down-regulation of the response through dampening of NOD2-independent NF- κ B activation e.g. the peptidoglycan-induced activation of the TLR2 [170]. In the absence of effective NOD2 signaling, this TLR2 dependent NF- κ B activation can thus results in downstream activation of IL-12 and subsequent inflammation. Regardless of the mechanism, the association of CD with a defect in a microbial receptor defines a role for innate immunity and recognition of the microflora in disease pathogenesis.

Animal models of colitis have provided essential clues to the role of luminal flora in the pathogenesis of IBD. The list of genetic and acquired aberrations that lead to intestinal inflammation is strikingly long and diverse [171]. These models include animals with disturbed immune regulation such as the IL-2, IL-10 and TCR α knock-outs as well as models whit a disruption of the epithelial barrier function, such as the G2 α i knockout mouse. In every model thus far explored, it has been shown that gnotobiotic conditions greatly diminish or prevent the onset of gut inflammation. With the introduction of non-pathogenic bacteria, each of these models then proceeds to maintain their typical phenotype of colonic inflammation.

Some studies, however, support the hypothesis suggesting that IBD is associated with pathological organisms that establish a low-grade infection of the mucosa and in doing so evoke the inflammatory response that characterizes the disease. One of the leading infectious candidates is *Mycobacterium avium paratuberculosis* [172], but also *Listeria monocytogenes* and *Helicobacter hepaticus* have been linked to IBD. However, so far there is no compelling evidence for an absolute requirement for any of the proposed causative agents in the onset of IBD.

Taken together these results suggest that the fundamental basis of IBD is the presence of one or more genetically determined defects that result in a mucosal immune system that overreacts to normal constituents of the intestinal microflora. These defects can be accompanied by genetically determined alterations in gut epithelial barrier functions that enhance exposure of the mucosal immune system to microflora components. For instance, recently it has been shown that CD patients exhibit decreased secretion of cationic peptides with antibacterial properties, known as defensins [173,174].

2.2 Intestinal dendritic cells in IBD

The fact that IBD is related to deregulated immune responses against intestinal flora, has elicited a closer examination of the role of the DC as a central mediator.

DCs from inflamed lamina propria of Crohn's patients show enhanced expression of TLR2 and TLR4, which may contribute to altered microbial recognition [175]. These DCs also express higher levels of CD40 than DCs from non-inflamed lamina propria or from healthy control tissue. Also an increased proportion of them release inflammatory cytokines. The up-regulation of CD40 on isolated cells is consistent with immunohistological studies showing increased numbers of DCs expressing CD80 and CD83 in mucosal tissue from CD and UC patients [176]. These altered DCs are likely to contribute to the initiation or perpetuation of intestinal inflammation, either as a local effector cell population active in innate immunity or by modifying the response of lymphocytes that the DCs activate as part of the immune response.

Other groups studying DC phenotype and expansion in murine colitis models have demonstrated expansion of colonic lamina propria DCs that exhibit up-regulated expression of co-stimulatory molecules, such as CD40, CD80 and CD86 [177]. Recent experiments suggest that DCs play an early and fundamental role in the disease. DC aggregates were identified under the basal crypt epithelium of immune deficient mice. When pathogenic T cells were transferred to these mice, they clustered and proliferated in these aggregates 5-10 days before colitis could be detected, suggesting that the DCs were involved in the initial activation or restimulation of pathogenic T cells [178]. Furthermore, in the SCID model, activated (OX40 ligand⁺) DCs were increased in the MLN, after induction of colitis by the transfer of CD45RB^{hi} T cells [179]. Anti-OX40 ligand blocked the development of colitis, supporting an important role for activated DCs.

These studies suggest a role for activation of intestinal DCs in the initiation and possibly continuation of IBD, both in mouse and humans. Identifying a means to interrupt the activation of DCs *in vivo* may be a key to controlling the disease.

2.3 Current and potential therapies for IBD

Regardless of the particular defects, IBD finally results in a common immunopathological pathway comprised of either a Th1-mediated inflammation (CD) or a Th2-mediated inflammation (UC) [180]. This implies that, regardless of the nature of the fundamental defects, one could potentially treat IBD with therapies that

address an essential element of the final common pathway. Existing conventional treatments, such as corticosteroids, mesalamine and immunosuppressants are good examples as they aim to block downstream inflammatory events such as the secretion of cytokines and the expansion of immune cells and neutrophils regardless of the nature of the underlying T cell responses that generate these events. Despite their shortcomings and toxicities these agents have long been the main drugs for treatment of IBD.

Understanding the role of cytokines along with the development of monoclonal antibodies targeting specific disease related cytokines has led to a major advance in the development of IBD therapeutics. The greatest advance in this area has been the introduction of anti-TNF therapy. TNF is a pro-inflammatory cytokine, which is abundantly expressed in the gut of CD. As a result, this cytokine was considered to be an attractive target for the treatment of IBD and several anti-TNF reagents have thus been developed. These reagents include infliximab, CDP571, CDP870, etanercept, onercept and adalimumab (for a review see [181]). Infliximab is a mouse/human chimeric IgG1 monoclonal antibody against TNF, which was created in late 1980s, and it has been demonstrated to be effective in reducing intestinal inflammation in CD. Most of the other anti-TNF reagents are modified by a reduction of the mouse peptide sequence or are completely humanized in order to reduce the immunogenicity. Not all of these anti-TNF reagents have been proven to be as effective in the treatment of CD as infliximab. The efficacy seems to be dependent, not only on the ability to neutralize soluble TNF, but also on the capacity to bind to membrane-bound TNF, thereby mediating the apoptosis of the effector cells [182]. Since UC is characterized by a Th2-mediated inflammation, TNF was not initially thought to play an important role in the pathogenesis. However, next to the excess of Th2 cytokines IL-5 and IL-13, increased levels of TNF were found in the colonic mucosa, serum and stool of UC patients [183-185] and infliximab was shown to be extremely efficacious in two randomized placebo controlled clinical trials (for review see [186]). Although successful, the anti-TNF strategy has also been associated with significant complications [187-189].

Other cytokine-directed therapies are at earlier stages of development. Early studies with anti-IL-12p40 show some activity in active CD [190]. This antibody may also bind to the IL-12p40 subunit as a component of the heterodimeric pro-inflammatory cytokine IL-23. In support of this, polymorphisms in the IL-23 receptor gene appear to confer protection against the CD [191]. Furthermore, administration of a monoclonal antibody against the IL-23 specific subunit IL-23p19 was effective in both prevention

and treatment of active colitis in a mouse model [192]. This suggests that specific inhibition of IL-23, and not IL-12, may be an effective treatment of IBD. Also under investigation are anti-IFN γ [193] and targeting of IL-6 [194]. While the above-mentioned therapies aim at correcting the immune balance in IBD by interfering with the action of pro-inflammatory cytokines, IL-10 treatment tends to exploit the anti-inflammatory properties of the product itself. Intravenous administration of recombinant IL-10 initially resulted in reduced CD activity scores and increased remission [195]. However, larger trials could not confirm these positive effects [196]. Furthermore, many patients developed systemic side effects such as headache, fever and the induction of IFN γ [197]. It is possible that the pharmacodynamics of daily systemic IL-10 delivery do not lead to sufficient mucosal penetration while causing negative systemic effects. Therefore, alternative methods for the delivery of IL-10 might be a solution. Experiments in our department showed that topical delivery of IL-10 by means of intragastric administration of a recombinant Lactococcus lactis strain, secreting murine IL-10, prevented onset of colitis in IL-10 knockout mice and caused a 50% reduction of the inflammation in dextran sulfate sodium (DSS)-induced chronic colitis [198] (see also 4.2.1). Furthermore, in a phase I trial, the use of these genetically modified (GM) bacteria for mucosal delivery of IL-10 was shown to be a feasible strategy in human beings [199]. As this novel strategy avoids systemic side effects and is biologically contained [200], it is suitable for long-term treatments of chronic intestinal diseases. More details about L. lactis and its use as a live topical delivery system will be discussed in the chapter 4.

A second area where understanding of the pathogenesis has lead to novel therapies is the area of cellular adhesion and recruitment. The use of an anti-integrin antibody could prevent accumulation of leukocytes at areas of inflammation by inhibiting its binding to cellular adhesion molecules on the endothelial surface, such as VCAM, ICAM and MAdCAM. Although effective in clinical trials, the use of the humanized anti- α 4 integrin has been associated with a fatal infection of the central nervous system [201].

A third area of interest for therapeutic intervention is the process of T cell activation. Both the antigen specific interaction between a T cell and the APC and co-stimulatory signaling offer opportunities for therapeutic intervention. Current therapies in progress are the administration of α CD3 antibodies for TCR targeting [202] or the inhibition of co-stimulation by binding of CD28 to B7 with Abatacept, an approved treatment for rheumatoid arthritis [203]. Unexploited as a therapy is the induction of Treg cells to restore tolerance, as these can prevent and even cure colitis in various experimental models [24,204].

In parallel to the growing importance of the innate immune system came the first study of therapies intended to enhance the innate immune responses rather than to suppress adaptive immune responses. In this context, treatment with GM-CSF, for stimulation of neutrophils, shows promising results in CD [205].

Given the critical role for the luminal flora in IBD, it is not surprising that antibiotics seem useful as a treatment for CD with colonic localization or have a prophylactic effect for disease recurrence after ileal resection [206,207]. In addition, elemental diet has been demonstrated to be an effective therapy for CD [208]. This diet contains all essential nutrients but is free of proteins. Effects of elemental diet may be complex but are thought to include a favorable effect on the bowel flora composition and may minimize immunologic stimulation of the host immune response. Finally, the potential use of probiotics to restore immune regulation, enhance the epithelial barrier or change the composition of the microflora, is currently under investigation. The influence of certain probiotics on dendritic cells and thus on immune regulation has been described earlier (see 1.5.3). Some preparations seem to have beneficial effects in both UC and CD (for reviews see [154,155]).

3 INTERLEUKIN-10 AND THE TREFOIL FACTOR FAMILY

The focus of this work will be on the modulation of (mucosal) dendritic cell function by *L. lactis* delivered murine IL-10 or trefoil factor family 3 (TFF3). Both strains have healing effects in mouse models for chronic and/or acute colitis albeit with an entirely different functional basis. On the one hand we have IL-10, an anti-inflammatory cytokine with an important role in regulating the immune response. On the other hand, TFF peptides are mainly known for their epithelial repair function and only recently, attention is given on possible immune-modulating effects.

3.1 Interleukin-10

The immune system's inflammatory response is essential to protect the host from infection, injury and neoplasia. However, the immune response has to be of the appropriate amplitude and duration to prevent unnecessary destruction of healthy tissue. Excessive production of inflammatory factors can result in diseases such as rheumatoid arthritis, septic shock and, as described above, IBD. The immune system has developed multiple anti-inflammatory mediators to prevent such "out-of-control" inflammatory responses. One of the most potent of these anti-inflammatory factors is IL-10. IL-10 was originally described in 1989 as a cytokine synthesis inhibitor factor produced by Th2 cells that inhibited the production of cytokines such as IL-2, TNF, IFN γ and GM-CSF by Th1 cells, in response to antigens presented by APCs [209]. However its expression profile has now been widened and expression in various subsets of T cells, macrophages, monocytes, dendritic cells, mast cells, B cells, eosinophils, keratinocytes and epithelial cells has been shown [210]. Here, I will briefly review the IL-10 structure, its receptor, the signaling pathway and the main biological functions of IL-10 on cells of the immune system.

3.1.1 IL-10 protein, gene and expression

IL-10 belongs to the class II family of α -helical cytokines that is composed of the type I interferons, IFN γ and IL-10. The main structural feature is a left-handed anti-parallel four-helix bundle [211]. Recently five novel cytokines that display structural similarity to IL-10 have been identified from the human genome: IL-19, IL-20, IL-22, IL-24 and IL-26 [211,212], together comprising the cellular IL-10 subfamily. Similar to IL-10 these IL-10 related cytokines are α -helical proteins, whose amino acid sequences are 20-30% identical. These new IL-10 family members are strongly involved in immune regulation and inflammatory responses but further studies are needed to

provide a better understanding. The viral (v)IL-10 subfamily includes IL-10 gene homologues found in the Epstein-Barr virus, equine virus type 2, poxvirus Orf and human cytomegalovirus genomes [212]. Although the *in vivo* roles of vIL-10 in the viral life cycle remain to be defined, it is nevertheless sensible to speculate that these viral homologues play a key role in suppressing the host immune system, allowing the growth of virus induced tumors and survival of the viruses in the host. Members of this subfamily have sequence homologies with human (h)IL-10 ranging from 20%-80%.

The hIL-10 molecule consists of 160 amino acids, has a molecular weight of 18.5 kDa and shows 73% amino acid homology with murine (m)IL-10 that has 157 amino acids with a molecular weight of 18.5 kDa. Both are synthesized as monomers but form homodimers in biological fluids. Although an engineered human monomeric IL-10 molecule can bind to the IL-10 receptor, the homodimer that forms spontaneously has 60-fold greater affinity for the receptor and 10-fold higher biological activity [213]. hIL-10 and vIL-10 are not glycosylated, whereas mIL-10 appears to be heterogeneously N-glycosylated at a site near the N-terminus. Nevertheless, glycosylation of mIL-10 has no known influence on biological activity [210]. Furthermore, hIL-10 is active on both mouse and human cells, whereas mIL-10 is effective only on mouse cells.

Both mIL-10 and hIL-10 genes are encoded by 5 exons on the respective chromosomes 1. Activation of IL-10 gene expression results in ± 2 kb (hIL-10) and ± 1.4 kb (mIL-10) mRNAs. IL-10 can be expressed by a variety of cells, usually in response to an activation stimulus and its expression is regulated by different mechanisms in different cell types. In contrast to other cytokines, IL-10 transcription can be regulated by transcription factors Sp1 and Sp3, which are expressed constitutively by many different cell types [214]. Combined with control of mRNA stability at the post-transcriptional level [215], this suggests that the IL-10 gene is transcribed to some degree constitutively and subject to control by alteration of post-transcriptional RNA degradation mechanisms. This situation results in a more rapid induction of IL-10 expression than can be achieved by activation of transcription.

3.1.2 The IL-10 receptor: structure and expression

The IL-10 receptor (IL-10R) is a heterotetramer comprised of two molecules of the IL-10R α (or IL-10R1) and two molecules of the IL-10R β (or IL-10R2) chain. (for reviews see [210,211])

IL-10R1 is the ligand binding subunit to which IL-10 binds with high affinity. Consistent with the observed species-specificity of IL-10, mIL-10R1 binds both mIL-10 and hIL-10, while hIL-10R1 does not bind mIL-10. Most hematopoietic cells express this R1 chain, although generally at very low levels. Upon activation of T cells its expression is down-regulated both at the mRNA and protein levels. In contrast, activation of monocytes is associated with up-regulation of IL-10R1 expression, consistent with the inhibitory function that IL-10 exerts on these cells. IL-10R1 expression has also been observed on non-hematopoietic cells, although it is more often induced rather than constitutive. Nevertheless constitutive IL-10R1 expression has been described in colonic epithelium.

The IL-10R utilizes an accessory subunit for signaling, IL-10R2. This chain was originally described as an orphan IFNR family member, located in the IFNR gene complex of both mouse and human. Several lines of evidence support IL-10R2's role in the IL-10R complex. First it can be crosslinked with IL-10/IL-10R1 in IL-10 responsive cells. Moreover, IL-10R2^{-/-} mice, like IL-10^{-/-} animals develop severe chronic enterocolitis and cells from these mice are unresponsive to IL-10. Finally, anti-hIL-10R2 monoclonal antibodies block IL-10 responses. IL-10R2 contributes little to IL-10 binding affinity and its principal function appears to be recruitment of a Janus kinase (Tyk2) to the signaling complex. Most cells and tissues examined constitutively express IL-10R2 and there is no evidence for significant activation-associated regulation of IL-10R2 expression in immune cells. Thus, any stimulus activating IL-10R1 expression should be sufficient to render most cells responsive to IL-10.

3.1.3 Signaling pathway

Binding of IL-10 to its receptor causes the activation of the receptor associated Janus tyrosine kinases, Jak1 and Tyk2 [216]. These kinases are responsible for the phosphorylation of tyrosine residues within the intracellular domain of IL-10R1 that serve as docking sites for STAT molecules [217]. IL-10 was initially shown to activate STAT1, STAT5 and STAT3 [218] but only STAT3 signaling seems to be required for the anti-inflammatory effects of IL-10 [219,220]. Homodimers of STAT3 form and translocate to the nucleus where they drive the transcription of STAT3 responsive genes. The obligate role of STAT3 in IL-10 signaling raised the issue of pathway redundancy and specificity as many receptors use STAT3. For example IL-6 signaling also activates the Jak1-STAT3 pathway yet is incapable of activating the anti-inflammatory response. An explanation involves the effects of suppressor of

cytokine signaling (SOCS)3 on the IL-6R. SOCS3 expression is strongly induced by both IL-10 and IL-6 stimulated cells and is required to regulate STAT3 signaling. It binds to specific phosphorylated tyrosine residues on cytokine receptors thereby rendering them sensitive for degradation. In contrast to the IL-6R, the IL-10R appears refractory to the effects of all members of the SOCS family [221]. Binding of IL-10 to the receptor thus rapidly activates STAT3 and it remains phosphorylated over a sustained period.

Perhaps the most complex aspect of IL-10 signaling involves the selective reduction of pro-inflammatory gene transcription in APCs. Microarray analysis revealed that expression of most LPS-induced genes was unaffected in the presence of IL-10. Only 15-20% of the genes were reduced by IL-10 and these genes predominantly encoded proteins crucial to inflammation, including cytokines, chemokines and cell surface receptors [222]. IL-10 therefore inhibits only subsets of genes activated by TLR stimulation. The exact mechanisms underlying this process are unknown but are dependent on *de novo* gene transcription induced by STAT3. These unknown STAT3 induced molecules then target the transcription of inflammatory genes [223].

3.1.4 Anti-inflammatory functions

The main biological functions of IL-10 seem to be to limit and terminate the inflammatory responses, block pro-inflammatory cytokine secretion and regulate the differentiation and proliferation of several immune cells such as T cells, B cells, natural killer cells and mast cells. The IL-10 gene homologues found in viral genomes are also thought to act as virulence factors to manipulate the immune system. Furthermore, many tumors also acquire an IL-10 secreting phenotype that may permit malignant cells to evade cell-mediated immune defenses [224,225]. The convergence of these evolutionary distinct mechanisms for immune evasion underscores the importance of IL-10 as a central immune modulator.

The major physiological function of IL-10 is to suppress the functions of APCs, such as monocytes/macrophages and DCs. Pathogens can stimulate these APCs to produce a variety of inflammatory mediators through activation of their PRRs (see 1.3.2 for DC). IL-10 modulates expression of cytokines, soluble mediators and cell surface molecules by these cells with important consequences for their ability to activate and sustain immune and inflammatory responses.

IL-10 potently reduces expression of TNF, IL-1, IL-12, IL-6 and GM-CSF by activated monocytes/macrophages [226-229]. The inhibitory effect of IL-10 on IL-1 and TNF are crucial to its anti-inflammatory activities because these cytokines often have

synergistic effects on inflammatory pathways and processes, and amplify these responses by inducing secondary mediators such as chemokines, prostaglandins and platelet activating factor. Furthermore IL-10 also inhibits the production by activated monocytes of the CC chemokines MCP-1, MCP-5, MIP-1 α , MIP-1 β , MIP-3 α , MIP-3 β , MDC and RANTES as well as the CXC chemokines IL-8, IP10, MIP-2 and Gro- α . These chemokines are implicated in the recruitment of monocytes, dendritic cells, neutrophils and T cells. Thus IL-10 inhibits expression of most inducible chemokines that are involved in inflammation [210]. Next to this IL-10 also reduces expression of inflammatory enzymes such as cyclooxygenase 2 (COX-2) and inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS), resulting in reduced prostaglandin and nitric oxide (NO) levels [210,230-232].

IL-10 not only inhibits production of effector molecules but also further augments its inhibitory activity by enhancing the release of natural antagonists such as soluble TNF receptor and the IL-1R antagonist [210]. Similarly, the potential destructive activities of matrix metalloproteinases (MMP) are limited by IL-10 as it not only inhibits the production of MMP-1 and MMP-9 through decreased PGE₂ expression but also induces the production of tissue inhibitor of MMP (TIMP) [233,234].

IL-10 also induces apoptosis of human plasmacytoid DCs and alters DC migration by modulating the expression of chemokine receptors [210]. In a recent study it was shown that both externally added and activation induced autocrine IL-10 production reduce the lifespan of mature myeloid DCs [235]. The mechanism behind this is likely associated with the down-regulation of anti-apoptotic Bcl-2 proteins.

Another key function of IL-10's immune suppressive capabilities is its effectiveness in disabling antigen presentation and subsequent T cell activation by inhibiting the expression of MHC II, CD80 and CD86 on macrophages and DCs thus effectively blocking antigen presentation to T cells [236-239].

Somewhat contradictory seems the up-regulation of activatory CD16 and CD64 $Fc\gamma R$ expression by IL-10 on macrophages, which correlates with an enhanced capacity of macrophages/monocytes to phagocytose opsonized particles, bacteria or fungi [240,241]. However, as the increased uptake is accompanied with reduced antigen presentation and reduced co-stimulation, it rather serves to clear inflammatory stimuli from the site of infection. In fact, IL-10 induces the differentiation of monocytes into a type of macrophage prone to resolve inflammation by clearing bacteria without triggering the release of inflammatory mediators [242]. This phenotype is also seen

upon addition of IL-10 during GM-CSF/IL-4 driven differentiation of monocytes into DCs or during LPS-stimulated maturation of DCs [243-245].

Most of the inhibition of T cell activation by IL-10 seems to be caused indirectly via suppressing crucial APC functions. However, direct effects of IL-10 on T cells also have been described. IL-10 shows inhibitory activities towards Th1 and Th2 cells via the suppression of IL-2, IFN γ , IL-4 and IL-5 [246,247]. IL-10 can also inhibit expression of the chemokine receptor CXCR4, induced on activated T cells, and the chemotactic response to its ligand stromal-derived factor-1 [248].

3.1.5 Induction of tolerogenic DCs by IL-10

As mentioned above, the immunosuppressive properties of IL-10 on DCs result in a reduced expression of MHC II as well as co-stimulatory and adhesion molecules. Furthermore, DCs matured in the presence of IL-10 showed a reduced production of inflammatory cytokines and a lack of IL-12 synthesis [121-123]. The induction of T cell anergy by these IL-10-treated DCs has been described before (see 1.4.2). Briefly, IL-10 induced anergy is characterized by an antigen-specific inhibition of T cell proliferation and reduced production of IL-2 and IFN γ [125]. In contrast to Treg cells, anergic T cells induced by IL-10-treated DCs are characterized by a markedly reduced expression of the IL-2 receptor α -chain (CD25), and anergic T cells produce no immunomodulatory cytokines, such as IL-10 or TGF- β [123,125]. The presence of IL-10 during DC maturation thus favors the emergence of anergy-inducing APCs. However, the immunosuppressive activity of IL-10 is limited to IL-10 sensitive immature DCs. During terminal differentiation, DCs down-regulate the IL-10R. Therefore mature DCs are IL-10 resistant [210,242].

It has been shown *in vitro* that IL-10 plays an indirect role in the differentiation of Tr1 cells, through the induction of a specific tolerogenic DC subset [131]. DCs from the mucosal system, which are known to be more tolerogenic than systemic DCs derived from lymph nodes and spleen, also participate in the generation of Treg cells by expressing high levels of IL-10 upon stimulation and priming naive T cells to differentiate in Th2 and Tr1 directions and to secrete high levels of IL-4 and IL-10 [116]. This T cell derived IL-10 can then in turn further augment tolerance through converting DCs into a tolerogenic phenotype.

3.2 Trefoil factor family of peptides

The TFF is a family of peptides that plays an important role in mucosal defense and repair of the gastro-intestinal tract. This family consists of three members: the gastric peptides pS2, now called TFF1 and Spasmolytic Polypeptide or TFF2 together with the intestinal trefoil factor TFF3. They are small (7-12 kDa) protease-resistant proteins that are abundantly secreted onto the mucosal surface by mucus-secreting cells of the gastro-intestinal tract. Trefoil factor peptides have been shown both *in vivo* and *in vitro* to have major effects on such physiological processes as epithelial restitution, wound healing, apoptosis and cell motility. Here we will describe the region specific expression, structure, regulation and known biological effects of the TFF with some proposed mechanisms. As will become apparent, most mechanisms are still not completely understood.

3.2.1 TFF expression and gene regulation

Mammalian TFF peptides were originally detected as secretory products of the gut. Expression of the TFF in the gastro-intestinal tract is abundant and is second, in weight of protein, after the mucins. The trefoil peptides reside on a 50 kb section of the human chromosome 21q23 and on the murine chromosome 17 and likely share 5' regulatory sequences which suggests a common or connected regulation [249,250].

Under normal conditions, TFF1 and TFF2 show complementary cellular localization in the stomach: TFF1 is mostly restricted to the gastric pits and TFF2 to the mucous neck cells of the gastric gland. TFF3 has a quite different localization pattern being minimally expressed in the stomach, but massively produced by goblet cells throughout the intestine [251] where its local concentration on the gastro-intestinal surface is estimated at 1-5 mg/ml [252]. Nowadays a number of other human mucous epithelia have been identified as TFF secreting organs e.g. the conjunctiva, the salivary glands, the respiratory tract and the uterus [253-256]. Some reports also mention the expression of TFF peptides at less expected places than the mucosa-associated expression sites. First of all expression of the TFF has been shown in the brain [257,258], with again a differential localization for the different trefoil peptides. Furthermore, both TFF2 and monomeric TFF3 are expressed in rat lymphoid tissue [259]. The expression levels are much lower than in the stomach and intestine.

Next to the homeostatic expression, inflammation induces rapid and sustained, TFF expression with loss of the tight control over regional specificity [260]. Aberrant expression of TFF peptides was observed during various chronic inflammatory diseases; for example in ileal CD, in colon mucosa of patients with UC, in gastric glands during gastric ulcer disease and in various types of metaplasia [254,261-263]. The discovery that all three TFF peptides are typically secreted by a specific gland-like structure termed the ulcer-associated cell line was certainly a major hallmark [254,264,265]. This mucin-secreting glandular structure appears during a variety of chronic inflammatory conditions. It develops from stem cells, most commonly in the small intestine and is thought to represent a natural repair kit, which is activated after mucosal damage [265].

The differential expression pattern in health and inflammation can be explained by an epigenetic mechanism, DNA methylation of the TFF promoters. In tissues where the respective TFF is normally expressed, the CCGG sites in its promoter are not methylated. In other mucosal tissues, where expression might be induced upon damage or inflammation, the CCGG sites are partially demethylated. In contrast, in organs that do not express the TFF, the promoters of the three genes are methylated [250].

Current knowledge of basal activities largely derives from TFF3 promoter studies in transgenic animals. It has been found that high specific basal transcription of murine TFF3 is provided by 6.35 kb of the promoter and that goblet-cell specific transcription is partly conferred through a nine base pair 'goblet cell responsive element' present in the proximal promoter [266,267]. Adjacent positive and negative elements also contribute to this selective transcription [268]. Another element designated 'goblet-cell silencer inhibitor', located further upstream of the transcriptional start site, enables human and murine goblet cell-like cell lines to override the silencing effect of more proximal elements. Goblet cells but not non-goblet cells possess a nuclear protein that binds to the 'goblet-cell silencer inhibitor' regulatory element.

Analysis of human and murine TFF genes has also led to the identification of consensus binding sequences of known transcription factors: HNF-3, a member of the forkhead or winged helix transcription factors, is activated during the acute-phase response after injury. The consensus HNF-3' binding motif lies within 100 base pairs of the transcriptional start site of all three human and murine TFF genes [250,269]. The GATA transcription factors are zinc finger proteins and constitute a family of six related members. Consensus binding sites for GATA transcription factors are present in TFF promoters and indeed GATA 6 expression resulted in activation of TFF1 and

TFF2, but not TFF3 [270]. Furthermore, the promoters of the three trefoil genes contain binding sites for the helix-loop-helix leucine zipper USF, in a region known as the E-box [270]. USF proteins are associated with growth inhibition, as are certain TFF peptides, suggesting that activation of USF by certain endogenous stimuli may contribute to inhibition of cell proliferation.

Furthermore, it has been shown that low concentrations of trefoils can stimulate their own release as well as that of the other family members by binding cis-regulatory elements of their respective promoters. This cross-induction is dependent on the ERKs/MAPKs 1 and 2 and requires epidermal growth factor (EGF) receptor phosphorylation [271].

Considering their up-regulation during inflammation, it is not surprising that TFF peptides can be regulated by pro-inflammatory cytokines. Both IL-1 β and IL-6 are important regulators of trefoil gene expression. Dossinger *et al.* showed that these cytokines repress TFF promoter activity and gene expression synergistically via inhibition of NF- κ B and C/EBP β factors, respectively [272]. Like IL-1 β and IL-6, TNF also negatively regulates TFF3 gene expression in a NF- κ B dependent fashion [273]. On the other hand, *in vivo* data, using mice with a defective IL-6/IL-11 signaling receptor gp130, have demonstrated that TFF1 gene expression is positively regulated by IL-6 via SHP2/ERK/AP-1 activation [274]. Furthermore, IL-6 signaling via STAT3 strongly induces TFF3 [274]. These apparently conflicting data may simply reflect the complexity and timing of initiation of IL-6, IL-1 β and TNF signaling cascades.

A role for the anti-inflammatory Th2 cytokines, IL-4 and IL-13, in TFF2 induction has first been shown in the lung. TFF2 is regulated by these cytokines in a STAT6 dependent fashion during the acute phase and by IL-4 in a STAT6 independent fashion during the chronic phase of experimental asthma [275]. In the gut, the goblet cells are an important target for these Th2 cytokines. Furthermore, the induction of both TFF3 and mucin 2 by IL-4 and IL-13 in a STAT6 dependent fashion was shown in colon cancer cell lines [276]. The TFF3 gene has a STAT6 binding site, which suggests direct regulation by IL-4 and IL-13 [276].

3.2.2 TFF structure

The trefoil factor family peptides all possess a characteristic three-loop structure (the trefoil domain). This trefoil domain is defined as a sequence of 38 or 39 amino acid residues wherein three disulfide linkages occur between 6 paired cysteine residues

to form the three loops. This structure is essential for the protease resistance of the TFF in the gut milieu [277].

In vivo, the predominant form of each TFF comprises two trefoil domains that are formed either through inter-chain disulfide bonding through a seventh cysteine residue, as occurs in TFF1 and TFF3, or by genomic duplication of the trefoil domain, as in TFF2. Recombinant TFF1 and TFF3 can thus be produced both as monomers or disulphide-linked dimers, whereas TFF2 consist of two trefoil domains in its monomeric form. Dimerization of TFF1 and TFF3 is necessary for some but probably not all TFF functions.

3.2.3 TFF receptor and signaling

Despite numerous reports on the signaling cascades triggered by the TFF, convincing evidence for a TFF-receptor or binding partner, unambiguously shown to take part in any of the known TFF functions, is still lacking. TFF3 has been shown to elicit a luminal chloride secretory event in vitro only when applied to the basolateral site of epithelial monolayers [278]. In vivo it has been demonstrated that intravenously infused radioactive labeled TFF2 binds to mucus producing cells of the rat stomach, a binding that could be displaced by unlabeled TFF2 in a dose-dependent matter [279]. Furthermore transcriptional regulation [280], cell motility [281,282] and other effects are all rapid events following TFF stimulation. These and many other reports strongly suggest that cellular responses to TFF peptides are likely mediated by a receptor-ligand interaction. Because TFF peptides are able to phosphorylate the EGF-receptor, it was considered that they are an alternative ligand for this receptor. However, no TFF-binding to the EGF-receptor could be demonstrated until now. Several TFF-binding proteins have been described, including the small-intestinal CRP-ductin (muclin), which binds TFF2 and the gastric proteins TFIZ1 (TFF1-binding) and blottin (TFF2-binding). But binding to these proteins does not lead to activation of signal transduction pathways or downstream target activation. Therefore, they cannot be considered as TFF-receptors.

Multiple signaling pathways appear to be linked to the biological actions of the TFF including the PI3K/Akt pathway, the Rho-ROCK cascade, COX-2/TXA2-R/G α q signaling, PLC/PKC, MAPK and EGF-receptor signaling [283]. Nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy revealed that human trefoils have significant structural and electrostatic differences, which suggests that each trefoil peptide has a specific target or group of target molecules [284]. This finding is consistent with other data that suggest different functions for the structurally similar TFF peptides.

3.2.4 TFF functions

Although the integrity of the mucosa is dependent on the presence of a monolayer of epithelial cells joined by tight junctions, it is the mucus layer on the apical surface of this population that occupies the real interface between lumen and mucosa. This mucus layer is a viscous elastic coat, formed mainly by the large molecular weight mucin glycoproteins that are secreted by intestinal goblet cells or mucous cells in the stomach. TFF peptides are co-secreted with mucins and are intimate constituents of mucus gels. It is therefore widely accepted that the TFF plays a key role in maintenance of the surface integrity of mucosal epithelia.

There is some evidence to suggest that TFF peptides are involved in mucus polymerization. Some mucin regions are only sparsely glycosylated and these domains are shown to be responsible for oligomer formation and possibly for trefoil binding [285]. TFF peptide interaction with mucin probably influences the viscosity of the mucus. As each of the mucous epithelia secretes its own characteristic mucin/TFF combination, this could be a physiological mechanism to provide the optimal viscosity of the biopolymer on a specific epithelium. Furthermore, it has been suggested that the interaction between TFF2 and mucins inhibits, both *in vitro* and *in vivo*, proton permeation through the mucus layer [286] and a change in viscosity was observed when TFF2 was added to stomach mucin [287]. Another report shows enhanced protection of human T84 colon cancer cell monolayers from several insults when incubated with TFF3 or TFF2 in combination with human colonic mucin, compared to TFF3 or TFF2 alone [252].

The functional integrity of the gastro-intestinal mucosa is maintained through the constant renewal of the epithelium. In addition, the epithelium is constantly exposed to a wide spectrum of potentially injurious factors (pathogenic bacteria and their products, toxic dietary factors, etc.), which can induce mucosal damage. One of the first steps in mucosal wound healing is a shift in cell shape towards a specialized migratory phenotype, whereby cell-cell contacts are reduced, the cytoskeleton reorganizes and cells acquire a flattened appearance (cell spreading). The next key step is migration of the cells in order to cover the denuded basal lamina. In a final step, the monolayer of flattened cells re-establishes tight junction structure and cell polarity and thus barrier function is restored. This initial phase, which does not require cell proliferation is termed restitution and appears sufficient to reseal superficial injuries *in vivo*. Fast repair is required to restore epithelial continuity, limit fluid and electrolyte loss and prevent mucosal inflammation. When mucosal damage

extends deeper and requires regeneration, additional repair steps including angiogenesis and proliferation will take place within days. The final, often overlooked, stage is remodeling which can take months and is necessary to regain a normal-looking mucosa.

In contrast to other epithelial growth factors, TFF expression is rapidly up-regulated in response to mucosal injury [280,288]. All three TFF peptides have been shown in a variety of *in vitro* models to be involved in the different steps of restitution and regeneration particularly by modulating cell-cell contacts, cell migration, apoptosis and angiogenesis although the understanding of mechanisms through which the TFF peptides promote restitution is still incomplete. Consistent with all this, colonic restitution is absent in TFF3-null mice, resulting in lethality of even minor colonic injury [289]. Indeed, of the many proteins that have been described to augment and induce restitution, TFF3 is the only factor that has been shown to be essential [289].

Cell-cell adherens junctions are established and maintained by the adhesion molecule E-cadherin. The intracellular domain of E-cadherin binds directly to β -catenin and through association with α -catenin, linkage with the cytoskeleton occurs. TFF3 has been shown to induce phosphorylation of β -catenin [290], thereby disrupting adherens junctions. Furthermore, TFF3 also reduces E-cadherin, α - and β -catenin levels, leading to increased motility [291]. One report described Van Gogh like protein 1 (Vangl1) as a downstream factor required for TFF3-induced migratory response in intestinal epithelial cell lines (IEC) [292]. In these IEC, Vangl1 protein normally co-localizes with E-cadherin at the cell membrane and this association decreases by increased Vangl1 phosphorylation after TFF3 stimulation.

In contrast to other motogens, TFF2 and TFF3 are non-mitogenic when added to a variety of IEC [282]. However, in an *in vitro* wounding model, the addition of TFF2 or TFF3 resulted in a three- to six-fold increase in the rate of epithelial migration in the wound. Furthermore, the actions of TFF peptides as motogenic factors have been shown to be synergistic with EGF [281] and, in contrast to cytokine and growth factor mediated migration, independent of TGF β [282]. TFF2 and 3 also rapidly activate intracellular signal transduction pathways and motogenic activity has been shown to depend on ERK 1 and ERK 2 activation [293,294]. The exact mechanisms downstream of ERK activation involved in migration still have to be elucidated.

As detachment of cells from cell-cell and cell-substratum contacts normally results in apoptosis (anoikis), there must be a mechanism that protects cells from dying during migration. Numerous studies on the anti-apoptotic effect of TFF peptides are in

agreement with their motogenic function during restitution [293,295-299]. TFF1 was found to protect cells from anoikis, chemical- or Bad-induced apoptosis by partially or completely blocking caspase-3, -6, -8 and -9 activities [295]. TFF2 reduces apoptosis induced by serum starvation and anoikis in the breast cancer cell line MCF-7 The anti-apoptotic effect of TFF3 has been reported to require intact TFF3 dimer, EGF-receptor activation and the PI3K pathway [293,299]. Another group described inhibition of anoikis by TFF3 via a PI3K/Akt/NF-κB pathway [297].

Restitution *in vivo* is dependent upon continuous mucosal blood flow and angiogenesis is a typical process observed when mucosal damage extends deeper than the superficial epithelium. Consequently, the pro-angiogenic activity of the TFF [300] perfectly supports restitution, particularly during the later stages of remodeling. Whereas all three TFF peptides act as pro-angiogenic factors through COX-2 and EGF-receptor dependent pathways, expression of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) could also be induced by TFF3 via Src and activation of STAT3. Furthermore TFF3 is involved in NO formation through iNOS. NO is an endothelial growth factor important in inflammation and tumor vascularization [301].

3.2.5 TFF modulating the immune system

Trefoils are strongly induced after epithelial damage and facilitate repair processes by stimulating cell migration, inhibiting apoptosis and reducing antigen access to the healing epithelium by augmenting the barrier function of the mucus, as explained in the previous section. Since they are regulated by both pro-inflammatory and anti-inflammatory cytokine expression (see 3.2.1), an additional role for these peptides in regulation of immune responses can be postulated.

Both TFF2 and the monomeric form of TFF3 are found to be expressed in rat spleen and thymus and, to a lesser extend, in lymph nodes and bone marrow [259]. The expression levels are much lower than in the stomach and intestine, but LPS treatment could transiently induce higher TFF levels in the spleen. TFF1 mRNA was also detected in mouse spleen [302,303] and thymus [303]. At present, the function of trefoil peptides in lymphoid organs has not been fully elucidated. Since Cook *et al* co-localized TFF in spleen to cells with a plasma-like phenotype, they hypothesized that trefoils interact with immunoglobulins that are, like mucins, variably glycosylated. However, this interaction could not be confirmed [259]. A more recent study in TFF2^{-/-} mice demonstrates that TFF2 deficiency is associated with increased cytokine secretion by macrophages and enhanced proliferative responses of splenic T cells in response to IL-1β [303]. Migration of various leukocyte subpopulations from the bloodstream into inflamed tissues or recirculation into lymphoid tissues is controlled by adhesion receptors and chemo-attractants, which direct them to the site of injury. The cell adhesion molecules and integrins are among the first adhesion molecules acting in this process. They aid in the docking of leukocytes to endothelial surfaces and participate in leukocyte rolling. GlyCAM-1, VCAM-1 and MAdCAM-1 are glycoproteins that may be classified as mucins on the base of their O-glycosylation pattern and prolineserine- and threonine-rich domains [304]. Whether or not the trefoils interact with these mucin-like glycoproteins to facilitate leukocyte adhesion and migration remains to be elucidated. However their induction by LPS in immune organs and the finding that both recombinant human TFF2 and TFF3 stimulate human monocyte migration at concentrations similar to those found in gastro-intestinal secretions [259], suggest a potential role for the trefoil peptides in the immunological response to tissue injury by regulating leukocyte recruitment. On the other hand, TFF treatment reduced the expression of the cell adhesion molecule VCAM-1 in colonic endothelium in an in vivo model of colitis [305]. Reduced VCAM-1 expression could thus lead to reduced infiltration of inflammatory cells at the site of infection, which would ameliorate inflammation.

Another important regulator of gut inflammatory responses is NO. Acute production of NO via the constitutively active nitric oxide synthase (cNOS) has beneficial effects on the mucosa by increasing gut blood flow and releasing local repair mediators [306,307]. Conversely, chronic production of NO, driven by iNOS and produced by infiltrating macrophages and neutrophils [307], leads to the production of reactive nitrogen species, including peroxynitrite and NO₂ [308]. These free radical species are highly damaging and induce further inflammation, leading to ongoing tissue injury [309]. Giraud *et al.* reported that the increased TFF2 concentrations induced in epithelial damage and inflammation might limit tissue damage in part by inhibiting this chronic NO production. *In vitro*, TFF2 indeed reduced LPS-induced NO and iNOS expression in monocytes [310]. This was verified *in vivo* in a model for experimental colitis, where TFF2-treated rats show less nitrated protein levels and a significantly reduced infiltration compared to control-treated mice. Thus, TFF2 can reduce inflammation by inhibiting inducible NO production, thereby likely down-regulating reactive nitrogen species and downstream pro-inflammatory targets.

TFF2 deficient mice show a mild phenotype but are more susceptible to nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug-induced colitis [311]. More evidence for an immunoregulatory role of TFF2 came from recent microarray analysis studies with these knockout mice
[312]. Out of 12,000 analyzed genes, 128 genes had significantly modulated expression when compared to wild-type mice, and the majority was implicated in immune regulation. The most prominent up-regulated genes belong to the cryptdin family (mouse orthologues of the human α-defensins), which have been shown to play a crucial role in innate immunity [313]. In addition to these antimicrobial peptides, another Paneth cell product was found to be up-regulated namely CRIP, which has a significant role in the regulation of cytokine balance and the immune response [314]. The other group of immune response-relevant genes whose expression was altered in the setting of TFF2 deficiency includes genes involved in MHC I presentation such as the immunoproteasomal subunit genes LMP2 and LMP7, BAG2, a member of the BAG family regulating chaperone activity, and the TAP1 transporter of peptides. Furthermore Cathepsin C, important for MHC II presentation was also up-regulated in intestine of TFF2^{-/-} mice. In summary, TFF2 deficiency causes specific modulations of immune system relevant genes, demonstrating an indirect interplay of TFF2 with the immune response.

Indirect evidence for TFF3 in regulating immune responses also exists. First, TFF3 can induce the expression of decay accelerating factor in IEC [315]. This protein blocks complement activation and has also been described as a negative regulator of T cell immunity [316]. Also in IEC, it has been shown that TFF3 not only induces activation of NF- κ B but also expression of TWIST, a negative regulator of NF- κ B activity. Consequently, up-regulation in TFF3-treated IEC is only transient and probably results in an anti-inflammatory response since this NF- κ B activation is not associated with IL-8 induction [317]. Furthermore TFF3 can induce COX-2, a key enzyme for the biosynthesis of prostaglandins both in vitro, in IEC, and in vivo in a mouse model of acute DSS-induced colitis [297,318,319]. COX-2 is normally expressed at a low or even undetectable level in unstimulated cells or tissues but is rapidly induced by cytokines, mitogens and other inflammatory stimuli. Moreover, the cytoprotective PGE₂ and PGI₂ are synthesized by COX-2 in the gastro-intestinal tract after inflammation. In IEC the TFF3 dependent up-regulation of COX-2 also leads to PGE_2 and PGI_2 production. The effects of these prostaglandins are pleiotropic. Next to the role of PGE₂ in the promotion of epithelial cell restitution and maintenance of the intestinal barrier function in the gastro-intestinal tract [320,321], the anti-inflammatory effects of this molecule on DCs have been extensively documented [322-325]. Furthermore PGE₂ is also able to inhibit NF- κ B in macrophages thereby preventing iNOS protein expression [326]. All these data strongly suggest at least an indirect role for TFF3 in immune regulation.

55

4 *L. LACTIS* AS A DELIVERY TOOL IN THE GASTRO-INTESTINAL TRACT

Lactococcus lactis is a member of the Lactic Acid Bacteria (LAB), a taxonomically diverse group of gram-positive bacteria that share the property of converting fermentable carbohydrates primarily to lactic acid, thus acidifying the growth medium. Members of the LAB group are best known for their use in food industry, mainly for the preparation of fermented food and feed products such as preparation of dairy products and meat. One intrinsic advantage of food-grade LAB therefore lies in the knowledge that they have never been associated with any pathogenic effects. Even when given overt opportunity, as would be the case following LAB consumption during an ongoing intestinal disease, food-grade LAB display no health risk. Therefore, several LAB species have been granted a "Generally Regarded As Safe" (GRAS) status by the US Food and Drug Administration.

Many LAB species are members of the resident microflora of the gastro-intestinal tract of vertebrates. Over the past decades interest in the study of LAB has dramatically increased due to their application as so called "probiotics", i.e. strains with particular health benefits to the host, next to their nutritional value [153]. The fact that selected probiotic strains, which may or may not be natural residents of the human gastro-intestinal tract, can influence the intestinal physiology through modulation of the endogenous flora or the immune system (see also 1.5.3) is presently well recognized. In particular members of the genera *Lactobacillus* and *Bifidobacterium* (this genus does not belong to the LAB group) have received much attention and their beneficial effect in reducing tissue damage in patients with IBD or in animal models for this disease is well documented [154-156].

L. lactis is a non-colonizing, non-invasive species that was originally isolated from cow's udder. The species has been used in industry for many years in particular in the production of cheeses. Although some commercial formulations claim health-promoting properties, *L. lactis* is not generally considered a true probiotic strain. Mainly because it was the first LAB species to be characterized in great detail at the molecular and genetic level, *L. lactis* has enjoyed an increasing interest as a production host for heterologous proteins and in a later stage as *in situ* delivery vehicle of biologically active molecules.

4.1 Production and secretion of heterologous proteins

Many efforts have been made to better understand the molecular basis of LAB's technological properties and to obtain better control of industrial processes involving LAB. This knowledge has led to the investigation of their potential use for new applications, such as the production of heterologous proteins in bioreactors, in fermented food products or directly in the digestive tract of humans and other animals. *L. lactis*, as a model organism, can nowadays be genetically engineered quite efficiently. Many elaborate and highly effective genetic tools, i.e. well-characterized plasmids as well as an efficient transformation procedure, have become available over the last 15 years [327-329]. Moreover, the genomes of *L. lactis* ssp. *lactis* strains IL1403 and MG1363 are entirely sequenced [330,331]. Many expression- and targeting-systems have also been designed for *L. lactis* [322,333], allowing the intra- or extra-cellular production of a great variety of proteins of viral, bacterial or eukaryotic origins, and with molecular mass ranging from 9.8 kDa to 165 kDa (for review see [334]).

To produce a protein of interest in fermentors, secretion is generally preferred to cytoplasmic production because it allows continuous culture and simplifies purification. *L. lactis* has some characteristics that make it a very good candidate for heterologous protein secretion. First, relatively few homologous proteins are secreted by this bacterium, Usp45 (an <u>unknown secreted protein of 45 kDa</u>) being the most prominent one [335]. Second, laboratory strains do not produce any extracellular proteases and thus the secreted proteins are not prone to extracellular degradation, as would be the case in the natural industrial strains [336,337].

In general, the homologous Usp45 signal peptide has been most successfully used for high-level secretion of a variety of heterologous proteins. In a search for other homologous secretion signals a panel of signal peptides was evaluated for heterologous secretion, but none was found to be superior to the Usp45 signal peptide [338,339]. Notwithstanding this general observations, Lindholm *et al.* used a *Lactobacillus brevis* signal peptide for secretion of the *E. coli* FedF fimbrial adhesin by *L. lactis* and found it to be more efficient than the Usp45 secretion signal [340].

Not unexpectedly and in line with the observations in other bacterial species, high secretion efficiency most likely requires that (i) the composite precursor polypeptide assumes a configuration that allows efficient cleavage by the lactococcal signal peptidase, and (ii) the mature part of the heterologous protein is properly escorted by the secretion machinery. It is, therefore, not surprising that some heterologous

proteins are poorly, if at all, secreted [339,341]. Notably, charges at the N-terminal part of the mature moiety may greatly affect the translocation efficiency across the cytoplasmic membrane [342]. Le Loir and co-workers were first to show that the introduction of negative charges, trough the insertion of a nine-residue synthetic peptide in between the ultimate amino acid residue of the signal peptide and the first residue of the mature heterologous polypeptide, improved secretion efficiency and production yields of several heterologous proteins in *L. lactis* [343], an observation that was later confirmed by other workers for different proteins [344].

Our department was the first to obtain efficient synthesis and secretion of eukaryotic proteins in *L. lactis*. We used the Usp45 signal peptide to secrete bioactive cytokines, such as murine and human interleukins IL-2, IL-6 and IL-10, in quantities ranging from 50 µg (mIL-2) to 100 µg (mIL-6, mIL-10) per liter of culture [198,345-347]. The continuous secretion of these bioactive cytokines did not affect the growth rate of *L. lactis*. Cytokines in general display fairly simple structures. Their biological activity does not depend on complex glycosylation or other secondary modifications and in most cases, binding and activation of their receptors is straightforward. However, many of them critically depend on the correct formation of disulfide bridges in order to be biologically active. That lactococci are capable of correct disulfide bridge formation in the processing of heterologous proteins was proven by *in vitro* and *in vivo* bioactivity of recombinant mIL-2, mIL-6, mIL-10 and TFF peptides [198,318,346].

4.2 Local delivery of heterologous proteins

There exists a vast body of literature (over 2000 published papers) on the use of live bacteria, recombinant or not, as tools for vaccination via a non-parenteral route (recently reviewed in [348]). By far the most extensively explored are attenuated strains of pathogenic species belonging to the genera, *Salmonella, Shigella, Yersinia* and *Listeria*. Today, live vaccines based on attenuated *S. typhi* and *Vibrio cholerae* are available [349]. The development of bacterial vaccine vehicles carrying a heterologous gene is more problematic and none has yet reached the market.

Because of their GRAS status LAB are attractive for use as vaccine vehicles. However, LAB are non-invasive and the vaccine delivery to APCs may be less effective. Still, antigen specific immune responses have been obtained with several LAB (for reviews see [350,351]). Wells and co-workers were first to show that oral as well as intranasal inoculation with GM *L. lactis* that had accumulated intracellular tetanus toxin fragment C (TTFC) led to the induction of high IgG serum titers and could protect mice against a lethal challenge with tetanus toxin [352-354]. A similar antibody titer was induced using dead or alive *Lactococcus* suggesting that *in situ* antigen synthesis is not essential [353]. In a recent study the efficacy of *L. lactis* as a vehicle for intestinal delivery of antigens for the induction of antigen specific peripheral tolerance was evaluated [355]. Therefore, OVA-immunized DO11.10 mice, which bear transgenic OVA-specific CD4⁺ TCR, were fed with OVA-secreting *L. lactis*. The results suggest that this GM *L. lactis* strain induces OVA-specific tolerance through the induction of CD4⁺CD25⁻ Treg cells that exert their function in a TGFβ specific manner.

The first indication for the importance of active *in situ* delivery of a bioactive substance was obtained in a study, in which it was shown that intranasal administration of *L. lactis* that had accumulated intracellular TTFC and secreted either mIL-2 or mIL-6 produced significantly higher antibody titers than did the parental strain expressing TTFC alone [346]. The boosting effect was completely lost when the bacteria were killed prior to immunization, indicating that *in situ* secretion of the cytokines by viable bacteria is essential.

4.2.1 Intestinal IL-10 delivery by genetically modified L. lactis

As discussed before, IBD most likely occurs as a consequence of the breakdown of immune tolerance towards the intestinal microflora. IL-10 is a powerful anti-inflammatory cytokine and is a central factor in induction and maintenance of immune tolerance (see 3.1). Furthermore, the pivotal role played by IL-10 within the mucosal immune system is demonstrated by the chronic ileocolitis that develops in gene-targeted IL-10 knock-out mice [356]. This makes IL-10 a very attractive therapeutic for intestinal inflammation, which was confirmed in animal models of colitis [357-359]. The clinical results after systemic administration of recombinant IL-10 to IBD patients were however mostly disappointing with moderate side effects [196,360] and injection of high doses even lead to the systemic induction of pro-inflammatory IFN γ [197]. Therapeutic targeting at the site of inflammation, e.g. the intestine, could solve this problem but oral administration of IL-10 is known.

Van Deventer and co-workers presented a novel method of IL-10 delivery to intestinal mucosal tissue by the use of *ex vivo* transduced CD4⁺ T cells [361,362]. In these studies, the authors demonstrated that both human and mouse T lymphocytes could be engineered by retroviral transduction to express high levels of biologically

active IL-10 upon activation. In the classic CD45RB^{high} model, these IL-10 transduced $CD4^+$ cells successfully prevented the development of colitis without interfering with systemic immune activation. Furthermore, the development of immune-suppressive Treg cells in the area of inflammation may be induced. This approach can thus be considered as a clinically viable approach to the treatment of CD.

Another alternative that requires fewer techniques and allows for oral treatment is the use of an *L. lactis* strain, constructed to secrete IL-10 [198]. The therapeutic effect of *L. lactis*-mediated delivery of IL-10 on inflammation of the colon was first evaluated in two murine models for IBD, (i) a model in which colitis is induced by chemical treatment, namely DSS and (ii) IL-10^{-/-} mice in which colitis develops spontaneously [356]. Daily intragastric administration of these bacteria efficiently cured chronic DSS-induced colitis in mice (Figure 11A). The observed healing was comparable to systemic treatment with prominent anti-inflammatory drugs such as dexamethasone and anti-IL-12. When given systemically, recombinant IL-10 also decreases inflammation to the same level as IL-10 producing *L. lactis* but the amount of IL-10 required to achieve this effect is a 1,000-fold higher. This indicates that greatly improved IL-10 delivery has been achieved by using GM *L. lactis*. Daily treatment with IL-10 producing *L. lactis* also prevented spontaneous enterocolitis in IL-10^{-/-} mice (Figure 11B). More recently the *L. lactis* IL-10 treatment was also validated in trinitrobenzene sulphonate (TNBS)-induced colitis [363].

Killing the IL-10 producing bacteria by UV-irradiation prior to inoculation abrogated their curative effects [356]. This shows that *in situ* production of IL-10 is an essential feature of the mechanism of action. Because of the localized production and since no IL-10 could be found in the systemic circulation one can speculate that side effects associated with systemic administration of IL-10 can be reduced or even avoided.



Figure 11 Treatment of murine colitis by L. lactis secreting IL-10 (LL-mIL10). Bars represent the mean \pm SEM. **P* < 0.025; ***P* = 0.0151. (A) Histological scores (sum of epithelial damage and lymphoid infiltrate, both ranging from 0 to 4) for the distal colon of groups (n = 10) of control female Balb/c mice (white bar) and of female Balb/c mice with DSS-induced colitis that were untreated (hatched bar), treated with the indicated L. lactis cultures (black bars), or treated with five daily intraperitoneal injections of the compounds indicated (gray bars) (mIL-10: 5 mg per mouse per day; anti-IL-12: 1 mg per mouse per day; dexamethasone: 5 mg per mouse per day; rat IgG: 5 mg per mouse per day). Mice treated daily for 2 or 4 weeks (wk) with 2×10^7 mIL-10 producing *LL-mIL10* showed significantly reduced inflammation when compared with untreated or control-treated (LL or LL-TREX1) mice. This effect was not observed when LL-mIL10 cultures were UV-killed (+UV). (B) Histological scores (sum of the degrees of inflammation in the proximal, middle, and distal colon, all ranging between 0 and 4) obtained after blinded interpretation of groups (n = 5) of 7-week-old untreated (hatched bar), LL-TREX1-treated, or LL-mlL10-treated female 129 Sv/Ev IL-10^{-/-} mice (black bars). LL-mIL10-treated mice showed significantly less inflammation than untreated mice. Source: [198]

4.2.2 Intestinal delivery of TFF by genetically modified L. lactis

One of the characteristics that are similar between CD and UC is that they are relapsing diseases, characterized by silent episodes and acute active episodes. These active episodes of IBD are diagnosed as acute colitis that is mainly dominated by a prominent epithelial damage and an intense inflammation that is the result of the influx of luminal bacteria. In the case of first presentation of acute colitis in CD, the

inability to sense acute bacterial infection was shown to be a risk factor in the development of CD [167,168,364]. Therefore treatment of acute intestinal inflammation might be a means to prevent IBD, but the number of therapeutic strategies for acute colitis is rather limited.

TFF peptides, as epithelial healing factors (see 3.2), are promising tools for treatment of acute colitis that is characterized by extensive epithelial ruptures. There is strong *in vivo* evidence for protective and healing functions of various forms of mucosal injury by TFF peptides in the gastro-intestinal tract when delivered orally, subcutaneously or rectally [281,365-375]. Most studies indicate that systemic subcutaneous administration of TFF peptides reaching the basolateral site of the mucosa seems to be more effective than oral application, despite their extreme protease resistance. The main reason for this is that orally administered TFF peptides stick to the mucus and so become metabolically inert or are removed from the lumen at the caecum or small bowel [370]. Thus in the context of colitis, orally delivered TFF peptides do not reach the site of injury.

Topical and active delivery of TFF in the colon by localized synthesis from L. lactis provides an alternative approach to deliver trefoil peptides to the colonic mucosa and thus avoid the clinical disadvantages of rectal and intra-colonic administration [318]. Daily intragastric administration of the TFF-secreting strains, prior to or during disease induction, resulted in significant protection against DSS-induced acute colitis as observed by reduced mortality, reduced loss of body weight, substantial improvement of colon histology and the reduction of inflammatory infiltrate. The protective effect required *de novo* TFF synthesis by live *L. lactis*. Oral administration of high amounts of purified mTFF1 did not ameliorate acute colitis. Whereas rectal administration had some effect, it was much less effective than orally administered TFF-secreting L. lactis. Intimate basolateral contact between colon cells and L. lactis, as could occur following L. lactis transport by M cells or through ruptures in the epithelium, probably enable the TFF peptides to accumulate out of reach of complexing mucins and allow them to interact with the putative basolateral TFF receptors on enterocytes. Remarkably, L. lactis-mediated TFF treatment also ameliorated established chronic colitis in IL-10 knockout mice; a finding that broadens the potential therapeutic application of trefoil factors in IBD.

COX-2, a known target of TFF signaling [300,319], is strongly induced in the intestines of mice treated with TFF-secreting *L. lactis* (Figure 12). This finding proves that the bacteria produced TFF peptides that were biologically active *in situ* in the colon. Inhibition of COX-2 by meloxicam substantially abrogated the prophylactic

effect on acute DSS-induced colitis. This indicates that, although COX-2 is probably not the only TFF-induced factor that is involved, its up-regulation is important in prevention of colitis through *L. lactis*-mediated topical delivery of TFF [318].





4.3 Biological containment of genetically modified *L. lactis*

When applicable in man, the technology of *L. lactis*-mediated topical delivery of therapeutic proteins may open a vast spectrum of new medical applications. The use of GM organisms in medicine, however, raises legitimate concerns on dissemination of antibiotic selection markers or transfer of the genetic modifications to other micro-organisms and on survival and propagation of GM organisms in the environment. There is therefore a need for an adequate containment system.

Biological containment systems have been designed to act in an active or a passive way. The former essentially provide control through the conditional production of a toxic compound whose expression is tightly controlled by an environmentally responsive element or suppressed by an immunity factor. Many examples of such systems, particularly in *E. coli*, have been described [376-379]. Although active

containment systems provide actual killing of the host, they have important drawbacks. Firstly these systems often involve the introduction of a large amount of foreign DNA. Secondly, most of these systems are plasmid borne and therefore prone to horizontal transfer to other micro-organisms.

Passive systems overcome these shortcomings. Here, growth is dependent on complementation of an auxotrophy or other gene defect, by supplementing either the intact gene or the essential metabolite. The *lacF* gene can be used as a selection marker in $\Delta lacF \ L. \ lactis$ [380]. A *supD* gene has been used as a selectable marker for plasmid maintenance to complement suppressible pyrimidine auxotrophs [381]. Passive systems, however, have the drawback that they are often bacteriostatic rather than bactericidal.

Thymidylate synthase is an essential enzyme in the synthesis of the DNA constituents thymidine and thymine. The choice of *thyA* as a target gene combines the advantages of both passive and active containment systems. "Thymine less death" was described as early as 1954 [382] and involves activation of the SOS repair system and rapid DNA fragmentation, thereby essentially constituting an indigenous suicide system. Thymine and thymidine growth dependence is intrinsically different from other auxotrophies in that lack of the essential component is bacteriocidal rather than bacteriostatic [383]. Genetic exchange of the chromosomal thymidylate synthase gene thyA, for a gene of interest, human IL-10, thus provides a robust means for inheritable growth control of engineered L. lactis [200]. The resulting GM L. lactis strain Thy12, developed in our department, is strictly dependent on the presence of thymidine or thymine for its growth. Thy 12 provides a satisfactory solution to concerns about biosafety for several reasons. First, only the absolute minimal amount of foreign DNA - the gene of interest, i.e. hlL-10 - is present in the GM organism and no resistance marker is required to guarantee stable inheritance of the transgene. Second, accumulation of the GM organism in the environment is very unlikely, as rapid death occurs upon thymidine starvation. In addition, no acquisition of thyA from other micro-organisms could be observed [200]. Third, whenever the intact thyA is acquired by homologous recombination, the transgene would be removed. Fourth, the risk of disseminating the genetic modification through lateral gene transfer is minimized because the gene of interest is integrated in the *L. lactis* chromosome. Furthermore, a number of mechanisms for lateral gene transfer are disabled in the Thy12 parental strain L. lactis ssp. cremoris MG1363. The strain has been cured of all natural resident plasmids [384]. It lacks a host factor required for conjugative transposition and also phage replication is

severely impaired, thereby disabling phage-mediated transduction of host genetic material [385,386]. This approach thus provides a simple and robust system for biological containment.

Based on the above-described characteristics of *L. lactis* Thy12, the Medical Ethical Commission of the Academic Medical Center and the Dutch Administration of Public Health, Environment and Nature approved a limited clinical trial with this bacterium, in Crohn's patients under physical containment. This Phase I, open label clinical trial demonstrated that treatment of humans with viable *L. lactis* secreting hIL-10 is clinically safe and biologically contained, and gave indications of its clinical efficacy. In total 10 patients with moderate to severe CD were included in the study and a clinical benefit was observed in 8 of them: five patients went into complete clinical remission and three patients showed a clinical response [199].

AIM OF THE PROJECT

Aim of the project

DCs are bone-marrow derived professional antigen-presenting cells with immuno-regulatory functions. In the past years, it has become clear that DCs are likely to play a central role in the mucosal immune response to intestinal flora [139,140,144,152,387]. DCs are present in the intestine in the GALT and the lamina propria and lie in close proximity to the large and dynamic antigenic load in the gut lumen. Antigenic material may interact directly with DCs in underlying tissues. IBD is caused by a loss of tolerance against the normal enteric flora, due to a dysregulated mucosal immune response and/or a defective mucosal barrier function [164,388]. This has elicited a closer examination of the role of the DC as a central mediator in IBD and recent studies suggest a role for activation of intestinal DCs in the initiation and continuation of IBD [175-178]. Interrupting the activation of DCs *in vivo* may be a key to controlling the disease.

The potential of genetically engineered *L. lactis* for specific therapeutic applications through *in situ* delivery of immunomodulatory proteins at the intestinal mucosa has previously been described [198,318,346]. In this study we focus on *L. lactis*-delivered mIL-10 or mTFF3. Both strains have healing effects in mouse models for chronic and/or acute colitis but immunological processes of the *L. lactis*-delivered proteins mIL-10 and mTFF3 that regulate the therapeutic effects are only partially understood [198,318,363]. We suggest that intestinal DCs are attractive targets for the recombinant proteins delivered by the orally administered *L. lactis* bacteria.

We used an *in vitro* model to study modulation of DC function. For this, murine bone marrow cells were isolated and cultured with IL-4 and GM-CSF to generate DCs [389,390]. In some respects, DCs generated *in vitro* do not show the same behavior or capability as DCs isolated *ex vivo*. Nonetheless, they are often used for research, as they are still much more readily available than genuine DCs that constitute a heterogenous population, sparsely distributed throughout the body.

The TFF peptides are mainly known for their epithelial repair function [289,366,367]. Their possible immune-modulating properties were investigated only recently [259,303,391]. In a first part of our study, we therefore explored the effect of recombinant mTFF3 on DCs. We aimed to investigate whether mTFF3 could directly regulate DC function by determining its effect on LPS-induced maturation of bone marrow-derived DCs (BM-DCs). For this, immature BM-DCs pretreated with recombinant mTFF3 were stimulated with LPS and compared to non-treated LPS-stimulated BM-DCs. We studied phenotype, cytokine secretion pattern and

T cell-stimulating capacity of the BM-DCs. Because mTFF3 is strongly expressed in the intestinal tract, we also investigated whether mTFF3 preferentially regulates mucosal DC function. Mucosal DCs from PP and MLN were compared to peripheral DCs isolated from spleen.

The anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10 is a well-known immune-modulator with inhibitory effects on maturation and cytokine production of immature DCs [210]. Furthermore, treatment of immature DCs with IL-10 leads to the induction of regulatory T cells, T cell tolerance or antigen specific T cell anergy [123-125,127]. In the second part of this work, we wanted to investigate the effect of *L. lactis* secreting murine IL-10 on DC function. Therefore, we determined the maturation phenotype, cytokine secretion profile and allogeneic T cell activating capacity of *in vitro* derived murine BM-DCs treated with the mIL-10 secreting *L. lactis* or treated with a *L. lactis* control strain. LPS-stimulated BM-DCs were used as control for maturation. Also, we were interested in the effect of this mIL-10 secreting strain on subsequent LPS-induced maturation of BM-DCs. Given the described effects of IL-10-treated DCs on the induction of regulatory or anergic T cells, we also aimed to study the induction of possible changes in T cell polarization by the BM-DCs treated with *L. lactis* secreting mIL-10.

PART II: EXPERIMENTS AND RESULTS

1 MURINE TREFOIL FACTOR 3 DOES NOT DIRECTLY MODULATE LPS-MEDIATED DENDRITIC CELL FUNCTION

Scand. J. Immunol. 2007 Jul;66(1):35-42

Michaela Loos^{*,+, a,b}, An De Creus^{+, a,b}, Lars Thim^c, Erik Remaut^{a,b} and Pieter Rottiers^{a,b}

⁺Equal contribution

^a Department for Molecular Biomedical Research, VIB, B-9052 Ghent, Belgium

^b Department of Molecular Biology, Ghent University, B-9052 Ghent, Belgium

^c Novo Nordisk, Bagsvaerd, Denmark

1.1 Abstract

Peptides of the trefoil factor family (TFF) are expressed along the gastro-intestinal tract. They protect mucous epithelia from damage and contribute to mucosal repair, which is essential for preventing inflammation. Moreover, it has been suggested that TFF2 and TFF3 in particular play a role in regulating immune responses. Depending on their activation status, dendritic cells (DCs) can initiate either tolerance or immunity. This study, by comparing LPS-induced maturation of mTFF3-treated DCs and non-treated DCs, aimed to investigate whether murine TFF3 directly regulates DC function. mTFF3-treated DCs and non-treated DCs did not differ phenotypically or functionally. Both populations expressed, both before and after LPS stimulation, similar levels of co-stimulatory molecules and cytokines, and were both efficient stimulators of T cells. Our results suggest that mTFF3 does not modulate immune responses on the level of DC function.

1.2 Introduction

The trefoil factor family (TFF) encompasses three small (7-12 kDa) protease resistant proteins with a characteristic three-loop structure (the trefoil domain), formed by three conserved cysteine disulfide bonds. TFF1 and TFF3, formerly called pS2 and intestinal trefoil factor respectively, contain a single trefoil domain and occur as homodimers. TFF2, formerly called Spasmolytic Polypeptide, is a monomer containing two trefoil domains (for review, see [392]). Under normal circumstances,

TFF peptides are expressed in several tissues, but are most abundant in the gastro-intestinal tract, where they are secreted onto the mucosal surface in a tissue-specific manner [392].

The TFF plays an important protective role by promoting restitution and repair of epithelial cells [289,366,367]. In contrast to other epithelial growth factors, TFF expression is rapidly up-regulated in response to mucosal injury [280,288]. *In vivo* studies have suggested that TFF peptides play a major role in protecting the intestinal mucosa from various insults [318,373,374,393]. Mechanisms that mediate these responses are unique and only partially understood. Despite extensive studies no receptor has yet been identified [394].

Recent publications propose a role for TFF in regulating immune responses [259,391]. Both TFF2 and the monomeric form of TFF3 are expressed in rat lymphoid tissue [259]. The expression levels are much lower than in the stomach and intestine, but LPS treatment can transiently induce higher levels in the spleen. Also, both recombinant human TFF2 and TFF3 are chemotactic for human monocytes [259]. In addition, TFF2 has been shown to modulate the expression of several immunoregulatory genes, which are important for MHC I and MHC II presentation, such as cathepsin C, the immunoproteasomal subunit genes LMP2 and LMP7, and the TAP1 transporter [391]. Furthermore, in intestinal epithelial cells (IECs) TFF3 can induce the expression of decay accelerating factor, which blocks complement activation and can act as a negative regulator of T cell immunity [315,316]. In IECs it has also been shown that TFF3 not only induces activation of NF- κ B but also expression of TWIST, a negative regulator of NF-κB activity. Consequently, NF-κB up-regulation in TFF3-treated IECs is only transient and probably results in an anti-inflammatory response [317]. Finally, demonstrated we а potential immune-regulatory function of TFF, in that intestinal delivery of TFF cures Th1-mediated colitis [318].

Dendritic cells (DCs) are bone marrow-derived professional antigen-presenting cells connecting innate and adaptive immunity [395,396]. Depending on the DC subset, its activation status or environment (mucosal versus peripheral [100,397]), the interaction between DC and naive T cell will lead to T cell priming towards either immunity or tolerance. This results in the emergence of T cells carrying a Th1 or Th2 phenotype, T cell anergy or regulatory T cells (Treg cells).

Although a role for TFF in modulating immune responses has been suggested, there is no conclusive data showing that TFF has a direct role in regulating cells of the

immune system. Therefore, we investigated whether murine TFF3 (mTFF3) can directly regulate DC function by determining its effect on the maturation of bone marrow-derived DCs (BM-DCs). Because BM-DCs are likely different from *in vivo* DCs, and mTFF3 is strongly expressed in the intestinal tract, we also investigated whether mTFF3 regulates mucosal DC function. Mucosal DCs from Peyer's patches (PP) and mesenteric lymph nodes (MLN) were compared to peripheral DCs isolated from spleen. Our results suggest that mTFF3 had no direct effect on LPS-induced maturation of BM-DCs or *ex vivo* isolated mucosal and peripheral DCs. Furthermore, mTFF3 did not alter the pattern of cytokines secreted by the different DC populations, or the DC's capacity to activate naive T cells.

1.3 Materials and Methods

1.3.1 Animals

Balb/c (H2K^d) and C57BL/6 (B6; H2K^b) female mice, 6-8 weeks old were purchased from Charles River, Italy. They were housed in a specific pathogen-free animal facility and treated according to the institutional guidelines of Ghent University.

1.3.2 Media, reagents and antibodies

Complete medium is RPMI-1640 medium supplemented with 10% heat inactivated FCS, L-glutamine, nonessential amino acids, sodium pyruvate, 100 IU/mI penicillin, 100 μ g/ml streptomycin, 50 μ M β -mercaptoethanol (all from Gibco BRL/Invitrogen, Gaithersburg, MD, USA).

The gene encoding murine TFF3 [398] was inserted into a yeast expression plasmid and the dimer form of TFF3 was expressed and purified essentially as previously described for human and rat TFF3 [399]. Purified murine TFF3 is routinely being analyzed by amino acid sequence analysis and mass spectrometry. The purity was determined by analytical HPLC and quantified by amino acid analysis. These analyses prove purity and presence of the dimer.

Purified LPS (*Escherichia coli* serotype O111b4) was obtained from Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA. Recombinant murine IL-10 (mIL-10), mGM-CSF and mIL-4 were purchased from Peprotech, Rocky Hill, NJ, USA.

Monoclonal antibodies (mAbs) used for flow cytometry were hamster anti-mouse CD11c (clone HL3; FITC-conjugated), rat anti-mouse CD80 (clone 16-10A1; PE-conjugated), rat anti-mouse CD86 (clone GL1; PE-conjugated), rat anti-mouse CD40 (clone 3/23, PE-conjugated), rat anti-mouse PD-L1 (B7-H1; CD274) (clone MIH5, PE-conjugated), and rat anti-mouse IA^d (clone AMS-32.1, PE-conjugated). All mAbs were from BD Pharmingen, San Diego, CA, USA. Isotype controls used were FITC-conjugated Armenian Hamster IgG1 (anti-TNP) and PE-conjugated rat IgG2a/IgG2b κ from BD Pharmingen. Before cell-staining, non-antigen-specific binding of IgG to the mouse Fc γ receptors was blocked with a rat anti-mouse CD16/CD32 mAb (Fc block; BD Pharmingen).

1.3.3 Bioassay for mTFF3

The murine cancer cell line with rectal epithelial phenotype CMT-93 was obtained from the American Type Culture Collection. Cells were maintained in DMEM supplemented with 10% FCS, 4 mM L-glutamine, 100 IU/ml penicillin, and 100 μ g/ml streptomycin in 5% CO2 at 37°C.

CMT-93 cells were plated in 35 mm wells of a six-well culture plate and grown to confluence. Fresh medium with different concentrations of mTFF3 (0-10 µg/ml) was added to the cells. After 4 h cells were washed with PBS and total RNA was extracted from cells using the RNeasy mini kit (Qiagen, Westburg BV, The Netherlands), with on column DNase treatment (Qiagen). One μg of total RNA was converted to single stranded complementary DNA by reverse transcription (Superscript, Gibco) with oligo dT priming. Subsequently, real time PCR for COX-2 was performed using the SYBR green kit (Eurogentec, Seraing, Belgium) and 300 nM of each primer. A two-step program was run on the iCycler (Biorad Laboratories, Hercules, CA, USA). Cycling conditions were 95°C for 10 min and 40 cycles of 95°C for 15 sec and 60°C for 1 min. Melting curve analysis confirmed primer specificities. All reactions were run in triplicate and normalized to ribosomal protein L13A (RPL13A) levels. RPL13A was chosen after checking the expression stability of a set of housekeeping genes in CMT-93 cells using the Genorm software [400]. The level of the normalized COX-2 mRNA is shown relative to the control sample without mTFF3. Data are expressed as mean +SD. Primers were designed using the Beacon Designer software (PREMIER Biosoft International, Palo Alto, CA, USA). For murine COX-2 (reference sequence NM_011198) forward and reverse 5'-AACAAAAGCTTCTACAAAGGAACTAA-3' primers were and 5'-CCAGCACAAAACCAGGATCA-3' respectively. For murine RPL13A (reference NM 009438) sequence forward and reverse primers were 5'-CCTGCTGCTCTCAAGGTTGTT-3' and 5'-TGGTTGTCACTGCCTGGTACTT-3'.

76

1.3.4 Generation of bone marrow-derived DCs

A modified version of a published procedure was used to generate BM-DCs [389,390]. Briefly, bone marrow cells from femurs and tibias of Balb/c mice were depleted of red blood cells by lysis with ammonium chloride. Granulocytes, erythroid precursors, and B cells were killed by labeling with a cocktail of mAbs (anti-Gr-1, anti-TER-119/erythroid cells, and anti-CD45R/B220; all from BD Pharmingen), followed by incubation with low-toxicity rabbit complement (Cedarlane, Ontario, Canada). These cells were cultured in complete medium supplemented with 1000 U/ml mGM-CSF and 500 U/ml mIL-4. Medium was replaced on days 2 and 4. On day 6, nonadherent cells were removed, and fresh medium with cytokines was added. Two days later 60 to 90% of the new population of nonadherent cells were CD11c⁺ BM-DCs. DCs were further purified to >90% using anti-CD11c magnetic microbeads (Miltenyi Biotec, Bergisch Gladbach, Germany). Purified DCs were re-plated at 1 x 10⁶ cells/ml and pre-incubated at 37°C for 6 h with different concentrations of mTFF3 ranging from zero to 250 µg/ml or with 10 ng/ml mIL-10 (positive control) in complete medium. For maturation, 10 ng/ml LPS was added after 6 h and cells were incubated overnight at 37°C. Supernatants were collected and stored at -70°C. Cells were harvested, washed, counted and added at the appropriate concentration for subsequent analysis.

1.3.5 Preparation of ex vivo DCs

DCs were prepared from spleen, MLN and PP of 20 naive Balb/c mice. To remove epithelial cells, PP were treated for 60 min at 37°C with media containing 145 µg/ml dithiothreitol (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA), 25 mM HEPES (Sigma-Aldrich), 10% FCS (Gibco), 5 mM EDTA (Sigma-Aldrich) and 2.5 mM β -mercaptoethanol (Gibco) in HBSS (Sigma-Aldrich). Then they were washed extensively with HBSS. Spleens, PP and MLN were digested with collagenase (1 mg/ml, Sigma-Aldrich) and DNase (2 mg/ml, Boehringer Mannheim, Germany) for 45 min at 37°C and incubated in the presence of 5 mM EDTA at 37°C for 5 min. Spleen cells were depleted of red blood cells by treatment with ammonium chloride, and PP cells were purified on Lympholyte-M gradient (Cedarlane). Single cell suspensions of the three lymphoid organs were prepared and incubated with anti-mouse CD11c-coated magnetic beads (Miltenyi Biotech) and selected on MACS separation columns. After purification we obtain 10-15 x 10⁶ CD11c⁺ cells from MLN and PP of 20 naive Balb/c mice. For the spleen, only 10% of total cells were purified to obtain about 25 x 10⁶ CD11c⁺ cells. Purified DCs were then plated and treated as described above for BM-DCs.

1.3.6 Phenotypic analysis of DCs

For phenotypic analysis, DCs were double-stained with FITC-anti-CD11c and either PE-anti-CD80, -CD86, -CD40, -PD-L1 or $-IA^d$. The incidence of positive cells and mean fluorescence intensity (MFI) were determined by flow cytometry using a FACSCalibur flow cytometer (Beckton Dickinson) equipped with an argon laser (488 nm) and a helium neon laser (540 nm). The CellQuest software program (Becton Dickinson) was used for data acquisition and analysis. Propidium iodide (PI) (2 µg/mI) was added to the cells just before flow cytometry analysis. Gating was done on PI-negative cells to exclude dead cells.

1.3.7 Measuring cytokine concentrations with cytometric bead array

Supernatants were stored at –70°C. Cytokines were quantified using the Mouse Inflammation Cytometric Beads Array (CBA) kit (BD Pharmingen) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, six bead populations with distinct fluorescence intensities were coated with capture antibodies specific for IL-6, IL-10, MCP-1, IFNγ, TNF, and IL-12p70. The capture beads, sample lysates, and PE-conjugated detection reagent were incubated together to obtain sandwich complexes. The beads were washed and run through a flow cytometer. The MFI data were analyzed with Becton Dickinson CBA Analysis Software. Sample data were normalized with specific cytokine standards to quantify the proteins of interest.

1.3.8 Mixed lymphocyte reaction

C57BL/6 splenic CD4 positive T cells were purified by negative selection using magnetic bead separation (Miltenyi Biotec). They were stimulated with graded numbers of purified Balb/c DCs in round-bottomed 96-well plates (BD Falcon). Cultures were maintained at 37°C in a humidified incubator (5% CO₂). After three days, 1 μ Ci [3H]thymidine (Amersham GE Healthcare, Buckinghamshire, UK) was added. [3H]thymidine incorporation was determined after 18 h using a 96-well Topcount scintillation counter (Packard Instrument, Meriden, CT). The incorporated radioactivity is expressed as counts per minute (cpm) means ± SD.

1.3.9 Statistical analysis

SPSS was used to analyze MLR results. Statistical analysis was performed using the general linear model for repeated measurements and the Bonferroni post-hoc test. P-values < 0.05 were considered as significant.

1.4 Results

1.4.1 mTFF3 induces COX-2 mRNA expression in CMT-93 IECs

COX-2 has previously been described to mediate mTFF3 cytoprotective actions *in vitro* in IECs [319] and this was, more recently confirmed *in vivo* [318]. Biological activity of recombinant mTFF3 was confirmed by determining its ability to induce COX-2 expression in IECs. Murine CMT-93 cells were grown to confluence and treated for 4 h with different concentrations of mTFF3. COX-2 mRNA expression was quantified by real-time quantitative PCR (Figure 13). The cells that were treated with 0.1 μ g/ml mTFF3 showed a 5-fold increase in COX-2 mRNA levels relative to the medium control (0 μ g/ml mTFF3). A higher induction is reached with 1-10 μ g/ml mTFF3. These results clearly show that mTFF3 used in these experiments is biological active.



Figure 13 Induction of COX-2 mRNA expression in CMT-93 by mTFF3.

CMT-93 cells were grown to confluence and were then cultured for 4 h in the presence of 0, 0.1, 1 and 10 μ g/ml mTFF3. Shown are the fold changes in RPL13A normalized COX-2 mRNA expression levels of every condition relative to the condition without mTFF3 addition. Bars represent the mean + SD.

1.4.2 mTFF3 does not inhibit LPS-induced phenotypic maturation of DCs.

In order to investigate whether mTFF3 can modulate DC maturation, we purified *in vitro* generated CD11c⁺ BM-DCs and pretreated them for 6 h with mTFF3. They were then stimulated overnight in the presence of 10 ng/ml LPS. Because LPS-induced maturation of BM-DCs is inhibited by IL-10 [121,125,401], BM-DCs pretreated with mIL-10 were used as positive control for inhibition of maturation. BM-DCs cultured in medium were used as non-treated control cells. The phenotype of the different BM-DC groups was determined by flow cytometry. Mature DCs are known to express higher levels of MHC II, CD80, CD86 and CD40 than immature DCs. In the absence of LPS, non-treated (control) and mTFF3-treated BM-DCs expressed similar levels of co-stimulatory molecules (Figure 14A). mlL-10 treatment led only to reduced expression of MHC II. After LPS stimulation, mTFF3-treated BM-DCs up-regulated the expression of CD80, CD86, CD40 and MHC II to the levels expressed by control BM-DCs stimulated with LPS (Figure 14B). As expected, when 10 ng/ml of mlL-10 was added 6 h before LPS stimulation, the expression of CD80, CD86, CD40 and MHC II was inhibited compared to the other LPS-stimulated BM-DC groups. On the other hand, no difference in PD-L1 up-regulation after LPS stimulation was observed between non-treated, mTFF3-treated and mIL-10-treated BM-DCs (Figure 14B). These results indicate that mTFF3 treatment of BM-DCs does not alter their maturation in response to LPS. In contrast to mIL-10, mTFF3 cannot inhibit the expression of co-stimulatory molecules on BM-DCs. In addition, our data show that, unlike its effect on CD80, CD86, CD40 and MHC II, mIL-10 could not inhibit PD-L1 expression. This observation is consistent with the possibility that PD-L1 acts as a negative signal for T cell activation [126].

BM-DCs are useful for studying DCs *in vitro*, but given the complex biology of DCs *in vivo* and the postulated existence of different subsets, it is clear that *in vitro* results have to be evaluated carefully. In particular, emerging data show that mucosal DCs have unique functions that are not shared by DCs from other tissues [100,397]. Since TFF peptides are expressed mainly in the gastro-intestinal tract, it is possible that intestinal mucosal DCs are responsive to TFF whereas DCs from other origins are not. To test this hypothesis we isolated mucosal DCs from PP and MLN and compared their responses to LPS with or without mTFF3 pretreatment. As a control, we used peripheral DCs isolated from spleen. After LPS stimulation, mTFF3-treated DCs from the three different lymphoid organs up-regulated the expression of CD86, CD40, MHC II and PD-L1 to the same extent as non-treated DCs (data not shown). This result is in agreement with that obtained for BM-DCs.



Figure 14 Phenotypic analysis of BM-DCs after LPS-induced maturation.

CD11c⁺ BM-DCs (1 x 10⁶ cells/ml) were cultured for 6 h in the presence of mIL-10 (10 ng/ml) or mTFF3 (10 μ g/ml). After culturing the cells overnight without (A) or with LPS (10 ng/ml) (B), they were harvested and analyzed by flow cytometry using anti-CD11c, anti-CD80, anti-CD86, anti-CD40, anti-MHC II and anti-PD-L1 mAbs. Gating was done on CD11c⁺ cells. Bars represent MFI, the mean fluorescence intensity of the indicated mAb. Results are representative of three (A) and five (B) experiments.

1.4.3 mTFF3 does not alter LPS-induced cytokine secretion by DCs.

LPS is prone to induce a Th1 response [75], and cytokines secreted by DCs are important to determining whether the outcome of an immune reaction is Th1, Th2, or induction of Treg cells. To further evaluate the effect of mTFF3 on DCs, we determined the cytokine expression profile after LPS stimulation. As expected, LPS induced the secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines: IL-12p70, TNF, IL-6 and MCP-1, as well as of the anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10 (Figure 15). Treatment of BM-DCs with mTFF3 did not influence any of the secreted proteins (Figure 15), whereas mIL-10 strongly inhibited the LPS-induced secretion of IL-12p70 and MCP-1, but only partially of IL-6 and TNF. These results indicate that, unlike mIL-10, mTFF3 cannot modulate the amount of cytokines secreted by BM-DCs.

The intrinsic difference between peripheral and mucosal DCs in their secretion of cytokines such as IL-10 is reported to be partially responsible for the different immune responses induced by mucosal and peripheral DCs [100,397]. To evaluate whether mTFF3 can differentially modulate cytokines expressed by mucosal DCs and peripheral DCs, we compared cytokines secreted by PP-, MLN- and spleen-DCs after LPS stimulation (data not shown). No significant difference was observed for secretion of IL-12p70, IL-10, IL-6, MCP-1 or TNF in response to LPS, for both mucosal and peripheral DCs.



Figure 15 Cytokine production by BM-DCs after LPS-induced maturation. CD11c⁺ BM-DCs (1 x 10⁶ cells/ml) were cultured for 6 h in the presence of mIL-10 (10 ng/ml) or mTFF3 (10 μ g/ml). After overnight culture without or with LPS (10 ng/ml), supernatants were collected and cytokines were quantified with the Mouse Inflammation CBA kit. Results for IL-12p70, IL-10, MCP-1, TNF and IL-6 from 3 experiments are shown as

mean pg/ml + SEM.

1.4.4 mTFF3 does not alter the capacity of DCs to stimulate allogeneic

T cells.

To test whether the mature phenotype and inflammatory cytokine secretion of the BM-DCs after LPS treatment correlate with their capacity to stimulate T cells,

BM-DCs were co-cultured with allogeneic bead-purified CD4⁺ T cells. mTFF3-treated BM-DCs stimulated with LPS were as effective at activating allogeneic CD4⁺ T cells as non-treated control BM-DCs stimulated with LPS (Figure 16). Consistent with both cytokine secretion and phenotypic profile after LPS stimulation, mIL-10-treated BM-DCs stimulated with LPS were less effective in activating allogeneic CD4⁺ T cells than non-treated LPS-stimulated BM-DCs (Figure 16). Similar results were obtained when BM-DCs were pretreated with up to 250 µg/ml of mTFF3 (data not shown).



Figure 16 T cell-stimulating capacity of BM-DCs after LPS-induced maturation.

CD11c⁺ BM-DCs (1 x 10⁶ cells/ml) were cultured for 6 h in the presence of mIL-10 (10 ng/ml) or mTFF3 (10 μ g/ml). After culturing the cells overnight with LPS (10 ng/ml), they were harvested. Graded numbers of LPS-stimulated BM-DCs were co-cultured with 150,000 naive allogeneic C57/BL6 splenic T cells. After three days of culture, [3H]thymidine was added. [3H]thymidine incorporation was measured after another 18 h. LPS-stimulated DCs, both mTFF3-treated and non-treated, show a significantly more potent allo-stimulatory activity than control DCs (P<0.005). LPS-stimulated DCs (pre)treated with mIL-10 do not stimulate T cell proliferation as compared to LPS matured DCs (P<0.005). Shown are mean values <u>+</u> SD of triplicates from one experiment; data are representative for 3 experiments.

Analogous to BM-DCs, mTFF3-treated mucosal and splenic DCs stimulated with LPS were as efficient in activating allogeneic CD4⁺ T cells as non-treated control DCs stimulated with LPS (data not shown).

In conclusion, our data show that mTFF3 does not inhibit LPS-induced activation of DCs, because mTFF3 treatment does not affect the capacity of LPS-stimulated DCs to activate naive allogeneic CD4⁺T cells. The absence of a difference between mTFF3-treated and non-treated cells is in agreement with the expression levels found for CD80, CD86, CD40, MHC II and PD-L1 and the secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines. Furthermore, our experiments with *ex vivo* derived DCs confirm that regardless of whether DCs were retrieved from mucosal or peripheral sources, mTFF3 does not inhibit LPS-induced activation of DCs.

1.5 Discussion

Our results indicate that the presence of biologically active mTFF3 has no direct effect on LPS-induced maturation of *in vitro* generated BM-DCs. No difference was observed in expression of the co-stimulatory molecules CD40, CD86, CD80 and MHC II, and the negative stimulator of T cells, PD- L1 between mTFF3-treated and non-treated BM-DCs after LPS stimulation. Also for both groups we observed no difference in secretion of the pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-12p70, TNF, IL-6 and MCP-1, as well as the anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10. Furthermore, they were equally effective in stimulating naive allogeneic CD4⁺ T cells *in vitro*.

The maturation stimulus is a major factor that influences the pattern of cytokines released by DCs, and accordingly the Th balance. For stimulating DCs we used LPS, which is generally a Th1 inducing factor. As we could not determine any differences in DC profile, it is more than likely that the Th balance is not influenced by mTFF3-treatment. Furthermore, high IFN γ levels were measured during T cell proliferation when DCs, both mTFF3-treated and non-treated, were stimulated with LPS, suggesting the induction of a Th1 response (data not shown).

Although *in vitro* cultured BM-DCs are a useful tool, they may not be representative of all the different *in vivo* DC populations. As mTFF3 is secreted mainly in the small and large intestines, it may have evolved to preferentially modulate mucosal immune cells. However, our results suggest that mTFF3 does not specifically target mucosal DCs as no differences could be detected between mucosal and splenic DCs with respect to LPS-mediated maturation, cytokine secretion and capacity to stimulate T cells.

DCs determine the character of the immune response by secreting cytokines that drive the development of T cells into Th1, Th2, or T reg cells. Although Pathogen Associated Molecular Patterns that stimulate different Toll-Like Receptors induce similar changes in surface phenotype in DCs, they often induce distinct patterns of cytokines, resulting in a Th1/Th2 polarization that favors the pathogen [402]. Therefore it is plausible that mTFF3 can modulate DC functions if another maturation stimulus, such as α CD40, flagellin, zymosan or peptidoglycan, is used instead of LPS.

Alternatively, it is possible that mTFF3 showed no effect in our experimental setup due to the absence of the appropriate microenvironment or inflammatory mediators. After all, *in vivo* DC activation following infection is complex, and besides maturation stimulus and DC subset, inflammatory mediators at the site of infection also influence this process.

Since the TFF receptor is unknown [394], mTFF3 responsive cells have not been characterized. Nevertheless, as mTFF3 treatment did not alter the activation status, cytokine profile, and T cell-stimulating capacity of both *in vitro* cultured and *ex vivo* derived DC populations, we hypothesize that none of these DCs expresses the receptor for mTFF3. However, it is still possible that TFF peptides in the spleen or other lymphoid organs modulate immune functions by affecting other cells of the immune system and not through direct interaction with DCs. As suggested by Cook *et al*, plasma cells may secrete TFF peptides, which then interact with secreted immunoglobulins to modulate humoral immune responses [259].

Though we observed no direct modulation of DCs by purified recombinant mTFF3, it is possible that *in vivo* mTFF3 activates other cells to secrete molecules that can modulate DC function. Crosstalk between epithelial cells and DCs is considered to be very important to regulate intestinal mucosal immunity [152,403]. It has been shown that TFF induces COX-2 expression in epithelial cells [318,319], leading to the secretion of prostaglandin PGE₂ whose anti-inflammatory effects on DCs have been extensively documented [322-325]. In an *in vivo* model of colitis, TFF reduced VCAM-1 expression in colonic endothelium [305]. Reduced VCAM-1 expression could lead to reduced infiltration of inflammatory cells at the site of infection, which would ameliorate inflammation and affect DC stimulation. Furthermore, Giraud *et al* reported that TFF2 can reduce LPS-induced NO expression in monocytes [310], which may lead to inhibition of immune cell recruitment, thereby changing the microenvironment of DCs. As this effect on monocytes has been described only for

TFF2, it is possible that the effect of TFF2 on DCs is different from what we show for mTFF3.

In conclusion, our results demonstrate that recombinant mTFF3 does not influence LPS-induced DC maturation suggesting that mTFF3 does not affect immune responses on the level of DC functions directly. However, it remains possible that mTFF3 regulates DC maturation when other maturation stimuli or inflammatory mediators are present or that mTFF3 regulates DC function through modulation of other cells.

2 GENETICALLY ENGINEERED *LACTOCOCCUS LACTIS* SECRETING MURINE IL-10 MODULATES THE FUNCTION OF BONE MARROW-DERIVED DENDRITIC CELLS IN THE PRESENCE OF LPS

In preparation for submission to the European Journal of Immunology

Michaela Loos^{a,b}, Erik Remaut^{a,b}, Pieter Rottiers^c and An De Creus ^c

^a Department for Molecular Biomedical Research, VIB, B-9052 Ghent, Belgium

^b Department of Molecular Biology, Ghent University, B-9052 Ghent, Belgium

^c ActoGeniX NV, B-9052 Ghent, Belgium

2.1 Abstract

Oral delivery of murine IL-10 by genetically modified *Lactococcus lactis* (*LL-pTmlL10*) has been shown to efficiently reduce intestinal inflammation in mice with chronic colitis but the mechanism(s) involved have not been elucidated. It has been suggested that IL-10 controls intestinal inflammation by inhibiting microbe-induced activation of dendritic cells (DCs). We therefore investigated whether LL-pTmlL10 can modulate the functions of bone marrow-derived DCs (BM-DCs) responding to LPS. Incubation of these cells with *LL-pTmIL10* or with the control strain *LL-pTREX* reduced their ability to activate allogeneic T cell proliferation. These L. lactis-treated LPS-stimulated BM-DCs also significantly inhibited the capacity of fully matured BM-DCs to activate CD4⁺ T cells. However, in contrast to *LL-pTREX*, *LL-pTmlL10* inhibited the LPS-stimulated secretion of MCP-1 by BM-DCs and reduced the synergistic up-regulation of IL-12/IL-23p40. In addition, LL-pTmIL10 treatment of LPS-stimulated BM-DCs significantly inhibited their capacity to induce strong secretion of IL-17 by CD4⁺ T cells. Our data suggest that the beneficial effects of LL-pTmlL10 treatment during chronic colitis might involve inhibition of CD4⁺ Th17 cells and a reduced accumulation of these cells as well as other immune cells at the site of inflammation.

2.2 Introduction

The mucosal immune system of the gastro-intestinal tract is responsible for inducing tolerance to commensal bacteria and food antigens and for providing protection against pathogenic micro-organisms. Ineffective immune regulation can result in dysregulated T cell responses to intestinal microflora and break-down of tolerance. Uncontrolled intestinal inflammation can ensue, as in chronic inflammatory diseases, such as Inflammatory Bowel Disease (IBD) [404,405]. IBD encompasses Crohn's Disease (CD) and ulcerative colitis, which are caused by a complex interaction between environmental, genetic and immuno-regulatory factors [168,388].

Steidler and co-workers [198] demonstrated that oral administration of recombinant *Lactococcus lactis* - a non-pathogenic, non-colonizing gram-positive bacteria - secreting murine IL-10 reduced inflammation in the chronic dextran sodium sulfate model by 50%, and prevented the onset of colitis in IL-10^{-/-} mice. More recently this treatment was also validated in trinitrobenzene sulphonate induced colitis [363]. Furthermore, a biologically contained *L. lactis* strain secreting human IL-10 was constructed [200] and used in a phase I, open label clinical trial [199]. That trial demonstrated that treating CD patients with this strain is realistic and safe. However, the mechanisms mediating the therapeutic effects of *L. lactis*-mediated topical delivery of IL-10 in murine or human colitis remain unknown.

Studies have suggested that intestinal DCs could be involved in the initiation and possibly continuation of IBD in mouse and man [175-179]. It has been suggested that DCs, probably due to dysfunctional or exaggerated pattern recognition receptor responses, incorrectly recognize commensal bacteria and induce Th1 and possibly Th17 pro-inflammatory responses normally directed against pathogens [406]. Indeed, DCs are activated in IBD and up-regulate expression of TLR2 and TLR4, which might enhance responses to bacterial products and render CD4⁺ T cells resistant to Treg cell-mediated suppression [407]. Furthermore, DCs in IBD produce increased amounts of pro-inflammatory cytokines, such as IL-12 and IL-6 [175]. Moreover, recent studies indicated that IL-23, which like IL-12 is produced by APCs such as DCs, has an important function in the local initiation of gut inflammation [408].

IL-10 has profound anti-inflammatory effects on the immune system, including inhibition of cytokine production by DCs, T cells and macrophages, and inhibition of maturation and antigen-presentation by DCs [210]. The spontaneous development of IBD in IL-10^{-/-} mice highlights the physiological importance of IL-10. IL-10 also appears to control intestinal inflammation by inhibiting TLR-mediated
pro-inflammatory responses, and DCs obtained from CD patients with NOD2 mutations showed impaired IL-10 production [409-411]. Kobayashi and co-workers showed that TLR-induced myeloid IL-12/IL-23 production is an important target of IL-10-mediated anti-inflammatory effects [409]. Based on these data, a model for the role of IL-10 and LPS in IBD has been proposed. This model hypothesizes that LPS induces APCs to produce IL-12/IL-23, which drive Th1/Th17 type immune responses. Normally, inflammation is controlled by APC- or lymphocyte-derived IL-10, which blocks further production of IL-12/IL-23 and other pro-inflammatory cytokines. This suppressive IL-10 signal might be important in the gut, were immune cells are continuously in close contact with LPS and other microbial products.

We hypothesized that IL-10 secreted by genetically modified *L. lactis* can modulate DC responses to TLR ligands such as LPS, partially explaining the anti-inflammatory effect in murine models for IBD. We show that *L. lactis*, independently of mIL-10 secretion, was less effective than LPS in inducing bone marrow-derived DC (BM-DC) maturation, demonstrated by their reduced capacity to activate naive T cells. Furthermore, we show that in the presence of LPS, mIL-10 secreted by *L. lactis* could specifically inhibit secretion of MCP-1 and IL-12p70. We also suggest that IL-10 secreted by *L. lactis* could also lead to a reduced expression of IL-23 by mature BM-DCs, which could explain the differential Th17-polarizing capacity of *L. lactis* secreting mIL-10 compared to the *L. lactis* control strain in the presence of LPS.

2.3 Materials and Methods

2.3.1 Animals.

Balb/c (H2K^d) and C57BL/6 (B6; H2K^b) female mice, 6-8 weeks old, were purchased from Charles River, Italy. They were housed in a specific pathogen-free animal facility and treated according to the institutional guidelines of Ghent University.

2.3.2 Media, reagents and antibodies.

The designation, RPMI-complete refers to RPMI-1640 medium supplemented with 10% heat inactivated FCS, 2 mM L-glutamine, 0.1 mM nonessential amino acids, 0.4 M sodium pyruvate, 10 IU/mI penicillin, 10 μ g/ml streptomycin and 50 μ M β -mercaptoethanol (all from Gibco BRL/Invitrogen, Gaithersburg, MD, USA). RPMI-complete PS⁻ is the above medium without antibiotics.

Purified LPS (*Escherichia coli* serotype O111b4) was obtained from Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA. Recombinant murine IL-10 (rmIL-10), rmGM-CSF, rmIL-4 and rmIL-2 were purchased from Peprotech, Rocky Hill, NJ, USA.

Monoclonal antibodies (mAbs) for flow cytometry were hamster anti-mouse CD11c (clone HL3; FITC-conjugated), rat anti-mouse CD80 (clone 16-10A1; PE-conjugated), rat anti-mouse CD86 (clone GL1; PE-conjugated), rat anti-mouse CD40 (clone 3/23, PE-conjugated), rat anti-mouse PD-L1 (B7-H1; CD274) (clone MIH5, PE-conjugated), and rat anti-mouse IA^d (clone AMS-32.1, PE-conjugated). All mAbs were from BD Pharmingen, San Diego, CA, USA. Isotype controls were FITC-conjugated Armenian hamster IgG1 (anti-TNP) and PE-conjugated rat IgG2a/IgG2b κ from BD Pharmingen. Before cell-staining, non-antigen-specific binding of IgG to the mouse Fc γ receptors was blocked with a rat anti-mouse CD16/CD32 mAb (Fc block; BD Pharmingen).

2.3.3 Bacterial strains.

L. lactis subsp. *cremoris* strain MG1363 [384] was used throughout this study. Bacteria were cultured in GM17E medium, i.e. M17 (Difco Laboratories, Detroit, MI, USA) supplemented with 0.5% glucose and 5 μ g/ml erythromycin. Stock solutions were stored at -20°C in 50% glycerol in GM17E. Stock suspensions were diluted 1000-fold in fresh GM17E and incubated as standing cultures at 30°C for 16 h. They reached a density of 2 x 10⁹ colony forming units (CFU) per ml.

Plasmid pT1mlL10 is a derivative of pTREX1 [412] in which the coding region of mature murine IL-10 was fused to the lactococcal usp45 secretion leader [413], preceded by the coliphage T7 gene 10 ribosome binding site and the lactococcal P1 promoter [414]. Further in the text, *L. lactis* MG1363 transformed with plasmid pT1mlL10 is designated *LL-pTmlL10*. MG1363 harboring the empty control vector pTREX1 is designated *LL-pTREX*.

Before addition to the DCs, bacteria were diluted 200-fold in RPMI-complete PS⁻, supplemented with 5 μ g/ml erythromycin, and grown for 3 h at 37°C. The bacterial count reached ~1 x 10⁸ CFU/ml. During co-culture the DC:bacterial CFU ratio was 1:1.

2.3.4 Generation of bone marrow derived DCs.

A modified version of a published procedure was used to generate bone marrow derived DCs [389,390]. Briefly, bone marrow cells from femurs and tibias of Balb/c

mice were depleted of red blood cells by lysis with ammonium chloride. Granulocytes, erythroid precursors, and B cells were labeled with a cocktail of mAbs (anti-Gr-1, anti-TER-119/erythroid cells, and anti-CD45R/B220; all from BD Pharmingen), and killed by incubation with low-toxicity rabbit complement (Cedarlane, Ontario, Canada). These cells were cultured in RPMI-complete supplemented with 1000 U/ml rmGM-CSF and 500 U/ml rmIL-4. Medium was replaced on days 2 and 4. On day 6, nonadherent cells were removed, and fresh medium with cytokines was added. Two days later 60 to 90% of the new population of nonadherent cells were CD11c⁺ BM-DCs. DCs were further purified to >90% using anti-CD11c magnetic microbeads (Miltenyi Biotec, Bergisch Gladbach, Germany). Purified DCs were re-plated at 1×10^6 cells/ml and pre-incubated at 37° C with approximately 1 x 10⁶ CFU/ml *LL-pTmlL10* or *LL-pTREX*, or with 10 ng/ml rmlL-10 (positive control) in RPMI-complete PS⁻, supplemented with 5 µg/ml erythromycin. To prevent bacterial overgrowth, 75 µg/ml gentamycin was added after 5 h. For maturation, 10 ng/ml LPS was then added and the cells were incubated overnight at 37°C. Supernatants were collected and stored at -70°C. Cells were harvested, washed and counted before use.

2.3.5 Phenotypic analysis of DCs.

For phenotypic analysis, DCs were double-stained with FITC-anti-CD11c and either PE-anti-CD80, -CD86, -CD40, -PD-L1 or $-IA^d$. The incidence of positive cells and MFI were determined by flow cytometry using a FACSCalibur flow cytometer (Beckton Dickinson) equipped with an argon laser (488 nm) and a helium neon laser (540 nm). The CellQuest software program (Becton Dickinson) was used for data acquisition and analysis. PI (2 µg/mI) was added to the cells just before flow cytometry analysis. Gating was done on PI-negative cells to exclude dead cells.

2.3.6 Mixed lymphocyte reaction.

C57BL/6 splenic CD4 positive T cells were purified by negative selection using magnetic bead separation (Miltenyi Biotec). They were stimulated with graded numbers of purified Balb/c DCs in round-bottomed 96-well plates (BD Falcon) in a total volume of 200 μ l RPMI-complete. Cultures were maintained at 37°C in a humidified incubator (5% CO₂). After three days, 1 μ Ci/well [3H]thymidine (Amersham GE Healthcare, Buckinghamshire, UK) was added. [3H]thymidine incorporation was determined after 18 h using a 96-well Topcount scintillation

counter (Packard Instrument, Meriden, CT). The incorporated radioactivity is expressed as cpm means \pm SD.

2.3.7 Measuring cytokine concentrations with cytometric bead array.

Supernatants were stored at -70° C. Cytokines were quantified according to the manufacturer's instructions, using the Mouse Inflammation Cytometric Beads Array kit (CBA; BD Pharmingen). Briefly, for every cytokine a bead population with distinct fluorescence intensity was coated with capture antibodies specific for this cytokine. The capture beads for every cytokine to be measured, sample lysates, and PE-conjugated detection reagent were incubated together to obtain sandwich complexes. For the Mouse inflammation kit, IL-12p70, IL-10, IL-6, TNF, IFN γ and MCP-1 were analyzed in one sample. The beads were washed and run through a flow cytometer. The MFI data were analyzed with Becton Dickinson CBA Analysis Software. Sample data were normalized with specific cytokine standards to quantify the proteins of interest.

2.3.8 Quantitative analysis of mRNA expression in DCs.

Purified CD11c⁺ DCs were re-plated at 1 x 10⁶ cells/ml and pre-incubated for 5 h at 37°C with *LL-pTmIL10* or *LL-pTREX* at 1 x 10⁶ CFU/mI or with 10 ng/mI purified rmIL-10. Gentamycin (75 µg/ml) and LPS (10 ng/ml) were added after 5 h. After an additional 5 h, cells were washed with PBS and total RNA was extracted from cells using the RNeasy mini kit (Qiagen, Westburg BV, The Netherlands), with on-column DNase treatment (Qiagen). One μ g of total RNA was converted to single stranded complementary DNA by reverse transcription (Superscript, Gibco) with oligo dT priming. Subsequently, real-time PCR for murine IL-12p35, IL-12p40 and IL-23p19 was performed using the SYBR green kit (Eurogentec, Seraing, Belgium) and 300 nM of each primer. A two-step program was run on the iCycler (Biorad Laboratories, Hercules, CA, USA). Cycling conditions were: 10 min incubation at 95°C followed by 40 cycles of 15 sec at 95°C and 1 min at 60°C. Melting curve analysis confirmed primer specificities. All reactions were run in triplicate and normalized to TATA box binding protein (TBP) levels. TBP was chosen after checking the expression stability of a set of housekeeping genes in BM-DCs cells using the Genorm software [400]. The level of the normalized mRNA is shown relative to the control sample incubated with medium alone. Data are expressed as mean + SD. Primers were designed using the Beacon Designer software (PREMIER Biosoft International, Palo Alto, CA, USA) (see table).

Gene	Reference	Forward primer	Reverse primer
symbol	sequence		
mlL-12p35	NM_008351	ACTCTGCGCCAGAAACCTC	CACCCTGTTGATGGTCACGAC
mIL-12p40	NM_008352	ACCTGTGACACGCCTGAAGAAG	TGTGGAGCAGCAGATGTGAGTG
mIL-23p19	NM_031252	AGCAACTTCACACCTCCCTAC	ACTGCTGACTAGAACTCAGGC
mTBP	NM_013684	TCTACCGTGAATCTTGGCTGTAAA	TTCTCATGATGACTGCAGCAAA

2.3.9 Re-stimulation of T cells for the detection of IL-17 secretion.

Activated C57BL/6 splenic CD4 positive T cells were purified by negative selection using magnetic bead separation (Miltenyi Biotec). They were stimulated with purified Balb/c DCs at a ratio of 10:1 in round-bottom 96-well plates (BD Falcon). Cultures were maintained at 37°C in a humidified incubator (5% CO₂). After five days, T cells were recovered by density gradient centrifugation using Lympholyte-M (Cedarlane), to remove dead cells. Recovered cells were re-plated at 1×10^6 cells/ml in flat-bottom 96-well plates at 37°C in RPMI-complete with 5 U/ml rmIL-2 for 72 h. These cells (150,000) were then re-stimulated with 1.5 x 10⁵ Balb/c splenocytes treated with mitomycin C (50 µg/ml; Sigma-Aldrich). After 72 h, the concentration of IL-17 was assayed using a murine IL-17 ELISA (Bender Medsystems, Burlingame, CA, USA) with a detection limit of 1.6 pg/ml. ELISA was performed according to the manufacturer's instructions.

2.3.10 Statistical analysis.

SPSS was used to analyze MLR results. Statistical analysis was performed using the general linear model for repeated measurements and the Bonferroni post-hoc test. For statistical analysis of DC regulatory activity and cytokine concentrations, we used a one-way ANOVA and the Bonferroni post-hoc test. P-values < 0.05 were considered as significant.

2.4 Results

2.4.1 L. lactis treatment induces a semi-mature BM-DC phenotype.

To determine whether *LL-pTmlL10* can modulate DC maturation, CD11c⁺ BM-DCs generated in vitro and purified on immuno-beads were pretreated with LL-pTmIL10 or LL-pTREX at a DC:bacterial CFU ratio of 1:1. Co-cultures of BM-DCs and L. lactis were initially maintained in antibiotic-free medium to allow bacterial activity and thus mIL-10 secretion by *LL-pTmIL10*. After 5 h, gentamycin was added to inhibit bacterial protein synthesis and growth. BM-DCs stimulated in the presence of LPS were used as a positive control for maturation. BM-DCs cultured in medium alone were used as an untreated control for spontaneous maturation, and BM-DCs cultured in the presence of rmIL-10 were used as a control for inhibition of spontaneous maturation. After overnight culture, the BM-DCs were harvested and analyzed by flow cytometry for the expression of co-stimulatory molecules. Both LL-pTREX and LL-pTmlL10 induced lower levels of MHC II and co-stimulatory molecules CD40, CD86 and CD80, than LPS-treated BM-DCs, but they expressed higher levels than rmIL-10-treated and untreated control BM-DCs (Figure 17). In contrast, expression levels of the T cell inhibitory molecule Programmed Death-1 ligand (B7-H1, PD-L1) in BM-DCs stimulated or with *L. lactis* or LPS were comparable.

To test whether *LL-pTREX* or *LL-pTmIL10* could modulate LPS-induced maturation, BM-DCs were pretreated for 5 h with *L. lactis* and then stimulated overnight with LPS. Pretreatment with *LL-pTmIL10* could not prevent the LPS-induced up-regulation of maturation markers on BM-DCs. Similar results were obtained for *LL-pTREX-* and rmIL-10-pretreated BM-DCs, although the up-regulation of maturation markers was less pronounced for BM-DCs conditioned with rmIL-10. Furthermore, no difference in PD-L1 up-regulation after LPS stimulation was observed between non-treated, *L. lactis*-treated and rmIL-10-treated BM-DCs (Figure 17).



Figure 17 Phenotypic analysis of BM-DCs before and after LPS-induced maturation. CD11c⁺ BM-DCs were treated as described in the Materials and Methods section. After culturing overnight without or with LPS (10 ng/ml), they were harvested and analyzed by flow cytometry using anti-CD11c, anti-CD80, anti-CD86, anti-CD40, anti-MHC II and anti-PD-L1 mAbs. Gating was done on CD11c⁺ cells. Bars represent MFI, the mean fluorescence intensity of the indicated mAb. Results are representative of four experiments.

2.4.2 L. lactis treatment modulates the ability of BM-DCs to activate

allogeneic T cells.

To determine whether the maturation phenotype induced in BM-DCs by *LL-pTREX* or *LL-pTmIL10* correlated with their functional maturation, BM-DCs were tested for their ability to stimulate allogeneic bead-purified naive $CD4^+$ T cells. As expected, LPS-activated BM-DCs were effective in stimulating allogeneic CD4⁺ T cells, whereas *LL-pTREX-* or *LL-pTmIL10*-treated BM-DCs induced only weak T cell proliferation (P<0.001) (Figure 18). Although LPS stimulation of BM-DCs treated with *LL-pTmIL10* or with *LL-pTREX* increased their ability to stimulate allogeneic T cells, it was still

significantly less (P<0.05) than the ability of LPS-stimulated BM-DC controls. However, *LL-pTmIL10* or *LL-pTREX* treatment was less effective in inhibiting the ability of LPS-stimulated BM-DCs to activate allogeneic $CD4^+$ T cells compared to treatment of BM-DCs with rmIL-10 (P<0.001).



Figure 18 T cell-stimulating capacity of activated BM-DCs.

CD11c⁺ BM-DCs were treated, harvested and used in a mixed lymphocyte reaction (see Materials and Methods). LPS-stimulated DCs (pre)treated with rmIL-10 do not stimulate T cell proliferation as compared to LPS-matured DCs (P<0.001). LPS-stimulated DCs also show a significantly more potent allo-stimulatory activity than the *L. lactis*-treated groups (P<0.001) and the *L. lactis*-treated, LPS-stimulated groups (P<0.05). *LL-pTmIL10* or *LL-pTREX* groups are not significantly different from each other. Shown are mean values <u>+</u> SD of triplicates from one experiment; data are representative of four experiments.

Our results show that, consistent with their maturation phenotype, *LL-pTmlL10-* or *LL-pTREX*-treated BM-DCs were less effective in stimulating naive allogeneic T cells than LPS-stimulated BM-DCs, and no difference was found in the T cell proliferating capacity of *LL-pTmlL10-* or *LL-pTREX*-treated BM-DCs. In contrast to treatment with rmlL-10, *L. lactis*-treated BM-DCs only partially diminished the capacity of LPS-induced BM-DCs to activate naive T cells.

2.4.3 BM-DCs treated with L. lactis and stimulated with LPS inhibit the

activation of allogeneic T cells by mature BM-DCs.

We previously showed that BM-DCs treated with *LL-pTREX* or *LL-pTmlL10* and stimulated with LPS were phenotypically as mature as LPS-stimulated control BM-DCs but less effective at stimulating naive T cells. Those results indicate that *L. lactis* alters the properties of BM-DCs to stimulate T cells independently of the expression of co-stimulatory molecules. To determine whether these LPS-stimulated BM-DCs treated with *L. lactis* can act as regulators, we investigated their ability to inhibit the capacity of control LPS-matured BM-DCs to activate naive T cells. Therefore, LPS-stimulated BM-DCs and naive T cells were co-cultured in the presence of graded numbers of LPS-stimulated BM-DCs pretreated with *LL-pTREX* or *LL-pTmlL10*. Untreated LPS-stimulated BM-DCs were used as negative controls. LPS-stimulated BM-DCs pretreated with *LL-pTREX* or *LL-pTmlL10* significantly inhibited the capacity of mature BM-DCs to activate naive allogeneic T cells (Figure 19). At a regulator:stimulator ratio of 1:10 the inhibitory capacity was higher when *LL-pTREX*-treated BM-DCs.



Figure 19 Modulation of T cell proliferation by the addition of regulator BM-DCs. $CD11c^+$ BM-DCs were treated as described in the Materials and Methods section. After culturing the cells overnight with LPS (10 ng/ml), they were harvested. 150,000 naive allogeneic C57/BL6 splenic T cells (Responders) were stimulated with tenfold fewer LPS-stimulated BM-DCs (Stimulators), and to this mixed lymphocyte reaction graded numbers of the different pretreated and LPS-stimulated DCs were added to assess their regulatory capacity (Regulators). After three days of culture, [3H]thymidine was added. [3H]thymidine incorporation was measured after another 18 h. The black bar represents proliferation of the responders in the absence of regulators. *** and ** represent statistical significant differences in comparison with this condition of P < 0.001 and P < 0.01 respectively. Shown are mean values + SD of triplicates from one experiment; data are representative of three experiments.

2.4.4 BM-DCs treated with LL-pTmlL10 or LL-pTREX differ in their ability to

secrete MCP-1 and IL-12p70 in response to LPS.

Since cytokines expressed by DCs can influence the outcome of an immune response, we investigated whether mIL-10 secreted by *LL-pTmIL10* could specifically modulate BM-DC function by modulating cytokine expression. As expected, LPS stimulation of BM-DCs induced strong expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines, such as IL-12p70, MCP-1, TNF and IL-6, compared to the untreated and rmIL-10-treated BM-DCs (Figure 20 and data not shown). Furthermore, the expression levels for all cytokines examined after *L. lactis* treatment were increased compared to the non-treated and rmIL-10-treated control BM-DCs.



Figure 20 Cytokine production by activated BM-DCs.

CD11c⁺ BM-DCs were treated as described in the Materials and Methods section. After overnight culture with or without LPS (10 ng/ml), supernatants were collected and cytokines were quantified with the mouse inflammation CBA kit. Results for **(A)** MCP-1 and **(B)** IL-12p70 from three experiments are shown as mean pg/ml + SEM. ***, ** and * denote significance of differences at P < 0.001, P < 0.01 and P < 0.05, respectively.

Treatment of BM-DCs with *LL-pTREX* or *LL-pTmIL10* induced less secretion of MCP-1 than treatment with LPS (Figure 20A, *LL-pTREX* = P<0.01 or *LL-pTmIL10* = P<0.001), whereas no difference was found for IL-12p70 (Figure 20B), TNF and IL-6 secretion (data not shown).

Pretreatment of BM-DCs with *LL-pTmlL10* (but not with *LL-pTREX*) significantly reduced LPS-induced MCP-1 up-regulation (P<0.01), but less effectively than treatment with rmlL-10 (P<0.001) (Figure 20A). Furthermore, we found that BM-DCs pretreated with *L. lactis* and stimulated with LPS expressed IL-12p70 more strongly than LPS-stimulated controls. *LL-pTmlL10* pretreatment significantly inhibited this synergistically up-regulated expression of IL-12p70 (P<0.01) (Figure 20B). In some of the experiments performed we observed a similar pattern of *LL-pTmlL10*-induced inhibition of TNF (data not shown). No inhibition was observed for IL-6 secretion after LPS stimulation of BM-DCs pretreated with *LL-pTmlL10* or *LL-pTREX*, whereas rmlL-10 treatment could partially inhibit LPS-induced expression of both IL-6 and TNF (data not shown).

2.4.5 LPS-stimulated BM-DCs pretreated with LL-pTmIL10 express less

IL-12/IL-23p40 mRNA than LL-pTREX-pretreated cells.

IL-12 is a heterodimer formed by the subunits IL-12p35 and IL-12p40. The latter is also part of the pro-inflammatory cytokine IL-23 heterodimer produced by DCs. To test whether the difference in IL-12p70 expression by BM-DCs treated with LL-pTmIL10 could also lead to a difference in IL-23 expression, we investigated if LL-pTmIL10 treatment alters the expression of IL-12/IL-23p40, IL-12p35 or IL-23p19 after LPS stimulation (Figure 21). LPS-stimulated LL-pTREX- or LL-pTmIL10-treated BM-DCs were harvested and gene-specific mRNA expression was quantified by real-time quantitative PCR. LL-pTREX- and LL-pTmlL10-pretreated BM-DCs stimulated with LPS showed similar levels of IL-12p35 mRNA expression, whereas LL-pTREX treatment induced a threefold higher expression of IL-12/IL-23p40 mRNA. These data suggest that the reduced protein secretion of IL-12p70 by LPS-stimulated BM-DCs treated with LL-pTmIL10, compared to LL-pTREX-treated BM-DCs, is reflected by a difference in IL-12/IL-23p40 induction. In contrast, the inhibition of IL-12p70 secretion in LPS-stimulated BM-DCs treated with rmIL-10 is accomplished by affecting transcription of both IL-12/IL-23p40 and IL-12p35, correlating with an efficient inhibition of LPS-induced IL-12 secretion (Figure 20B). LL-pTmIL10- and LL-pTREX-treated BM-DCs did not differ in IL-23p19 mRNA levels but given their differential expression of IL-12/IL-23p40 mRNA, which leads to a reduced expression

of IL-12p70 protein, it is likely that BM-DCs matured with LPS in the presence of *LL-pTmIL10* secrete less IL-23 compared to their *LL-pTREX*-treated counterparts.



Figure 21 IL-12p35, IL-12p40 and IL-23p19 mRNA expression in activated BM-DCs. CD11c⁺ BM-DCs were treated and harvested for mRNA isolation as described in the Materials and Methods section. Shown are the fold changes in TBP normalized mRNA expression levels of every condition relative to the control condition without stimulation. Bars represent the mean + SD. Results are representative of three experiments.

2.4.6 Allogeneic T cells stimulated by LL-pTREX- or LL-pTmlL10-treated

BM-DCs differ in the ability to secrete IL-17.

Expression of IL-23 by DCs participates in expanding and maintaining the Th17 population in vivo. These recently discovered effector cells are identified by their secretion of IL-17 [13] and are probably involved in clearance of pathogens other than those targeted by Th1 and Th2 [415-417]. To further investigate immune-modulation by L. lactis and define the functional effect of LL-pTmlL10-specific modulation of IL-12/IL-23p40 expression by BM-DCs, we determined IL-17 expression by different activated T cells. Therefore, allogeneic bead-purified CD4⁺ T cells were isolated after co-culture with the different BM-DCs and subsequently re-stimulated with cytostatic Balb/c splenocytes. After 72 h the presence of IL-17 in the supernatants was assessed (Figure 22). Corresponding to the high induction of the IL-12/IL-23p40 subunit, T cells activated by LPS-stimulated, LL-pTREX-treated BM-DCs induced significantly stronger expression of IL-17 (P<0.001) than LPS-stimulated, *LL-pTmIL10*-treated BM-DCs. Since DCs in the gut are confronted by both gram-negative and gram-positive bacteria, these data suggest that IL-10 secreted by LL-pTmIL10 could modulate DC cell function by regulating IL-23 expression during inflammation, thereby inhibiting Th17 development.



Figure 22 IL-17 production of activated T cells.

Re-stimulation of T cells was performed as described in the Materials and Methods section. Supernatants were collected after 72 h for IL-17 detection with a commercial IL-17 ELISA. Shown are mean pg/ml values + SD of triplicates from one experiment; results are representative of four experiments. *** denotes a significance of difference at P < 0.001.

2.5 Discussion

Here we report on the ability of mIL-10 secreted by a genetically modified *L. lactis* strain to modulate BM-DC functions in response to LPS. We show that *L. lactis*, independently of mIL-10 secretion, was less effective than LPS in inducing BM-DC maturation, demonstrated by their reduced capacity to activate naive T cells. In addition, *L. lactis*-conditioned, LPS-stimulated DCs had a reduced ability to stimulate naive allogeneic T cell proliferation compared to untreated LPS-stimulated controls and could suppress the capacity of LPS-stimulated BM-DCs to activate naive T cells. Furthermore, mIL-10 secreted by *L. lactis* specifically inhibited LPS-induced MCP-1 secretion as well as the synergistic effect of LPS and *L. lactis* inhibited the strong, synergistic LPS-induced expression of IL-12/IL-23p40 mRNA, which correlated with the reduced expression of IL-12p70. This inhibition of IL-12/IL-23p40 could also lead to reduced expression of IL-23 by mature BM-DCs, which would explain the different Th17 cell polarizing effect of *LL-pTmIL10* and *LL-pTREX* in the presence of LPS.

Previous studies have shown that both viable and killed probiotic LAB species display strain-specific effects on the phenotype of human and murine DCs [159-161] and on polarizing T helper responses via modulation of DC function [163,418,419]. Although some commercial formulations claim health-promoting properties, L. lactis is not generally considered a true probiotic strain and little is known about its effects on DCs. Comparison of the immunomodulatory effects of different LAB on human peripheral blood monocytes showed that *L. lactis* MG1363 has a pro-inflammatory profile with a very low IL-10/IL-12 ratio, compared to other LAB and a commensal E. coli strain [420]. Furthermore, this observation was validated in murine BM-DCs, in which L. lactis also strongly up-regulated co-stimulatory molecules [162]. The discrepancy between previous results and ours might be due to the different experimental setups. We used viable bacteria at a DC:bacterial CFU ratio of 1:1 to avoid acidification of the growth medium by lactic acid production. Foligne and co-workers used a ratio of 1:10. Furthermore, we added gentamycin after 5 h of bacterial activity whereas in the other study gentamycin was present at the start of the co-culture. It has also been reported that exposure of cord blood-derived DCs to L. lactis strain W58 lead to moderate up-regulation of co-stimulatory molecules but did not induce full maturation compared to LPS [421]. This resembles our results suggesting that L. lactis MG1363 induces a semi-mature phenotype compared to

LPS. In addition, no difference was found between *LL-pTREX* and *LL-pTmIL10*. This indicates that the effect on BM-DC maturation, in the absence of LPS, is independent of the secretion of mIL-10 by *L. lactis*; it is an intrinsic property of the bacterial strain.

L. lactis treatment of BM-DCs induced lower levels of MHC II and co-stimulatory molecules, compared to treatment with LPS, but induction of the inhibitory molecule PD-L1 was similar. This might explain the difference between T cell activation capacities, as it has been shown that expression of alternative or inhibitory co-stimulatory molecules on DCs, such as PD-L1, can inhibit T cell activation when co-stimulation is sub-optimal [126]. This indicates that *L. lactis* induces an anti-inflammatory phenotype rather than the fully mature phenotype obtained with LPS.

Unexpectedly, LPS-stimulated BM-DCs pretreated with LL-pTmlL10 or LL-pTREX were weaker stimulators of allogeneic T cells compared to LPS-stimulated BM-DCs. This could not be predicted from their maturation phenotype, which resembles that of untreated LPS-stimulated BM-DCs. One possible explanation might be the presence of large amounts of endogenous or exogenous mIL-10 during BM-DC maturation. Chang and co-workers showed that exposure of DCs to exogenous IL-10 upon maturation with LPS severely impaired their capacity to promote naive CD4⁺T cell proliferation. Besides the effects of exogenous IL-10 on DC apoptosis, they also found that endogenous IL-10 acted as a suicidal factor for DCs in an autocrine fashion [235]. Because our findings showed that treatment with 10 ng/ml rmlL-10 completely reduced the ability of LPS-stimulated BM-DCs to activate naive allogeneic CD4⁺ T cells, the induction of apoptosis in mature DCs by the presence of high concentrations of IL-10 might also explain the impaired capacity of LL-pTmIL10- or LL-pTREX-pretreated LPS-stimulated BM-DCs to promote T cell proliferation. We indeed showed for this study that *LL-pTREX* treatment significantly up-regulated the expression of endogenous mIL-10 in LPS-stimulated BM-DCs compared to untreated LPS-stimulated BM-DCs, whereas high concentrations of exogenous mIL-10 (2-5 ng/ml) secreted by LL-pTmlL10 were present in the BM-DC cultures pretreated with LL-pTmIL10 (data not shown). In these cultures, endogenous mIL-10 secretion could not be determined. In contrast to rmIL-10 treatment, L. lactis-treated BM-DCs only partially inhibited the T cell activating capacity. This might be due to different concentrations of mIL-10 present during LPS-maturation; rmIL-10 at 10 ng/ml, LL-pTmIL-10 secreted 2-5 ng/ml whereas with LL-pTREX +1 ng/ml was present. However, although different amounts of mIL-10 were detected in the cultures of LL-pTmlL10- and LL-pTREX-treated LPS-stimulated BM-DCs, there was no difference in their capacities to stimulate naive T cells. Therefore, another explanation might be that the presence of *L. lactis* partially inhibits the potential apoptosis inducing effects of IL-10 on BM-DCs. Alternatively, these *L. lactis*-treated BM-DCs could lead to increased induction of allogeneic T cell apoptosis. The latter explanation might also explain why *LL-pTmIL10-* and *LL-pTREX*-treated BM-DCs were equally effective in inhibiting the proliferation of naive allogeneic T cells in the presence of fully potent, mature stimulator DCs. This cannot be explained by the apoptosis-inducing effects of endogenous IL-10 from the regulator BM-DCs, as it has been reported that mature DCs down-regulate their expression of the IL-10 receptor and are thus unresponsive to IL-10 [210,242].

Recently, commensal LAB were combined with a gram-negative strain or simply LPS for the stimulation of human monocyte-derived DCs [422]. This resulted for all tested strains in a strong synergistic induction of IL-12 and TNF, and at least an additive effect on the up-regulation of co-stimulatory markers. It has also been shown that weak IL-12- and TNF-inducing LAB possess the capability to inhibit the IL-12 and TNF responses induced by otherwise strong IL-12- and TNF-inducing strains, as well as DC maturation [422]. Our work shows no synergistic effect of L. lactis-treatment on the expression of co-stimulatory molecules of LPS-stimulated BM-DCs. However, synergism was shown for IL-12p70 secretion when the BM-DCs were treated with the empty vector control, LL-pTREX, and LPS, and secretion of mIL-10 by L. lactis reduced this synergism. A similar effect on TNF was seen in some but not all experiments. This is a unique characteristic of LL-pTmlL10 as none of the commensal LAB tested by Zeuthen and co-workers showed this property in the presence of LPS [422]. Furthermore, the synergistic effect of LPS and L. lactis on IL-12p70 secretion is reflected by up-regulated IL-12/IL-23p40 mRNA expression, which was indeed reduced in the presence of LL-pTmlL10 confirming its inhibitory effect on IL-12p70 secretion. In contrast, the IL-12p35 mRNA expression levels were similar in non-treated, LL-pTREX-treated and LL-pTmIL10-treated BM-DCs stimulated with LPS. This is consistent with the finding in human DCs that IL-12p35 mRNA is not induced by the gram-positive TLR2 agonist, peptidoglycan [99]. It has been proposed that mucosal inflammation occurs as the consequence of aberrant IL-12 responses to constituents of the commensal microbial flora, which in turn induces a pathological Th1 response [409,423]. We suggest that in vivo administration of *LL-pTmIL10* during inflammation might inhibit the stimulating effects of gut microflora on IL-12 secretion of DCs, which can lead to a reduced Th1-mediated inflammation.

107

However, it became clear with the discovery of IL-23 [9] that this cytokine rather than IL-12 drives chronic intestinal inflammation. Furthermore, in contrast to IL-12, IL-23 activates CD4⁺Th17 cells characterized by the production of IL-17, which have recently been shown to play an important role in colitis and several other autoimmune diseases [11,424,425]. Our study strongly indicates that BM-DCs stimulated with LPS in the presence of L. lactis indeed drive Th17 polarization through the induction of IL-23, which was clearly inhibited by the secretion of mIL-10 by L. lactis. Expression of IL-23p19 mRNA transcripts was strongly induced when BM-DCs were stimulated with LPS in the presence of the gram-positive L. lactis bacteria, compared to LPS alone. This could be explained by previous indications that peptidoglycan is more potent than LPS at inducting IL-23p19 mRNA transcripts in DCs [98,99]. Interestingly, LL-pTmlL10-pretreated, LPS-stimulated BM-DCs showed a reduced induction of IL-12/IL-23p40 mRNA transcripts compared to LL-pTREX-pretreated LPS-stimulated BM-DCs. This result indicates that p40 might be a limiting factor in the formation of the IL-23 complex, which might lead to a reduced secretion of the cytokine. Reduced secretion of IL-23 would be in agreement with the differential capacity of *LL-pTREX-* or *LL-pTmIL10-*pretreated, LPS-stimulated BM-DCs to induce IL-17 within the CD4⁺ T cell population.

During inflammation, LPS and stimuli from LAB probably influence maturation of intestinal DCs. This may lead to a synergistic induction of IL-23 and subsequent sustained Th17 polarization, comparable to our *in vitro* data showing synergistic effects of *LL-pTREX* and LPS on BM-DCs. We hypothesize that IL-10 secreted by *LL-pTmIL10* can regulate this synergistic effect by reducing IL-23 secretion during intestinal inflammation, resulting in inhibition of otherwise sustained activation of Th17 cells.

Despite its ability to induce Th17 cells *in vitro*, IL-23 does not seem to be required for initiation of Th17 differentiation *in vivo*, although it definitely plays a role in expanding and maintaining the Th17 population [13,113-115]. In addition to its effect on T cell responses, IL-23 also has potent effects on cells of the innate immune system, inducing the production of inflammatory cytokines, such as IL-1, IL-6 and TNF, by monocytes and macrophages [417,426]. Furthermore, IL-23 also induces secretion of IL-17 by non-T cells in an inflammatory environment [427]. Therefore it has been proposed that, independently of its effect on Th17 cell activation, IL-23 production in response to intestinal bacteria triggers a pro-inflammatory cytokine cascade that, if left unchecked, can lead to the development of chronic intestinal inflammation [427].

Consequently, the proposed regulation of IL-23 by *LL-pTmIL10* might lead to reduction of the innate pathology induced by this cytokine *in vivo*.

During chronic inflammation, such as IBD, chemokines play a key role in the pathogenic infiltration of immune cells and the establishment of tissue destructive processes [428]. MCP-1, of the C-C chemokine family, plays a role in recruitment of monocytes to sites of injury and infection and also attracts a range of other cells, such as T cells, NK cells, basophils and neutrophils. The important role of MCP-1 during intestinal inflammation has been demonstrated by the marked increase in its tissue levels in IBD patients [429-432]. Other reports also demonstrated increased MCP-1 mRNA or protein levels in mouse models of (chronic) colitis [433-436]. Our data showed that *LL-pTmlL10*-pretreatment of BM-DCs strongly inhibited LPS-induced MCP-1 secretion. As previous data showed that *LL-pTmIL10* treatment of dextran sodium sulfate-induced murine colitis reduced both infiltration and epithelial damage, we suggest that the ability to reduce inflammation-induced MCP-1 expression might be part of the therapeutic mechanism of LL-pTmlL10 [198,363]. In vivo, mIL-10 secreted by LL-pTmIL10 may also target other MCP-1-secreting cell types in the gastro-intestinal tract. Although monocytes and macrophages are thought to be the main source of MCP-1, secretion by non-immune cells has also been demonstrated in IBD [429,430,432]. In fact, a role for IL-10 in the reduction of MCP-1 secretion by IL-1β-stimulated intestinal epithelial cells has been demonstrated in an in vitro study [437].

Of interest is that CCR2, the receptor for MCP-1, can be expressed on CD4⁺ T cells, which produce much larger amounts of IL-17 than CCR2⁻ cells, indicating the preferential expression of CCR2 on Th17 cells [438]. These CCR2⁺ CD4⁺ T cells are considerably increased in the ileum of CD patients [439]. Thus, MCP-1 reduction during oral treatment of murine colitis with *LL-pTmlL10* may reduce the accumulation of activated pathogenic CCR2⁺ CD4⁺ Th17 cells in the inflamed intestine, thereby contributing to the healing effect of *LL-pTmlL10*.

To conclude, we demonstrate that *LL-pTmIL10* can modulate functional properties of activated BM-DCs in the presence of LPS. We show that *LL-pTmIL10* in the presence of LPS inhibited MCP-1 and IL-12p70 secretion by BM-DCs and also their ability to induce $CD4^+$ Th17 cells. Furthermore our data indicate that *LL-pTmIL10* in the presence of LPS could reduce the secretion of IL-23 by BM-DCs. Our combined data suggest that *LL-pTmIL10* treatment during chronic colitis might lead to a

diminished promotion of $CD4^+$ Th17 cells and a reduced accumulation of these pathogenic Th17 cells as well as other immune cells at the site of inflammation, which together contribute to the beneficial effects of *LL-pTmlL10* administration.

PART III: SUMMARY AND DISCUSSION

Summary and Discussion

DCs are a heterogeneous population of professional APCs. They originate from bone marrow-derived hematopoietic stem cells. These precursors seed the blood and give rise to immature DCs that form a network of sentinels in peripheral tissues, especially at sites of pathogen entry. Immature DCs screen the environment for antigen. They are specialized in antigen uptake and processing. After interaction with microbial products or other maturation stimuli such as inflammatory cytokines, immature DCs change their pattern of chemokine receptors and migrate to the draining lymphoid tissue. During this process, DCs down-regulate their antigen-acquisition machinery and up-regulate the cell surface expression of antigen-loaded MHC molecules and co-stimulatory molecules such as CD40, CD86 and CD80. Once in the lymphoid organs, the phenotypically mature DCs have the ability to initiate immune responses by presenting antigen to naive T cells. Cytokines or cell surface molecules expressed by the activating DCs influence the outcome of T cell priming into either tolerance or immunity and the emergence of T cells carrying a Th1, Th2 or Th17 phenotype or Treg cells. Factors that influence the expression of these DC-derived effector molecules and thus the outcome of an immune response are the DC subset, its activation status, the antigen encountered and the environmental conditions under which DCs are primed.

The gastro-intestinal immune system has the important task to develop an immune response to invading pathogens while at the same time inducing tolerance against the normal microflora and food antigens. Different subsets of DCs are present in the intestinal mucosa, both at sites of antigen uptake and within inductive lymphoid tissue [440]. These intestinal DCs have unique functions when compared to DCs from non-mucosal sites and are thought to be critical in maintaining gut homeostasis [53,100,144,146,152]. IBD is a group of intestinal inflammatory diseases that can be subdivided in ulcerative colitis and Crohn's disease based on clinical manifestations. Increasing evidence suggests that IBD is caused by a loss of tolerance against the normal microflora [164]. Given the important role of DCs in the maintenance of mucosal tolerance, DCs may play a role in IBD as well. Recent studies indeed suggest that activated DCs are central mediators in the initiation and possibly also perpetuation of the disease [175-178]. Therefore, manipulation of DCs may be an effective way to treat IBD.

Previous studies demonstrated the therapeutic efficacy of *L. lactis*-delivered mIL-10 and TFF in experimental murine models for IBD [198,318]. So far, hardly any data

exist on the precise mechanisms of these therapies . We hypothesized that intestinal DCs are attractive targets for *L. lactis* delivered effector proteins. The *in vivo* study of DC modulation however is complex due to the relative infrequency of DCs and the existence of different subsets. Alternatively, DCs can be generated *in vitro* from murine bone marrow cultures supplemented with GM-CSF and IL-4 [389,390]. These BM-DCs are often used to study DC functions as they can be reproducibly obtained at high purity and in large numbers from a small number of donors.

In a **first part** of this work we investigated whether recombinant mTFF3 can directly regulate DC function by determining its effect on the maturation of BM-DCs. We purified *in vitro* generated CD11c⁺ BM-DCs and pretreated them with mTFF3. They were then stimulated overnight in the presence of LPS. Data were compared to control BM-DCs cultured in medium. The phenotype of the different BM-DC groups was determined by flow cytometry. In the absence of LPS, non-treated and mTFF3-treated BM-DCs expressed similar levels of co-stimulatory molecules. After LPS stimulation, mTFF3-treated BM-DCs up-regulated the expression of CD80, CD86, CD40 and MHC II, and the negative stimulator of T cells, PD-L1 to the levels expressed by control BM-DCs stimulated with LPS. These results indicate that mTFF3 treatment of BM-DCs does not alter their mature phenotype in response to LPS. Furthermore, as expected, LPS induced the secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines: IL-12p70, TNF, IL-6 and MCP-1, as well as of the anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10. Pretreatment of BM-DCs with mTFF3 did not influence any of the secreted proteins. In addition, our data show that mTFF3 does not affect the capacity of LPS-stimulated DCs to activate allogeneic bead-purified CD4⁺ T cells.

The biology of DCs *in vivo* is complex and different subtypes exist. Therefore, results from BM-DCs have to be evaluated carefully as it is unclear how closely this *in vitro* obtained population resembles its *in vivo* counterpart. Since mTFF3 is secreted mainly in the small and large intestines, it is possible that intestinal mucosal DCs are responsive to this peptide whereas DCs from other origins are not. To test this hypothesis we isolated mucosal DCs from PP and MLN and compared their responses to LPS with or without mTFF3 pretreatment. As a control, we used peripheral DCs isolated from spleen. We found that mTFF3 does not specifically target mucosal DCs. Following treatment with mTFF3 no differences could be detected between mucosal and splenic DCs with respect to LPS-mediated maturation, cytokine secretion and capacity to stimulate T cells.

TFF peptides were demonstrated to be present in the spleen and other lymphoid organs [259]. Our results suggest that these TFF peptides do not modulate immune functions through direct interaction with DCs but rather affect other cells of the immune system. A recent study compared immune cells isolated from wild-type and TFF2-deficient mice [303]. They demonstrated that after stimulation, TFF2^{-/-} splenic T cells exhibited increased IL-2 and IL-4 secretion and an enhanced proliferative response compared to wild-type T cells. Thymocytes, on the other hand were unaffected by TFF2 deficiency. Furthermore, TFF2 deficiency did not affect splenic B cell proliferation. Thus mature T cells may be the major targets of TFF2 regulation in the spleen. However, each trefoil factor has its own properties so a possible effect of mTFF3 on T cells requires further investigation. Furthermore, Giraud *et al* reported that TFF2 can reduce LPS-induced NO expression in monocytes [310], which may lead to inhibition of immune cell recruitment. As this effect on monocytes has also been described only for TFF2, it is possible that the effect of TFF2 on DCs is different from what we show for mTFF3.

Though we observed no direct modulation of DCs by purified recombinant mTFF3, it remains possible that *in vivo* mTFF3 regulates DC function through modulation of other cells. Crosstalk between epithelial cells and DCs is considered to be very important to regulate intestinal mucosal immunity [152,403]. It has been shown that TFF induces COX-2 expression in epithelial cells [318,319], leading to the secretion of prostaglandin PGE₂ whose anti-inflammatory effects on DCs have been extensively documented [322-325] Thus, TFF peptides might serve as key players in the epithelial-immune signaling system.

We found that recombinant mTFF3 does not influence LPS-induced DC maturation. However, it remains possible that mTFF3 can modulate DC maturation when the maturation stimulus is other than LPS. DCs determine the character of the immune response by secreting cytokines that drive the development of T cells into Th1, Th2, Th17 or Treg cells. PAMPs that stimulate different TLRs often induce distinct patterns of cytokines, thereby influencing T cell polarization [402]. Therefore it is plausible that mTFF3 can modulate the functions of DCs if these are stimulated by another PAMP (e.g. flagellin, zymosan, peptidoglycan). Furthermore, inflammatory mediators at the site of infection can also influence DC activation. Consequently, it is also possible that mTFF3 showed no effect in our experimental setup due to the absence of an appropriate microenvironment. Recent data from TFF2^{-/-} stress the importance of the stimulus [303]. TFF2^{-/-} macrophages secreted much higher levels of IL-6 than wild-type macrophages in response to IL-1R stimulation. On the other hand, wild-type

and TFF2^{-/-} mice had very similar responses to LPS, suggesting that the hyperresponsiveness of TFF2 deficient mice was specific for IL-1 β /IL-1R signaling pathways despite the fact that the IL-1R pathway shares many common adapters with the LPS/TLR4 pathway.

In conclusion, our results in this first part demonstrate that recombinant mTFF3 does not influence LPS-induced DC maturation suggesting that mTFF3 does not affect immune responses on the level of DC functions directly. However, it remains possible that mTFF3 regulates DC maturation when other maturation stimuli or inflammatory mediators are present or that mTFF3 regulates immune function through modulation of other cells.

In a **second part** of this work we focused on possible modulation of the immune system by genetically engineered *L. lactis* secreting mIL-10 (*LL-pTmIL10*). We hypothesized that IL-10 delivered via oral administration of recombinant *L. lactis* can modulate DC functions in response to microbial products, such as LPS, explaining partially the anti-inflammatory effect in murine models for IBD. We therefore studied the effect of *LL-pTmIL10* on LPS-induced BM-DC function. *In vitro* derived CD11c⁺ BM-DCs were treated with *LL-pTmIL10* or control *L. lactis* transformed with an empty vector (*LL-pTREX*). LPS was added to these BM-DCs after 5 hours. After overnight culturing the BM-DCs were analyzed and compared to untreated, rmIL-10-treated and LPS-stimulated BM-DCs. Figure 23 is an overview of the most important results.

In the absence of LPS, both *LL-pTmlL10* and *LL-pTREX* induced lower levels of MHC II and co-stimulatory molecules CD40, CD80 and CD86 compared to LPS-stimulated BM-DCs but expressed higher levels compared to rmIL-10 and non-treated control cells. This is in agreement with a recent study that demonstrated a generally lower induction of DC maturation by commensal LAB compared to LPS [422]. In addition, in our study, the level of the T cell inhibitory molecule PD-L1 induced by *LL-pTmlL10* or *LL-pTREX* was not different from the LPS-induced level. It has been shown that the expression of PD-L1 can inhibit T cell activation when co-stimulation is sub-optimal [126], suggesting that *L. lactis* induces an anti-inflammatory phenotype rather than a full mature phenotype as seen with LPS. Consistent with their phenotype, *L. lactis*-treated BM-DCs induced only weak T cell proliferation. As for the phenotype, no difference was found between *LL-pTREX*- and *LL-pTmlL10*-treated BM-DCs in their T cell proliferating capacity.



Figure 23 Summary of the effects in BM-DCs treated with *LL-pTREX* **or** *LL-pTmIL10***.** Suggested mechanisms are indicated in *italics*

Rather unexpected was the finding that LPS-stimulated BM-DCs pretreated with *LL-pTmIL10* or *LL-pTREX* were reduced in their capacity to stimulate allogeneic T cells compared to LPS-stimulated BM-DCs. Chang and co-workers showed previously that exposure to exogenous IL-10 upon maturation with LPS severely impaired the capacity of DCs to promote naive CD4⁺ T cell proliferation [235]. This effect has been ascribed to a reduced DC lifespan caused by the IL-10 specific suppression of anti-apoptotic proteins that are induced during DC maturation. In addition, they also found endogenous IL-10 to act as a suicidal factor for DCs in an autocrine fashion [235]. In agreement with this study, our findings showed that

treatment with 10 ng/ml rmIL-10 completely abolished the ability of LPS-stimulated BM-DCs to activate naive allogeneic CD4⁺ T cells. We propose that the induction of apoptosis in mature DCs due to the presence of high concentrations of IL-10 might also explain the impaired capacity of *LL-pTmIL10-* or *LL-pTREX*-treated LPS-stimulated BM-DCs to promote T cell proliferation. Indeed, *LL-pTREX* treatment significantly up-regulated the expression of endogenous IL-10 in LPS-stimulated BM-DCs compared to untreated LPS-stimulated BM-DCs, whereas high concentrations of mIL-10 (2-5 ng/ml) were secreted by *LL-pTmIL10* in the BM-DC cultures pretreated with this strain. However, in contrast to rmIL-10, *L. lactis* treatment of BM-DCs only partially prevented the LPS-induced T cell activating capacity and despite different concentrations of IL-10 in the *LL-pTmIL10-* and *LL-pTREX*-treated LPS-stimulated BM-DC cultures, we found no difference in their respective capacities to stimulate naive T cells. An explanation might be that the presence of *L. lactis* partially inhibits the apoptosis inducing effects of IL-10 on BM-DCs.

Alternatively, *L. lactis* treatment of LPS-stimulated BM-DCs might reduce allogeneic T cell proliferation by the induction of T cell apoptosis. This might also explain our observation that *LL-pTmlL10-* and *LL-pTREX*-treated LPS-stimulated BM-DCs can act as regulators, effectively inhibiting the proliferation of naive allogeneic T cells in the presence of fully potent, mature stimulator DCs. This cannot be explained by induction of apoptosis in the mature DCs through secretion of endogenous IL-10 by the regulator BM-DCs, as it has been reported that mature DCs down-regulate their expression of the IL-10 receptor and are thus unresponsive to IL-10 [210,242].

Clearly, additional experiments need to be performed to confirm or reject any of the previous theories. To investigate the possibility that IL-10 induced DC apoptosis causes the reduced T cell activating capacity of LPS-stimulated BM-DCs after *L. lactis* treatment, we propose the addition of anti-IL-10 to the co-cultures of *LL-pTREX* or *LL-pTmIL10* with BM-DCs. In addition, any inhibiting influence of *L. lactis* on the apoptosis inducing effects of IL-10 can be investigated by adding exogenous rmIL-10 during *LL-pTREX* treatment of BM-DCs. Furthermore, various tools exist to determine the induction of apoptosis in either BM-DC or T cell populations.

Our data show a synergistic effect on IL-12p70 secretion when the BM-DCs were treated with *LL-pTREX* and LPS. This is in agreement with the study of Zeuthen *et al* that demonstrated a synergistic up-regulation of IL-12 and TNF in monocyte derived DCs when co-exposed to LAB and LPS [422]. However, the secretion of mIL-10 by

LL-pTmlL10 significantly reduced this synergistic induction of IL-12p70 by LPS and *L. lactis*. A similar effect on TNF was seen in some but not all experiments. This is a unique characteristic of *LL-pTmlL10* as none of the commensal LAB tested by Zeuthen and co-workers showed this ability in the presence of LPS.

IL-12 is a heterodimer formed by the subunits IL-12p35 and IL-12p40. The synergistic effect of LPS and L. lactis on IL-12p70 secretion is reflected by up-regulated IL-12p40 mRNA expression, which was indeed inhibited in the presence of LL-pTmIL10, confirming its inhibitory effect on IL-12p70 secretion. In contrast, the IL-12p35 mRNA expression levels of non-treated, *LL-pTREX*-treated or LL-pTmlL10-treated BM-DCs stimulated with LPS are similar. However, this is consistent with the finding in human DCs that IL-12p35 mRNA is not induced by the gram-positive TLR2 agonist, peptidoglycan [99]. The p40 subunit is also known to be part of the pro-inflammatory cytokine IL-23, which is produced by DCs upon microbial stimulation. Expression levels for IL-23p19 mRNA transcripts were highly induced when BM-DCs were stimulated with LPS in the presence of the gram-positive L. lactis bacteria, compared to LPS alone. This could be explained by previous results indicating that peptidoglycan is more potent than LPS at the induction of IL-23p19 mRNA transcripts in DCs [98,99]. However, the reduced induction of IL-12/IL-23p40 mRNA transcripts in *LL-pTmlL10*-pretreated LPS-stimulated BM-DCs compared to LL-pTREX-pretreated LPS-stimulated BM-DCs, suggests that p40 might be a limiting factor in the formation of the IL-23 complex, which might lead to a reduced secretion of this cytokine.

A recent study showed that IL-23 supports the proliferation of a new subset of IL-17 producing T helper cells called Th17 [441] and several reports suggest that IL-23 driven IL-17 is important in the pathogenesis of IBD [427,442-448]. Our results strongly suggest that BM-DCs stimulated with LPS in the presence of *L. lactis* drive Th17 polarization, whereas the secretion of mIL-10 by *L. lactis* clearly inhibits this effect. Reduced secretion of IL-23 would be in agreement with this differential capacity of *LL-pTREX-* or *LL-pTmIL10-*pretreated LPS-stimulated BM-DCs to induce IL-17 within the CD4⁺ T cell population.

During chronic inflammation, invading bacteria and microbial components like LPS will activate mucosal DCs, causing aberrant responses to constituents of the commensal microbial flora [409,423]. Our results suggest that administration of *LL-pTmIL10* during inflammation might inhibit the synergistic effects of the gut microflora on IL-12p70 secretion by DCs, which might in turn lead to a reduced Th1-mediated inflammation. However with the discovery of IL-23, it became clear

that this cytokine rather than IL-12 drives chronic intestinal inflammation by inducing pathogenic Th17 responses. Our results allow us to hypothesize that IL-10 secreted by *LL-pTmIL10* might also be able to down-regulate the synergistic effect of LPS and commensal LAB on IL-23 secretion during intestinal inflammation resulting in the inhibition of otherwise sustained Th17 activation.

In addition to its effect on T cell responses, IL-23 has also potent effects on cells of the innate immune system, inducing the production of inflammatory cytokines, such as IL-1, IL-6 and TNF, by monocytes and macrophages [417,426]. Furthermore, an *in vivo* study by Hue and co-workers indicates that IL-23, produced in response to intestinal bacteria, also induces the secretion of IL-17 by non-T cells, including granulocytes and monocytes, in an inflammatory environment [427]. The down-regulation of microbial-induced IL-23 by *LL-pTmlL10* may thus inhibit both innate and adaptive pro-inflammatory immune responses *in vivo*.

However, despite its capacity to induce Th17 cells *in vitro*, IL-23 does not seem to be required for the initiation of Th17 differentiation *in vivo*, although there is definitely a role for this cytokine in expanding and maintaining the Th17 population [13,113-115]. Furthermore, as mucosal DCs have functional properties different from peripheral DCs, our *in vitro* demonstrated effects have to be carefully interpreted. However, a recent publication demonstrated the existence of an intestinal CD11b⁺ DC population that is proposed to be responsible for the differentiation of Th17 cells *in vivo* [449]. These DCs are suggested to produce pro-inflammatory cytokines (IL-6, IL-23...) in response to bacterial flora, which, in combination with TGF β promote Th17 responses.

Another important *LL-pTmlL10* specific effect we could demonstrate is the strong inhibition of LPS-induced secretion of the chemokine MCP-1 in BM-DCs. The important role for MCP-1 during intestinal inflammation has been demonstrated in several studies in which markedly increased tissue levels were found in IBD patients [429-432] or in animal models of chronic colitis [433-436]. The effective suppression of MCP-1 release from inflammatory cells might be a valuable means to decrease infiltration and ameliorate IBD. Previously obtained data showed that *LL-pTmlL10* treatment of DSS-induced murine colitis resulted in a reduction of both infiltration and epithelial damage [198]. The ability to reduce inflammation-induced MCP-1 chemokine expression might thus be part of the mechanism that leads to the efficient healing of murine colitis by *LL-pTmlL10*. Although monocytes and macrophages are suggested to be the main source of MCP-1, secretion by epithelial cells [429,432], smooth muscle cells and endothelial cells has also been demonstrated in IBD

mucosa [430]. Furthermore, a role for IL-10 in the reduction of MCP-1 secretion by IL1 β -stimulated IECs has been demonstrated in an *in vitro* study [437]. Consequently, mIL-10 secreted by *LL-pTmIL10* may also target other MCP-1 secreting cell types in the gastro-intestinal tract.

Very interesting is the observation that CCR2, the receptor for MCP-1 is preferentially expressed on IL-17 producing T cells [438]. These $CCR2^+ CD4^+ T$ cells are significantly increased in the ileum of Crohn's disease patients [439]. Thus, MCP-1 reduction during oral treatment of murine colitis with *LL-pTmlL10* may lead to a reduced accumulation of the activated pathogenic $CCR2^+ CD4^+ Th17$ cells within the inflamed intestine, additionally contributing to the healing effect of *LL-pTmlL10*.

To verify if our *in vitro* results can indeed be translated to the proposed *in vivo* effects that help explain the mechanism of *LL-pTmlL10* treatment in murine models of colitis, additional experiments are required. Figure 24 summarizes possible future experiments that can be performed to confirm the influence of *LL-pTmlL10* on DC modulation *in vivo* in an experimental model of chronic colitis.

To conclude, our results in the second part of this study demonstrate that *LL-pTmlL10* can modulate functional properties of activated BM-DCs in the presence of LPS. We show that *LL-pTmlL10* in the presence of LPS inhibited MCP-1 secretion by BM-DCs and also their ability to induce $CD4^+$ Th17 cells. In addition, we have data suggesting that *LL-pTmlL10* in the presence of LPS could reduce the secretion of IL-23 by BM-DCs. Together our data suggest that *LL-pTmlL10* treatment during chronic colitis might lead to a diminished promotion of $CD4^+$ Th17 cells and a reduced accumulation of these pathogenic Th17 cells as well as other immune cells at the site of inflammation all contributing to the beneficial effects of *LL-pTmlL10* administration.



Figure 24 Overview of in vivo experiments.

First, mRNA expression levels of MCP-1, IL-12/IL-23p40 and IL-17 could be determined in colonic tissue of mock-treated, *LL-pTREX*-treated and *LL-pTmIL10*-treated mice. In addition, intestinal dendritic cells from these 3 groups could be isolated from the lamina propria and MLN. The cytokine secretion profile after *ex vivo* stimulation of these intestinal DCs could be compared to detect differences in MCP-1 and IL-12p70 levels between *LL-pTmIL10*-treated mice and the control groups. Furthermore, both T cell activating capacity of the intestinal DCs and the cytokine secretion profile of the activated T cells could be assessed and compared. The *in vivo* influence of intestinal DCs on T cells could also be assessed by directly studying the T cells isolated from MLN and spleen. We could determine the proliferative responses and the level of Th1, Th2 and Th17 cytokines after stimulating T cells derived from *LL-pTmIL10-*, *LL-pTREX-* and mock-treated mice with bacterial antigen. To define the importance of potential *LL-pTmIL10*-treated mice with chronic colitis.

PART IV: SAMENVATTING EN DISCUSSIE

Samenvatting en Discussie

Dendritische cellen (DC's) vormen een heterogene populatie van zogenaamde professioneel antigeenpresenterende cellen (APC's). Ze ontwikkelen zich vanuit de hematopoietische stamcellen van het beenmerg. Deze precursoren verspreiden zich via de bloedbaan naar de perifere weefsels waar ze zich ontwikkelen tot immature DC's. In het bijzonder op plaatsen waar de gastheer in contact kan komen met ziektekiemen, zoals de huid, de slijmvliezen en de mucosa van de darm, vormen deze immature DC's ware netwerken die de omgeving aftasten naar lichaamsvreemde antigenen. Ze maken dan ook deel uit van de eerste lijn van verdediging tegen binnendringende pathogenen. Nadat een immature DC in contact is gekomen met microbiële producten of andere 'gevaarsignalen, zoals inflammatoire cytokines, ondergaat hij verschillende wijzigingen die leiden tot zijn maturatie. De expressie van chemokine receptoren wijzigt waardoor de DC zal migreren naar de drainerende lymfeknopen of de milt. Tegelijkertijd vermindert de DC zijn antigeenopname en verhoogt hij de expressie van MHC-antigeen complexen en costimulatorische moleculen zoals CD40, CD80 en CD86 aan het celoppervlak. Deze fenotypisch mature DC bezit nu de capaciteit om een immuunantwoord op te wekken door antigeen te presenteren aan naïeve T cellen. De interactie tussen de DC en een T cel kan resulteren in immuniteit, onder de vorm van Th1, Th2 of Th17 responsen, of tolerantie door het opwekken van T cel anergie, apoptose of de inductie van Treg cellen. Het resultaat wordt in sterke mate beïnvloed door de expressie van costimulatorische moleculen of andere oppervlakte eiwitten en cytokines door de DC. Factoren die de expressie van deze effectormoleculen beïnvloeden zijn het subtype en activatiestatus van de DC, het betrokken antigeen en ook de aanwezige signalen in de omgeving van de DC tijdens zijn maturatie.

De gastro-intestinale mucosa vormt het grootste en meteen ook meest complexe onderdeel van het immuunstelsel. Door zijn continue interactie met de inhoud van het lumen heeft het de belangrijke taak om een onderscheid te maken tussen invaderende pathogene micro-organismen enerzijds en de steeds aanwezige microflora voedselantigenen anderzijds. normale en Terwijl tegen de eerstgenoemden een efficiënte immuunrespons vereist is om verdere verspreiding in de gastheer te voorkomen is het van groot belang dat tolerantie wordt opgewekt tegen de laatstgenoemde, onschadelijke groep antigenen. Hiervoor beschikt het intestinale immuunsysteem over gespecialiseerde immuuncellen en -organen [440]. Ook de intestinale DC's hebben unieke functies in vergelijking met DC's uit andere

perifere weefsels en vormen een belangrijke schakel in het onderhouden van de homeostase in de darm [53,100,144,146,152].

Inflammatoir darmlijden (IBD) is de algemene term voor een groep chronische ontstekingsziekten van de darm die aan de hand van klinische verschijnselen kunnen worden onderverdeeld in ulceratieve colitis en de ziekte van Crohn. Hoewel de precieze etiologie niet gekend is, vermoedt men dat naast genetische aanleg en omgevingsfactoren, een abnormale immuunreactie tegen de normale darmflora een belangrijke rol speelt in de oorzaak van IBD [164]. Zoals gezegd spelen DC's een belangrijke rol in mucosale tolerantie en het is dan ook niet verwonderlijk dat een aantal recente studies suggereren dat geactiveerde DC's cruciaal zijn bij het ontstaan en mogelijk ook het aandrijven van de inflammatie in IBD [175-178]. Hieruit kan besloten worden dat methodes om de activatie van DC's te onderdrukken zinvol kunnen zijn in de behandeling van IBD.

Lactococcus lactis is een niet-pathogene, niet-invasieve, niet-koloniserende gram-positieve melkzuurbacterie die voornamelijk gebruikt wordt voor de productie van gefermenteerde voeding. Steidler en medewerkers zijn de haalbaarheid nagegaan om via orale toediening van genetisch gewijzigde L. lactis, biologisch actieve, immuunmodulerende eiwitten af te leveren aan de mucosa [198,318,346]. Hierbij resulteerde intragastrische toediening van muis interleukine 10 (mIL-10) secreterende L. lactis in 50% reductie van inflammatie in natrium dextraan sulfaat (DSS) geïnduceerde chronische colitis. Bovendien verhinderde deze stam het ontstaan van spontane colitis in IL-10^{-/-} muizen [198]. Daarnaast resulteerde dagelijkse intragastrische toediening van trefoil factor secreterende L. lactis in een beschermend en therapeutisch effect tegen DSS geïnduceerde acute colitis en in een verbetering van chronische geïnstalleerde colitis in IL-10^{-/-} muizen [318]. Deze studies tonen, naast de mogelijkheid om L. lactis te gebruiken als leverancier van biologisch actieve eiwitten in de darm, ook de therapeutische efficiëntie van L. lactis aan in muismodellen voor IBD.

Ondanks de aangetoonde efficiëntie van de door *L. lactis* afgeleverde effectormoleculen mIL-10 en trefoil peptiden, zijn er nauwelijks data over de precieze werking van deze therapieën. Door hun aanwezigheid in de darm en hun immuunmodulerende rol vormen intestinale DC's een aantrekkelijk doelwit voor de door *L. lactis* aangeleverde therapeutische eiwitten. De *in vivo* studie van DC's wordt echter bemoeilijkt door de heterogeniteit van deze cellen en hun relatief lage aantallen. Daarom hebben wij in deze studie gebruik gemaakt van *in vitro*

126
gegenereerde beenmerg DC's (BM-DC's). Door toevoegen van GM-CSF en IL-4 kunnen op reproduceerbare wijze relatief grote aantallen DC's gegenereerd worden uit beenmergculturen [389,390]. Bovendien kunnen deze cellen op eenvoudige wijze sterk opgezuiverd worden. BM-DC's vormen dus een waardig en veel gebruikt alternatief voor de studie van DC's en hun functies.

De trefoil factor familie (TFF) is een familie van protease resistente peptiden die abundant gesecreteerd worden door mucus producerende cellen van het gastro-intestinale stelsel. Deze TFF, bestaande uit het gastrische TFF1, TFF2 en intestinale TFF3, dragen bij tot de bescherming en het herstel van gastro-intestinaal epitheel bij schade [289,366,367]. De signaalwegen die bij deze processen betrokken zijn, zijn nog maar gedeeltelijk ontrafeld [450]. Er is ook reeds bewijs geleverd dat het toedienen van trefoil peptiden een helend effect heeft in proefdiermodellen voor intestinale inflammatie [318,373,374,393] maar er is nog geen diepgaand onderzoek verricht naar het mechanisme waarmee deze peptiden de inflammatoire processen in de darm onderdrukken. De succesvolle behandeling van Th1 gemedieerde colitis in IL-10^{-/-} muizen met TFF secreterende *L. lactis* duidt op immuunmodulerende eigenschappen van de TFF naast hun functie in epitheliale restitutie [318]. Sommige recente publicaties wijzen ook sterk in de richting van een rol voor de TFF in immuunregulatie maar er werd nog geen directe invloed aangetoond [259,303,310,315,317,391].

In een eerste deel van dit werk wilden we een mogelijke directe invloed van recombinant muis TFF3 (mTFF3) op de functionele capaciteiten van DC's onderzoeken. Daarom hebben we het effect van mTFF3 op de door LPS geïnduceerde maturatie van BM-DC's bepaald. Hiervoor werden CD11c⁺ BM-DC's voorbehandeld met mTFF3 alvorens ze overnacht te stimuleren met LPS. Deze cellen werden vergeleken met controle BM-DC's die niet werden voorbehandeld. Het fenotype van de BM-DC's werd bepaald door middel van flow cytometrie. In de afwezigheid van LPS expresseerden onbehandelde en mTFF3 behandelde BM-DC's gelijkaardig lage hoeveelheden aan costimulatorische moleculen. Na LPS stimulatie zagen we een sterk opgereguleerde expressie van CD80, CD86, CD40 en MHC II en van de negatieve stimulator van T cellen, PD-L1 op de mTFF3 behandelde BM-DC's. De expressieniveaus verschilden bovendien niet van de LPS gestimuleerde controle BM-DC's. Uit deze data konden we dus besluiten dat mTFF3 behandeling van BM-DC's geen invloed heeft op de inductie van een matuur fenotype ten gevolge van LPS stimulatie. Zoals verwacht induceerde LPS ook de secretie van de pro-inflammatoire cytokines IL-12p70, TNF en IL-6, het chemokine MCP-1 evenals

van het anti-inflammatoire IL-10. Voorbehandeling van de BM-DC's met mTFF3 had geen enkele invloed op de secretie van deze eiwitten. In overeenstemming met deze data bleek mTFF3 ook niet in staat om de T cel stimulerende capaciteit van LPS gestimuleerde BM-DC's te wijzigen.

Resultaten bekomen met BM-DC's dienen steeds kritisch geëvalueerd te worden. Het is immers onduidelijk in welke mate deze *in vitro* populatie overeenstemt met de *in vivo* populatie die bestaat uit verschillende subtypes. Aangezien mTFF3 voornamelijk in de dunne en dikke darm gesecreteerd wordt, leek het ons mogelijk dat intestinale DC's responsief zijn voor dit peptide in tegenstelling tot DC's van andere weefsels. Om die hypothese te testen isoleerden we mucosale DC's uit de Peyerse platen (PP) en mesenteriale lymfeknopen (MLN) en vergeleken hun gevoeligheid aan LPS met en zonder mTFF3 voorbehandeling. Ons onderzoek toonde aan dat mTFF3 niet in staat is om specifiek mucosale DC's te moduleren. Na stimulatie met LPS konden immers geen verschillen waargenomen worden tussen mTFF3 behandelde en onbehandelde mucosale DC's op gebied van maturatie, cytokine secretie en capaciteit om allogene T cellen te stimuleren. Hetzelfde gold voor DC's uit de milt die als bron van niet-mucosale DC's werden gebruikt.

Cook en medewerkers hebben de aanwezigheid van de TFF in de milt en andere lymfoide organen aangetoond [259]. Uit onze resultaten kunnen we concluderen dat TFF peptiden het immuunsysteem niet kunnen moduleren via rechtstreekse interactie met DC's en dat hun aanwezigheid en functie in de immunologische organen dus op een andere manier verklaard moet worden. In een recente studie heeft men de immuuncellen van TFF2 deficiënte muizen vergeleken met deze van wild-type muizen [303]. Hierin werd aangetoond dat TFF2^{-/-} T cellen uit de milt na stimulatie sterker prolifereerden en meer IL-2 en IL-4 secreteerden dan wild-type T cellen. Anderzijds kon geen verschil worden waargenomen tussen de thymocyten van beide muizen. Ook de proliferatie van B cellen uit de milt was niet aangetast in TFF2 deficiënte muizen. Hieruit kan worden besloten dat mature T cellen het voornaamste doelwit vormen voor TFF2 regulatie in de milt. Elk TFF peptide heeft echter zijn eigen karakteristieken en individuele functies en het effect van mTFF3 op T cellen dient nog onderzocht te worden. In een andere studie toonden Giraud en medewerkers aan dat TFF2 in staat is om LPS geïnduceerde NO productie in monocyten te onderdrukken [310] wat kan leiden tot een verminderde aantrekking van immuuncellen. Ook dit effect op monocyten werd enkel voor TFF2 waargenomen waardoor het aannemelijk lijkt dat de effecten van TFF2 op het immuunsysteem, en DC's in het bijzonder, verschillend zijn van wat we hier besluiten voor mTFF3.

Hoewel wij geen directe modulatie van DC's konden aantonen met gezuiverd recombinant mTFF3 blijft het nog steeds mogelijk dat mTFF3 onrechtstreeks in staat is om de activatie van DC's te reguleren door een modulerende invloed op andere cellen uit te oefenen. Zo wordt communicatie van het epitheel naar de onderliggende DC's beschouwd als een belangrijk onderdeel van mucosale immuniteit [152,403]. Wij konden, net als in eerdere studies, TFF geïnduceerde COX-2 expressie aantonen in intestinale epitheelcellen [318,319,451]. Dit leidt o.a. tot de secretie van PGE₂ waarvan de anti-inflammatoire effecten op DC's reeds uitvoerig werden beschreven [322-325]. TFF peptiden zouden langs deze weg dus een belangrijke rol kunnen spelen in de signalisatie van het epitheel naar het immuunsysteem.

We hebben aangetoond dat recombinant mTFF3 niet in staat is om LPS geïnduceerde maturatie van DC's te beïnvloeden. Het is dus wel nog mogelijk dat mTFF3 de maturatie van DC's onder invloed van een andere stimulus dan LPS kan onderdrukken. Zoals eerder aangehaald beïnvloeden de DC's het type immuunrespons o.a. door polariserende cytokines te secreteren die de ontwikkeling van naïeve T cellen naar Th1, Th2, Th17 of Treg cellen sturen. Het cytokinepatroon van de DC's wordt onder andere bepaald door de pathogeen geassocieerde moleculaire patronen (PAMP's) die via 'Toll-like' receptoren (TLR's) de DC stimuleren [402]. Het is dus goed mogelijk dat mTFF3 in staat is om de functies van DC's te moduleren indien deze worden aangedreven door een ander PAMP (bvb. zymosan, peptidoglycaan of flagelline). Bovendien kunnen DC's tijdens een infectie additioneel beïnvloed worden door de aanwezige inflammatoire moleculen. Het is dus ook mogelijk dat wij geen mTFF3 gemedieerde effecten waargenomen hebben door de afwezigheid van een gepaste micro-omgeving. Het belang van de juiste stimulus werd nog eens onderstreept in de recente studie van TFF2^{-/-} muizen [303]. TFF2 deficiënte macrofagen bleken na stimulatie van de IL-1 receptor (IL-1R) significant hogere hoeveelheden IL-6 te produceren dan wild-type macrofagen. Anderzijds vertoonden deze macrofagen wel gelijkaardige reacties na LPS stimulatie wat wijst op een IL-1β/IL-1R specifieke hyperresponsiviteit in TFF2 deficiënte muizen en dit ondanks het feit dat de IL-1R signaalweg veel adaptor-moleculen deelt met de LPS/TLR4 signaalweg.

Uit dit alles hebben wij besloten dat recombinant mTFF3 niet in staat is om de LPS geïnduceerde maturatie van DC's te onderdrukken, wat suggereert dat mTFF3 zijn invloed op het immuunsysteem niet uitoefent via directe modulatie van de DC's. Niettegenstaande bestaat de mogelijkheid dat mTFF3 de maturatie van DC's reguleert in de aanwezigheid van een andere maturatiestimulus of van inflammatoire

moleculen of dat mTFF3 immuunantwoorden reguleert door het beïnvloeden van andere cellen.

In het tweede deel van dit werk wilden we de mogelijke invloed van de mIL-10 secreterende genetisch gewijzigde *L. lactis* stam (LL-pTmlL10) op het immuunsysteem nagaan. Een belangrijke fysiologische functie van IL-10 is het onderdrukken van de expressie van cytokines en andere gesecreteerde moleculen of oppervlakte-eiwitten door DC's. Dit heeft een verminderde capaciteit van deze DC's om het immuunsysteem te activeren tot gevolg, waardoor aan IL-10 een ontstekingsremmende werkina kan worden toegeschreven [121,122,125,235,245,401]. Wij hebben de hypothese gesteld dat lokale aflevering van IL-10 in de darm door recombinant L. lactis een regulerende invloed kan uitoefenen op de activatie van intestinale DC's door microbiële producten, zoals LPS, wat een gedeeltelijke verklaring zou kunnen zijn voor de vastgestelde onderdrukte inflammatie in de muismodellen voor IBD. Om deze mogelijkheid te onderzoeken zijn we het effect van LL-pTmlL10 op de functie van LPS gestimuleerde BM-DC's nagegaan. In vitro gegenereerde CD11c⁺ BM-DC's werden gedurende 5 uur voorbehandeld met LL-pTmlL10 of de controlestam LL-pTREX - dit is L. lactis getransformeerd met de uitgangsvector - en vervolgens al dan niet gestimuleerd met LPS. Na overnacht cultuur werden deze BM-DC's geoogst en vergeleken met onbehandelde, recombinant mIL-10 (rmIL-10) behandelde en LPS gestimuleerde BM-DC's. Een overzicht van de belangrijkste resultaten is weergegeven in Schema 1.

Zowel *LL-pTmlL10* als *LL-pTREX* induceerden lagere niveaus van MHC II en costimulatorische moleculen CD40, CD80 en CD86 in BM-DC's vergeleken met LPS gestimuleerde BM-DC's maar expresseerden meer van deze oppervlaktemoleculen dan onbehandelde of rmIL-10 behandelde BM-DC's. Deze resultaten zijn in overeenstemming met een recente studie die voor verschillende commensale melkzuurbacteriën een lagere inductie van DC maturatie aantoonde in vergelijking met LPS [422]. Wij stelden verder ook vast dat het door *LL-pTREX* of *LL-pTmlL10* geïnduceerde expressieniveau van PD-L1 niet verschilde van het door LPS geïnduceerde niveau. Expressie van deze T cel inhiberende molecule door DC's in combinatie met suboptimale expressie van costimulatorische moleculen, kan activatie van T cellen verhinderen [126]. Onze resultaten suggereren bijgevolg dat *L. lactis* een anti-inflammatoir fenotype induceert in vergelijking met het mature fenotype van met LPS geactiveerde BM-DC's slechts een zwakke T cel

130

proliferatie. Net als voor het fenotype was er hierbij geen verschil tussen de T cel inducerende capaciteit van *LL-pTREX* en *LL-pTmIL10* behandelde BM-DC's.



Schema 1 Overzicht van *LL-pTREX* en *LL-pTmIL10* geïnduceerde effecten in BM-DC's. Hypothetisch mogelijke mechanismen staan *schuingedrukt*.

Eerder onverwacht was de vaststelling dat de met LPS gestimuleerde BM-DC's die voorbehandeld waren met *LL-pTREX* of *LL-pTmIL10* een gereduceerde capaciteit vertoonden om allogene T cellen te stimuleren ten opzichte van onbehandelde met LPS gestimuleerde BM-DC's. Dit kon niet worden afgeleid van hun fenotype, dat gelijkaardig was aan dat van de onbehandelde met LPS gestimuleerde BM-DC's. Chang en medewerkers hebben eerder aangetoond dat DC's die tijdens de maturatie

met LPS aan exogeen IL-10 werden blootgesteld een sterk gereduceerde capaciteit vertoonden om naïeve CD4⁺ T cel proliferatie te induceren zonder evenwel de door LPS geïnduceerde fenotypische maturatie te onderdrukken [235]. Dit effect werd toegeschreven aan de IL-10 gemedieerde suppressie van anti-apoptotische eiwitten waardoor de mature DC's sneller in apoptose treden. In dezelfde studie werd ook aangetoond dat de aanwezigheid van endogeen IL-10 op autocriene wijze een gelijkaardige invloed uitoefent op maturerende DC's. In overeenstemming met deze studie konden ook wij aantonen dat LPS gestimuleerde BM-DC's behandeld met 10 ng/ml rmIL-10 een sterk gereduceerde capaciteit vertoonden om naïeve allogene CD4⁺ T cellen te stimuleren. De inductie van apoptose in mature DC's door de aanwezigheid van IL-10 zou ook een verklaring kunnen zijn voor de waarneming dat LPS gestimuleerde BM-DC's voorbehandeld met LL-pTREX of LL-pTmIL10 een de verminderde T cel activerende capaciteit vertoonden. *LL-pTREX* behandeling zorgde immers voor een significante verhoging van de endogene IL-10 expressie in LPS gestimuleerde BM-DC's vergeleken met onbehandelde door LPS gestimuleerde BM-DC's. Anderzijds zorgde voorbehandeling van de BM-DC's met LL-pTmlL10 voor de aanwezigheid van hoge concentraties exogeen IL-10 (2-5 ng/ml) tijdens LPS stimulatie. In deze co-cultuur kon de hoeveelheid endogeen IL-10 bijgevolg niet exact bepaald worden. In tegenstelling tot rmIL-10 reduceerde de voorbehandeling met *LL-pTREX of LL-pTmlL10* slechts gedeeltelijk de T cel activerende capaciteit van LPS gestimuleerde BM-DC's. Dit zou te maken kunnen hebben met het verschil aan IL-10 concentraties aanwezig tijdens LPS maturatie: rmIL-10 was aanwezig aan 10 ng/ml, LL-pTmIL10 secreteerde 2-5 ng/ml en in de aanwezigheid van LL-pTREX kon ± 1 ng/ml endogeen IL-10 worden gedetecteerd. Ondanks de verschillende hoeveelheden IL-10 werd echter geen verschil waargenomen in T cel stimulerende capaciteit van LL-pTREX of LL-pTmL10 behandelde LPS gestimuleerde BM-DC's. Een alternatieve verklaring zou daarom kunnen zijn dat de aanwezigheid van L. lactis het apoptose inducerend effect van IL-10 op DC's gedeeltelijk onderdrukt.

Een andere mogelijke verklaring voor de gereduceerde T cel activerende capaciteit van de met *L. lactis* behandelde, LPS gestimuleerde BM-DC's is dat deze BM-DC's in staat zijn om apoptose te induceren in de T cel populatie. Dit zou bovendien ook de efficiëntie verklaren waarmee zowel *LL-pTREX* als *LL-pTmlL10* behandelde, LPS gestimuleerde BM-DC's optreden als regulators en de proliferatie van naïeve allogene T cellen in aanwezigheid van mature, potente stimulator DC's, kunnen onderdrukken. Dit fenomeen kan immers niet uitgelegd worden aan de hand van apoptose inductie in de stimulator DC's door endogene IL-10 productie van de

regulator populatie, aangezien beschreven werd dat in mature DC's de expressie van de IL-10 receptor onderdrukt wordt waardoor deze ongevoelig zijn voor IL-10 [210,242].

Bovenstaande theorieën vragen uiteraard bijkomend onderzoek. Om de rol van endogeen en exogeen IL-10 te onderzoeken, kan een blokkerend anti-IL-10 antilichaam worden toegevoegd aan de co-culturen van BM-DC's met *LL-pTREX* of *LL-pTmIL10*. De eventuele inhiberende invloed van *L. lactis* op de apoptose inducerende werking van IL-10 kan onderzocht worden door exogeen rmIL-10 toe te voegen tijdens *LL-pTREX* behandeling van BM-DC's. Tenslotte bestaan er verscheidene mogelijkheden om de inductie van apoptose rechtstreeks aan te tonen in de BM-DC's of in de T cel populatie.

Zeuthen en medewerkers hebben recent aangetoond dat er een groot verschil is in de capaciteit van verschillende melkzuurbacteriën om TNF en IL-12 secretie te induceren in humane, uit monocyten ontwikkelde DC's. Niettegenstaande deze species-specifieke verschillen stelden zij vast dat beide cytokines steeds synergistisch werden opgereguleerd wanneer additioneel LPS werd toegevoegd [422]. In overeenstemming hiermee stelden ook wij een synergisme vast in de secretie van IL-12p70 wanneer de BM-DC's werden gestimuleerd met LPS in de aanwezigheid van LL-pTREX. Secretie van mIL-10 door LL-pTmIL10 bleek evenwel in staat om deze synergistische inductie van IL-12p70 te reduceren. Een algemeen beschreven oorzaak van mucosale inflammatie is een aberrante respons gericht tegen de commensale microflora en IL-12 productie door APC's is daarbij een belangrijke factor door het induceren van pathologische Th1 responsen [409,423]. We suggereren aan de hand van onze data dat orale toediening van LL-pTmlL10 tijdens inflammatie het stimulerend effect van de microflora op IL-12 secretie kan reduceren wat op zijn beurt zou kunnen leiden tot een verminderde Th1 gemedieerde inflammatie.

IL-12p70 is een heterodimeer cytokine, bestaande uit de subunits IL-12p35 en IL-12p40. De p40 subunit van IL-12 maakt ook deel uit van een ander pro-inflammatoir cytokine, het heterodimere IL-23 [9]. Dit cytokine wordt eveneens door DC's tot expressie gebracht na contact met microbiële producten [9,452]. Om na te gaan of de gereduceerde expressie van IL-12p70 in *LL-pTmIL10* behandelde BM-DC's ook een verschil in IL-23 expressie impliceert, zijn we het effect van *LL-pTmIL10* op de mRNA expressie van de subunits IL-12p35, IL-12/IL-23p40 en IL-23p19 nagegaan na LPS stimulatie. Zowel het synergistische effect van LPS en *L. lactis* op IL-12p70 secretie als de inhibitie hiervan in aanwezigheid van

LL-pTmlL10 werden weerspiegeld in de mRNA expressieniveaus van IL-12/IL-23p40. Daarentegen waren de IL-12p35 mRNA expressieniveaus van onbehandelde, LL-pTREX behandelde en LL-pTmlL10 behandelde BM-DC's gestimuleerd met LPS, gelijkaardig. Dit is in overeenstemming met een eerdere studie in humane DC's waarin, in tegenstelling tot LPS, het gram-positieve TLR2 ligand peptidoglycaan niet in staat bleek om IL-12p35 mRNA expressie te induceren [99]. In vergelijking met LPS inductie bleek het mRNA expressieniveau van de IL-23p19 subunit sterk geïnduceerd te worden door de gram-positieve L. lactis bacterie in de LPS gestimuleerde BM-DC's. Dit is ook in overeenstemming met eerdere studies in DC's die aantoonden dat peptidoglycaan een sterkere capaciteit heeft dan LPS om IL-23p19 mRNA te induceren [98,99]. Zoals reeds gezegd resulteert LL-pTmlL10 voorbehandeling van LPS gestimuleerde BM-DC's wel in een sterk verminderde inductie van IL-12/IL-23p40 mRNA transcripten in vergelijking met LL-pTREX voorbehandeling. Dit suggereert dat in de *LL-pTmlL10* behandelde BM-DC's de p40 subunit een limiterende factor vormt in de vorming van het IL-23 complex, wat dus een gereduceerde secretie van dit cytokine zou kunnen veroorzaken.

IL-23 ondersteunt de proliferatie van een nieuwe subset IL-17 producerende T helper cellen, de Th17 cellen [441] en verscheidene studies toonden reeds het belang aan van IL-23/IL-17 gemedieerde inflammatie in de pathogenese van IBD [427,442-444,446,448]. Uit onze resultaten bleek dat BM-DC's gestimuleerd met LPS in aanwezigheid van *L. lactis*, T cellen aanzetten tot de productie van IL-17. Secretie van mIL-10 door *LL-pTmIL10* bleek evenwel een onderdrukkend effect te hebben op deze Th17 polariserende capaciteit. Verminderde secretie van IL-23 door deze *LL-pTmIL10* behandelde BM-DC's vergeleken met de *LL-pTREX* behandelde BM-DC's zou een verklaring kunnen zijn voor dit fenomeen.

Een drijvende factor tijdens inflammatie is de activatie van intestinale DC's door zowel gram-negatieve LPS als gram-positieve microbiële stimuli. Vermoedelijk, en vergelijkbaar met onze *in vitro* data waarbij we synergistische effecten van *LL-pTREX* en LPS op BM-DC's waarnamen, leidt dit o.a. tot een synergistische inductie van IL-23, die op zijn beurt kan zorgen voor sterke Th17 polarisatie. Uit onze data menen wij te kunnen veronderstellen dat *LL-pTmlL10* in staat is om deze synergistische inductie van IL-23 te onderdrukken, resulterend in een verminderde Th17 gemedieerde pathologie.

IL-23 heeft naast zijn effect op T cellen ook sterke effecten op cellen van het aangeboren immuunsysteem. Zo induceert het de productie van pro-inflammatoire cytokines zoals IL-1, IL-6 en TNF in macrofagen en monocyten [417,426]. De *in vivo*

studie van Hue en medewerkers toonde bovendien aan dat tijdens inflammatie het door intestinale bacteriën geïnduceerde IL-23 onder andere ook granulocyten en monocyten aanzet tot de productie van IL-17. De onderdrukking van microbieel geïnduceerd IL-23 door *LL-pTmIL10* zou dus naast de T cel gemedieerde ook aangeboren pro-inflammatoire immuunresponsen kunnen inhiberen.

Uit onze data konden we verder ook besluiten dat *LL-pTmlL10* in staat is om de LPS geïnduceerde secretie van het chemokine MCP-1 in BM-DC's te onderdrukken. IBD wordt gekarakteriseerd door een continue infiltratie van de ontstoken weefsels door inflammatoire cellen uit de circulatie en chemokines spelen in dit proces een belangrijke rol [428]. Verscheidene studies beschrijven een verhoogde expressie van MCP-1 in geïnflammeerd weefsel van IBD patiënten [429-432] en in proefdiermodellen van chronische colitis [433-436], wat erop wijst dat de onderdrukking van MCP-1 secretie door inflammatoire cellen een efficiënte manier zou kunnen zijn om infiltratie te verminderen en IBD te verbeteren. De behandeling van chronische colitis met LL-pTmIL10 resulteerde naast een vermindering van de epitheliale schade ook in een verminderde infiltratie van inflammatoire cellen [198]. De eigenschap van LL-pTmlL10 om inflammatie geïnduceerde secretie van MCP-1 te onderdrukken zou dus deel kunnen uitmaken van het mechanisme dat leidt tot de genezing van colitis. Monocyten en macrofagen vormen de belangrijkste bron van MCP-1. Daarnaast werd echter ook expressie van dit chemokine door epitheelcellen, gladde spiercellen en endotheelcellen in IBD mucosa aangetoond [429,430,432]. In een in vitro studie in intestinale epitheelcellen demonstreerde men bovendien een rol voor IL-10 in de onderdrukking van IL-1 β geïnduceerde MCP-1 secretie [437]. Naast DC's zouden bijgevolg ook andere MCP-1 secretende cellen in de darm het doelwit kunnen zijn van het door LL-pTmlL10 gesecreteerde mlL-10.

Een interessante waarneming is de preferentiële expressie van CCR2, de receptor voor MCP-1, op IL-17 producerende T cellen [438]. In het ileum van Crohn patiënten werd bovendien een significante toename van deze CCR2⁺ CD4⁺ T cellen vastgesteld [439]. Bijgevolg zou een daling van MCP-1 tijdens de orale behandeling met *LL-pTmIL10* ook kunnen leiden tot een verminderde accumulatie van geactiveerde pathogene CCR2⁺ CD4⁺ Th17 cellen in de geïnflammeerde darm wat additioneel zou kunnen bijdragen aan het genezend effect van deze stam.

We moeten ons wel bewust blijven van het feit dat onze *in vitro* bekomen data niet noodzakelijk overeenstemmen met de *in vivo* situatie. Zo werd onlangs aangetoond dat IL-23, ondanks zijn *in vitro* capaciteit om Th17 cellen te induceren, niet cruciaal is voor de *in vivo* differentiatie van deze populatie [113-115]. Ook moeten we rekening houden met het bestaan van gespecialiseerde mucosale DC's wiens functionele capaciteiten kunnen verschillen van perifere en dus ook van *in vitro* gegenereerde DC's. Om na te gaan of *LL-pTmlL10* ook *in vivo* in staat is om de functies van DC's te moduleren en of dit bijdraagt tot de therapeutische effecten van deze stam in muismodellen voor chronische colitis, zijn bijkomende experimenten noodzakelijk. Schema 2 is een overzicht van mogelijke *in vivo* experimenten die hierover uitsluitsel kunnen geven.

Samenvattend hebben wij in het tweede deel van dit werk aangetoond dat *LL-pTmlL10* een modulerend effect kan uitoefenen op de functionele karakteristieken van LPS geactiveerde BM-DC's. In de aanwezigheid van LPS inhibeert *LL-pTmlL10* de secretie van MCP-1 door BM-DC's en hun capaciteit om CD4⁺ Th17 cellen te induceren. In een bredere zin suggereren onze data bijgevolg dat *LL-pTmlL10* behandeling tijdens chronische colitis zou kunnen leiden tot een verminderde ontwikkeling van IL-17 producerende CD4⁺ T cellen en een verminderde accumulatie van deze pathogene Th17 cellen en andere immuuncellen in het geïnflammeerde weefsel wat collectief zou kunnen bijdragen tot de gunstige effecten van *LL-pTmlL10* therapie.



Schema 2 Mogelijke in vivo experimenten.

In een muismodel voor chronische colitis kunnen colonweefsels geïsoleerd worden van mock, LL-pTREX of LL-pTmIL10 behandelde muizen. De mRNA expressieniveaus van MCP-1 maar ook van IL-12/IL-23p40 en IL-17 kunnen dan worden vergeleken tussen de verschillende groepen. Daarnaast kunnen we van deze 3 groepen ook de DC's uit de lamina propria en mesenteriale lymfeknopen isoleren voor verdere studie. Het cytokine profiel na ex vivo stimulatie zou kunnen worden vergeleken om verschillen te detecteren in MCP-1 en IL-12p70 secretie tussen de DC's van LL-pTmlL10 behandelde muizen en de 2 controle groepen. Daarnaast kunnen deze DC's ook getest worden op hun T cel activerende capaciteit en kan worden gekeken naar cytokine secretie van de geactiveerde T cellen. Een indicatie voor de invloed van de intestinale DC's op T cellen in vivo kan eventueel ook worden nagegaan door het analyseren van T cellen geïsoleerd uit de verschillend behandelde muizen. We denken hierbij aan een vergelijking van de proliferatieve respons en de secretie van Th1, Th2 of Th17 cytokines na stimuleren met bacterieel antigeen. Om het belang van mogelijke LL-pTmlL10 gemedieerde effecten op DC's te bepalen, kan tenslotte overgegaan worden tot een adoptieve transfer van intestinale DC's uit LL-pTmlL10 behandelde muizen naar muizen met chronische colitis.

PART V: REFERENCES

- [1] Delves, P.J. and Roitt, I.M. The immune system. Second of two parts. *N Engl J Med* 2000;343:108-17.
- [2] Delves, P.J. and Roitt, I.M. The immune system. First of two parts. *N Engl J Med* 2000;343:37-49.
- [3] Mills, K.H. Regulatory T cells: friend or foe in immunity to infection? *Nat Rev Immunol* 2004;4:841-55.
- [4] Mosmann, T.R., Cherwinski, H., Bond, M.W., Giedlin, M.A. and Coffman, R.L. Two types of murine helper T cell clone. I. Definition according to profiles of lymphokine activities and secreted proteins. *J Immunol* 1986;136:2348-57.
- [5] Abbas, A.K., Murphy, K.M. and Sher, A. Functional diversity of helper T lymphocytes. *Nature* 1996;383:787-93.
- [6] Kay, A.B. Allergy and allergic diseases. First of two parts. *N Engl J Med* 2001;344:30-7.
- [7] Frostegard, J., Ulfgren, A.K., Nyberg, P., Hedin, U., Swedenborg, J., Andersson, U. and Hansson, G.K. Cytokine expression in advanced human atherosclerotic plaques: dominance of pro-inflammatory (Th1) and macrophage-stimulating cytokines. *Atherosclerosis* 1999;145:33-43.
- [8] Romagnani, S. The Th1/Th2 paradigm. Immunol Today 1997;18:263-6.
- [9] Oppmann, B., Lesley, R., Blom, B., Timans, J.C., Xu, Y., Hunte, B., Vega, F. et al. Novel p19 protein engages IL-12p40 to form a cytokine, IL-23, with biological activities similar as well as distinct from IL-12. *Immunity* 2000;13:715-25.
- [10] Zhang, G.X., Gran, B., Yu, S., Li, J., Siglienti, I., Chen, X., Kamoun, M. et al. Induction of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis in IL-12 receptor-beta 2-deficient mice: IL-12 responsiveness is not required in the pathogenesis of inflammatory demyelination in the central nervous system. *J Immunol* 2003;170:2153-60.
- [11] Murphy, C.A., Langrish, C.L., Chen, Y., Blumenschein, W., McClanahan, T., Kastelein, R.A., Sedgwick, J.D. et al. Divergent pro- and antiinflammatory roles for IL-23 and IL-12 in joint autoimmune inflammation. J Exp Med 2003;198:1951-7.
- [12] Cua, D.J., Sherlock, J., Chen, Y., Murphy, C.A., Joyce, B., Seymour, B., Lucian, L. et al. Interleukin-23 rather than interleukin-12 is the critical cytokine for autoimmune inflammation of the brain. *Nature* 2003;421:744-8.
- [13] Aggarwal, S., Ghilardi, N., Xie, M.H., de Sauvage, F.J. and Gurney, A.L. Interleukin-23 promotes a distinct CD4 T cell activation state characterized by the production of interleukin-17. *J Biol Chem* 2003;278:1910-4.
- [14] Nakae, S., Nambu, A., Sudo, K. and Iwakura, Y. Suppression of immune induction of collagen-induced arthritis in IL-17-deficient mice. *J Immunol* 2003;171:6173-7.
- [15] Koenders, M.I., Lubberts, E., Oppers-Walgreen, B., van den Bersselaar, L., Helsen, M.M., Di Padova, F.E., Boots, A.M. et al. Blocking of interleukin-17 during reactivation of experimental arthritis prevents joint inflammation and bone erosion by decreasing RANKL and interleukin-1. *Am J Pathol* 2005;167:141-9.
- [16] Koenders, M.I., Lubberts, E., Oppers-Walgreen, B., van den Bersselaar, L., Helsen, M.M., Kolls, J.K., Joosten, L.A. et al. Induction of cartilage damage by overexpression of T cell interleukin-17A in experimental arthritis in mice deficient in interleukin-1. *Arthritis Rheum* 2005;52:975-83.
- [17] Lubberts, E., Joosten, L.A., Oppers, B., van den Bersselaar, L., Coenen-de Roo, C.J., Kolls, J.K., Schwarzenberger, P. et al. IL-1-independent role of IL-17 in synovial inflammation and joint destruction during collagen-induced arthritis. *J Immunol* 2001;167:1004-13.
- [18] Lubberts, E., Koenders, M.I., Oppers-Walgreen, B., van den Bersselaar, L., Coenende Roo, C.J., Joosten, L.A. and van den Berg, W.B. Treatment with a neutralizing anti-murine interleukin-17 antibody after the onset of collagen-induced arthritis reduces joint inflammation, cartilage destruction, and bone erosion. *Arthritis Rheum* 2004;50:650-9.
- [19] O'Garra, A. and Vieira, P. Regulatory T cells and mechanisms of immune system control. *Nat Med* 2004;10:801-5.
- [20] Sakaguchi, S., Sakaguchi, N., Asano, M., Itoh, M. and Toda, M. Immunologic self-tolerance maintained by activated T cells expressing IL-2 receptor alpha-chains (CD25). Breakdown of a single mechanism of self-tolerance causes various autoimmune diseases. *J Immunol* 1995;155:1151-64.

- [21] Hori, S., Nomura, T. and Sakaguchi, S. Control of regulatory T cell development by the transcription factor Foxp3. *Science* 2003;299:1057-61.
- [22] Hara, M., Kingsley, C.I., Niimi, M., Read, S., Turvey, S.E., Bushell, A.R., Morris, P.J. et al. IL-10 is required for regulatory T cells to mediate tolerance to alloantigens in vivo. J Immunol 2001;166:3789-96.
- [23] Read, S., Malmstrom, V. and Powrie, F. Cytotoxic T lymphocyte-associated antigen 4 plays an essential role in the function of CD25(+)CD4(+) regulatory cells that control intestinal inflammation. J Exp Med 2000;192:295-302.
- [24] Powrie, F., Leach, M.W., Mauze, S., Caddle, L.B. and Coffman, R.L. Phenotypically distinct subsets of CD4+ T cells induce or protect from chronic intestinal inflammation in C. B-17 scid mice. *Int Immunol* 1993;5:1461-71.
- [25] Sundstedt, A., O'Neill, E.J., Nicolson, K.S. and Wraith, D.C. Role for IL-10 in suppression mediated by peptide-induced regulatory T cells in vivo. *J Immunol* 2003;170:1240-8.
- [26] Groux, H., O'Garra, A., Bigler, M., Rouleau, M., Antonenko, S., de Vries, J.E. and Roncarolo, M.G. A CD4+ T-cell subset inhibits antigen-specific T-cell responses and prevents colitis. *Nature* 1997;389:737-42.
- [27] Cottrez, F., Hurst, S.D., Coffman, R.L. and Groux, H. T regulatory cells 1 inhibit a Th2-specific response in vivo. *J Immunol* 2000;165:4848-53.
- [28] Levings, M.K., Bacchetta, R., Schulz, U. and Roncarolo, M.G. The role of IL-10 and TGF-beta in the differentiation and effector function of T regulatory cells. *Int Arch Allergy Immunol* 2002;129:263-76.
- [29] Chen, Y., Kuchroo, V.K., Inobe, J., Hafler, D.A. and Weiner, H.L. Regulatory T cell clones induced by oral tolerance: suppression of autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Science* 1994;265:1237-40.
- [30] Coffman, R.L., Lebman, D.A. and Shrader, B. Transforming growth factor beta specifically enhances IgA production by lipopolysaccharide-stimulated murine B lymphocytes. J Exp Med 1989;170:1039-44.
- [31] Strober, W., Fuss, I.J. and Blumberg, R.S. The immunology of mucosal models of inflammation. *Annu Rev Immunol* 2002;20:495-549.
- [32] Suri-Payer, E. and Cantor, H. Differential cytokine requirements for regulation of autoimmune gastritis and colitis by CD4(+)CD25(+) T cells. *J Autoimmun* 2001;16:115-23.
- [33] McHugh, R.S., Whitters, M.J., Piccirillo, C.A., Young, D.A., Shevach, E.M., Collins, M. and Byrne, M.C. CD4(+)CD25(+) immunoregulatory T cells: gene expression analysis reveals a functional role for the glucocorticoid-induced TNF receptor. *Immunity* 2002;16:311-23.
- [34] Ostroukhova, M., Seguin-Devaux, C., Oriss, T.B., Dixon-McCarthy, B., Yang, L., Ameredes, B.T., Corcoran, T.E. et al. Tolerance induced by inhaled antigen involves CD4(+) T cells expressing membrane-bound TGF-beta and FOXP3. *J Clin Invest* 2004;114:28-38.
- [35] Nakamura, K., Kitani, A. and Strober, W. Cell contact-dependent immunosuppression by CD4(+)CD25(+) regulatory T cells is mediated by cell surface-bound transforming growth factor beta. J Exp Med 2001;194:629-44.
- [36] Barthlott, T., Kassiotis, G. and Stockinger, B. T cell regulation as a side effect of homeostasis and competition. *J Exp Med* 2003;197:451-60.
- [37] Steinman, R.M. and Cohn, Z.A. Identification of a novel cell type in peripheral lymphoid organs of mice. I. Morphology, quantitation, tissue distribution. *J Exp Med* 1973;137:1142-62.
- [38] Inaba, K., Inaba, M., Deguchi, M., Hagi, K., Yasumizu, R., Ikehara, S., Muramatsu, S. et al. Granulocytes, macrophages, and dendritic cells arise from a common major histocompatibility complex class II-negative progenitor in mouse bone marrow. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 1993;90:3038-42.
- [39] Ardavin, C., Wu, L., Li, C.L. and Shortman, K. Thymic dendritic cells and T cells develop simultaneously in the thymus from a common precursor population. *Nature* 1993;362:761-3.
- [40] Traver, D., Akashi, K., Manz, M., Merad, M., Miyamoto, T., Engleman, E.G. and Weissman, I.L. Development of CD8alpha-positive dendritic cells from a common myeloid progenitor. *Science* 2000;290:2152-4.

- [41] Manz, M.G., Traver, D., Miyamoto, T., Weissman, I.L. and Akashi, K. Dendritic cell potentials of early lymphoid and myeloid progenitors. *Blood* 2001;97:3333-41.
- [42] Wu, L., D'Amico, A., Hochrein, H., O'Keeffe, M., Shortman, K. and Lucas, K. Development of thymic and splenic dendritic cell populations from different hemopoietic precursors. *Blood* 2001;98:3376-82.
- [43] Graf, T. Differentiation plasticity of hematopoietic cells. *Blood* 2002;99:3089-101.
- [44] Karsunky, H., Merad, M., Cozzio, A., Weissman, I.L. and Manz, M.G. Flt3 ligand regulates dendritic cell development from Flt3+ lymphoid and myeloid-committed progenitors to Flt3+ dendritic cells in vivo. J Exp Med 2003;198:305-13.
- [45] D'Amico, A. and Wu, L. The early progenitors of mouse dendritic cells and plasmacytoid predendritic cells are within the bone marrow hemopoietic precursors expressing Flt3. J Exp Med 2003;198:293-303.
- [46] del Hoyo, G.M., Martin, P., Vargas, H.H., Ruiz, S., Arias, C.F. and Ardavin, C. Characterization of a common precursor population for dendritic cells. *Nature* 2002;415:1043-7.
- [47] Balazs, M., Martin, F., Zhou, T. and Kearney, J. Blood dendritic cells interact with splenic marginal zone B cells to initiate T-independent immune responses. *Immunity* 2002;17:341-52.
- [48] Yoneyama, H., Matsuno, K., Zhang, Y., Murai, M., Itakura, M., Ishikawa, S., Hasegawa, G. et al. Regulation by chemokines of circulating dendritic cell precursors, and the formation of portal tract-associated lymphoid tissue, in a granulomatous liver disease. J Exp Med 2001;193:35-49.
- [49] Ardavin, C. Origin, precursors and differentiation of mouse dendritic cells. Nat Rev Immunol 2003;3:582-90.
- [50] Shortman, K. and Liu, Y.J. Mouse and human dendritic cell subtypes. *Nat Rev Immunol* 2002;2:151-61.
- [51] Martin, P., del Hoyo, G.M., Anjuere, F., Ruiz, S.R., Arias, C.F., Marin, A.R. and Ardavin, C. Concept of lymphoid versus myeloid dendritic cell lineages revisited: both CD8alpha(-) and CD8alpha(+) dendritic cells are generated from CD4(low) lymphoidcommitted precursors. *Blood* 2000;96:2511-9.
- [52] De Smedt, T., Pajak, B., Muraille, E., Lespagnard, L., Heinen, E., De Baetselier, P., Urbain, J. et al. Regulation of dendritic cell numbers and maturation by lipopolysaccharide in vivo. *J Exp Med* 1996;184:1413-24.
- [53] Iwasaki, A. and Kelsall, B.L. Localization of distinct Peyer's patch dendritic cell subsets and their recruitment by chemokines macrophage inflammatory protein (MIP)-3alpha, MIP-3beta, and secondary lymphoid organ chemokine. *J Exp Med* 2000;191:1381-94.
- [54] Reis e Sousa, C., Hieny, S., Scharton-Kersten, T., Jankovic, D., Charest, H., Germain, R.N. and Sher, A. In vivo microbial stimulation induces rapid CD40 ligandindependent production of interleukin 12 by dendritic cells and their redistribution to T cell areas. *J Exp Med* 1997;186:1819-29.
- [55] Hochrein, H., Shortman, K., Vremec, D., Scott, B., Hertzog, P. and O'Keeffe, M. Differential production of IL-12, IFN-alpha, and IFN-gamma by mouse dendritic cell subsets. *J Immunol* 2001;166:5448-55.
- [56] Kamath, A.T., Henri, S., Battye, F., Tough, D.F. and Shortman, K. Developmental kinetics and lifespan of dendritic cells in mouse lymphoid organs. *Blood* 2002;100:1734-41.
- [57] Facchetti, F., de Wolf-Peeters, C., Mason, D.Y., Pulford, K., van den Oord, J.J. and Desmet, V.J. Plasmacytoid T cells. Immunohistochemical evidence for their monocyte/macrophage origin. *Am J Pathol* 1988;133:15-21.
- [58] Colonna, M., Krug, A. and Cella, M. Interferon-producing cells: on the front line in immune responses against pathogens. *Curr Opin Immunol* 2002;14:373-9.
- [59] Liu, Y.J. IPC: professional type 1 interferon-producing cells and plasmacytoid dendritic cell precursors. *Annu Rev Immunol* 2005;23:275-306.
- [60] Asselin-Paturel, C., Boonstra, A., Dalod, M., Durand, I., Yessaad, N., Dezutter-Dambuyant, C., Vicari, A. et al. Mouse type I IFN-producing cells are immature APCs with plasmacytoid morphology. *Nat Immunol* 2001;2:1144-50.
- [61] Henri, S., Vremec, D., Kamath, A., Waithman, J., Williams, S., Benoist, C., Burnham, K. et al. The dendritic cell populations of mouse lymph nodes. *J Immunol* 2001;167:741-8.

- [62] Sallusto, F. and Lanzavecchia, A. Efficient presentation of soluble antigen by cultured human dendritic cells is maintained by granulocyte/macrophage colony-stimulating factor plus interleukin 4 and downregulated by tumor necrosis factor alpha. *J Exp Med* 1994;179:1109-18.
- [63] Grouard, G., Rissoan, M.C., Filgueira, L., Durand, I., Banchereau, J. and Liu, Y.J. The enigmatic plasmacytoid T cells develop into dendritic cells with interleukin (IL)-3 and CD40-ligand. J Exp Med 1997;185:1101-11.
- [64] Siegal, F.P., Kadowaki, N., Shodell, M., Fitzgerald-Bocarsly, P.A., Shah, K., Ho, S., Antonenko, S. et al. The nature of the principal type 1 interferon-producing cells in human blood. *Science* 1999;284:1835-7.
- [65] Geijtenbeek, T.B., van Vliet, S.J., Engering, A., t Hart, B.A. and van Kooyk, Y. Selfand nonself-recognition by C-type lectins on dendritic cells. *Annu Rev Immunol* 2004;22:33-54.
- [66] Gordon, S. Pattern recognition receptors: doubling up for the innate immune response. *Cell* 2002;111:927-30.
- [67] Sallusto, F., Schaerli, P., Loetscher, P., Schaniel, C., Lenig, D., Mackay, C.R., Qin, S. et al. Rapid and coordinated switch in chemokine receptor expression during dendritic cell maturation. *Eur J Immunol* 1998;28:2760-9.
- [68] Cella, M., Engering, A., Pinet, V., Pieters, J. and Lanzavecchia, A. Inflammatory stimuli induce accumulation of MHC class II complexes on dendritic cells. *Nature* 1997;388:782-7.
- [69] Banchereau, J. and Steinman, R.M. Dendritic cells and the control of immunity. *Nature* 1998;392:245-52.
- [70] Kapsenberg, M.L. Dendritic-cell control of pathogen-driven T-cell polarization. *Nat Rev Immunol* 2003;3:984-93.
- [71] Rissoan, M.C., Soumelis, V., Kadowaki, N., Grouard, G., Briere, F., de Waal Malefyt, R. and Liu, Y.J. Reciprocal control of T helper cell and dendritic cell differentiation. *Science* 1999;283:1183-6.
- [72] Pulendran, B., Smith, J.L., Caspary, G., Brasel, K., Pettit, D., Maraskovsky, E. and Maliszewski, C.R. Distinct dendritic cell subsets differentially regulate the class of immune response in vivo. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 1999;96:1036-41.
- [73] Maldonado-Lopez, R., De Smedt, T., Michel, P., Godfroid, J., Pajak, B., Heirman, C., Thielemans, K. et al. CD8alpha+ and CD8alpha- subclasses of dendritic cells direct the development of distinct T helper cells in vivo. J Exp Med 1999;189:587-92.
- [74] Bailey, S.L., Schreiner, B., McMahon, E.J. and Miller, S.D. CNS myeloid DCs presenting endogenous myelin peptides 'preferentially' polarize CD4+ T(H)-17 cells in relapsing EAE. *Nat Immunol* 2007;8:172-80.
- [75] Boonstra, A., Asselin-Paturel, C., Gilliet, M., Crain, C., Trinchieri, G., Liu, Y.J. and O'Garra, A. Flexibility of mouse classical and plasmacytoid-derived dendritic cells in directing T helper type 1 and 2 cell development: dependency on antigen dose and differential toll-like receptor ligation. *J Exp Med* 2003;197:101-9.
- [76] de Jong, E.C., Vieira, P.L., Kalinski, P., Schuitemaker, J.H., Tanaka, Y., Wierenga, E.A., Yazdanbakhsh, M. et al. Microbial compounds selectively induce Th1 cellpromoting or Th2 cell-promoting dendritic cells in vitro with diverse th cell-polarizing signals. *J Immunol* 2002;168:1704-9.
- [77] Cella, M., Facchetti, F., Lanzavecchia, A. and Colonna, M. Plasmacytoid dendritic cells activated by influenza virus and CD40L drive a potent TH1 polarization. *Nat Immunol* 2000;1:305-10.
- [78] Ito, T., Amakawa, R., Kaisho, T., Hemmi, H., Tajima, K., Uehira, K., Ozaki, Y. et al. Interferon-alpha and interleukin-12 are induced differentially by Toll-like receptor 7 ligands in human blood dendritic cell subsets. *J Exp Med* 2002;195:1507-12.
- [79] Penna, G., Vulcano, M., Roncari, A., Facchetti, F., Sozzani, S. and Adorini, L. Cutting edge: differential chemokine production by myeloid and plasmacytoid dendritic cells. *J Immunol* 2002;169:6673-6.
- [80] Krug, A., Rothenfusser, S., Hornung, V., Jahrsdorfer, B., Blackwell, S., Ballas, Z.K., Endres, S. et al. Identification of CpG oligonucleotide sequences with high induction of IFN-alpha/beta in plasmacytoid dendritic cells. *Eur J Immunol* 2001;31:2154-63.
- [81] Jarrossay, D., Napolitani, G., Colonna, M., Sallusto, F. and Lanzavecchia, A. Specialization and complementarity in microbial molecule recognition by human myeloid and plasmacytoid dendritic cells. *Eur J Immunol* 2001;31:3388-93.

- [82] Kadowaki, N., Ho, S., Antonenko, S., Malefyt, R.W., Kastelein, R.A., Bazan, F. and Liu, Y.J. Subsets of human dendritic cell precursors express different toll-like receptors and respond to different microbial antigens. *J Exp Med* 2001;194:863-9.
- [83] Edwards, A.D., Diebold, S.S., Slack, E.M., Tomizawa, H., Hemmi, H., Kaisho, T., Akira, S. et al. Toll-like receptor expression in murine DC subsets: lack of TLR7 expression by CD8 alpha+ DC correlates with unresponsiveness to imidazoguinolines. *Eur J Immunol* 2003;33:827-33.
- [84] Takeda, K., Kaisho, T. and Akira, S. Toll-like receptors. *Annu Rev Immunol* 2003;21:335-76.
- [85] Akira, S. and Takeda, K. Toll-like receptor signalling. *Nat Rev Immunol* 2004;4:499-511.
- [86] Huang, Q., Liu, D., Majewski, P., Schulte, L.C., Korn, J.M., Young, R.A., Lander, E.S. et al. The plasticity of dendritic cell responses to pathogens and their components. *Science* 2001;294:870-5.
- [87] Doxsee, C.L., Riter, T.R., Reiter, M.J., Gibson, S.J., Vasilakos, J.P. and Kedl, R.M. The immune response modifier and Toll-like receptor 7 agonist S-27609 selectively induces IL-12 and TNF-alpha production in CD11c+CD11b+CD8- dendritic cells. J Immunol 2003;171:1156-63.
- [88] Pulendran, B., Kumar, P., Cutler, C.W., Mohamadzadeh, M., Van Dyke, T. and Banchereau, J. Lipopolysaccharides from distinct pathogens induce different classes of immune responses in vivo. *J Immunol* 2001;167:5067-76.
- [89] Pulendran, B., Lingappa, J., Kennedy, M.K., Smith, J., Teepe, M., Rudensky, A., Maliszewski, C.R. et al. Developmental pathways of dendritic cells in vivo: distinct function, phenotype, and localization of dendritic cell subsets in FLT3 ligand-treated mice. *J Immunol* 1997;159:2222-31.
- [90] Shah, J.A., Darrah, P.A., Ambrozak, D.R., Turon, T.N., Mendez, S., Kirman, J., Wu, C.Y. et al. Dendritic cells are responsible for the capacity of CpG oligodeoxynucleotides to act as an adjuvant for protective vaccine immunity against Leishmania major in mice. J Exp Med 2003;198:281-91.
- [91] Agrawal, S., Agrawal, A., Doughty, B., Gerwitz, A., Blenis, J., Van Dyke, T. and Pulendran, B. Cutting edge: different Toll-like receptor agonists instruct dendritic cells to induce distinct Th responses via differential modulation of extracellular signalregulated kinase-mitogen-activated protein kinase and c-Fos. *J Immunol* 2003;171:4984-9.
- [92] Eisenbarth, S.C., Piggott, D.A., Huleatt, J.W., Visintin, I., Herrick, C.A. and Bottomly, K. Lipopolysaccharide-enhanced, toll-like receptor 4-dependent T helper cell type 2 responses to inhaled antigen. J Exp Med 2002;196:1645-51.
- [93] Didierlaurent, A., Ferrero, I., Otten, L.A., Dubois, B., Reinhardt, M., Carlsen, H., Blomhoff, R. et al. Flagellin promotes myeloid differentiation factor 88-dependent development of Th2-type response. *J Immunol* 2004;172:6922-30.
- [94] Redecke, V., Hacker, H., Datta, S.K., Fermin, A., Pitha, P.M., Broide, D.H. and Raz, E. Cutting edge: activation of Toll-like receptor 2 induces a Th2 immune response and promotes experimental asthma. *J Immunol* 2004;172:2739-43.
- [95] Edwards, A.D., Manickasingham, S.P., Sporri, R., Diebold, S.S., Schulz, O., Sher, A., Kaisho, T. et al. Microbial recognition via Toll-like receptor-dependent and independent pathways determines the cytokine response of murine dendritic cell subsets to CD40 triggering. *J Immunol* 2002;169:3652-60.
- [96] Manickasingham, S.P., Edwards, A.D., Schulz, O. and Reis e Sousa, C. The ability of murine dendritic cell subsets to direct T helper cell differentiation is dependent on microbial signals. *Eur J Immunol* 2003;33:101-7.
- [97] Hirschfeld, M., Weis, J.J., Toshchakov, V., Salkowski, C.A., Cody, M.J., Ward, D.C., Qureshi, N. et al. Signaling by toll-like receptor 2 and 4 agonists results in differential gene expression in murine macrophages. *Infect Immun* 2001;69:1477-82.
- [98] Carmody, R.J., Ruan, Q., Liou, H.C. and Chen, Y.H. Essential roles of c-Rel in TLRinduced IL-23 p19 gene expression in dendritic cells. *J Immunol* 2007;178:186-91.
- [99] Re, F. and Strominger, J.L. Toll-like receptor 2 (TLR2) and TLR4 differentially activate human dendritic cells. *J Biol Chem* 2001;276:37692-9.
- [100] Iwasaki, A. and Kelsall, B.L. Freshly isolated Peyer's patch, but not spleen, dendritic cells produce interleukin 10 and induce the differentiation of T helper type 2 cells. J Exp Med 1999;190:229-39.

- [101] Stumbles, P.A., Thomas, J.A., Pimm, C.L., Lee, P.T., Venaille, T.J., Proksch, S. and Holt, P.G. Resting respiratory tract dendritic cells preferentially stimulate T helper cell type 2 (Th2) responses and require obligatory cytokine signals for induction of Th1 immunity. J Exp Med 1998;188:2019-31.
- [102] Khanna, A., Morelli, A.E., Zhong, C., Takayama, T., Lu, L. and Thomson, A.W. Effects of liver-derived dendritic cell progenitors on Th1- and Th2-like cytokine responses in vitro and in vivo. *J Immunol* 2000;164:1346-54.
- [103] O'Connell, P.J., Son, Y.I., Giermasz, A., Wang, Z., Logar, A.J., Thomson, A.W. and Kalinski, P. Type-1 polarized nature of mouse liver CD8alpha- and CD8alpha+ dendritic cells: tissue-dependent differences offset CD8alpha-related dendritic cell heterogeneity. *Eur J Immunol* 2003;33:2007-13.
- [104] Stagg, A.J., Hart, A.L., Knight, S.C. and Kamm, M.A. The dendritic cell: its role in intestinal inflammation and relationship with gut bacteria. *Gut* 2003;52:1522-9.
- [105] Trinchieri, G. Interleukin-12 and the regulation of innate resistance and adaptive immunity. *Nat Rev Immunol* 2003;3:133-46.
- [106] Villarino, A.V., Huang, E. and Hunter, C.A. Understanding the pro- and antiinflammatory properties of IL-27. *J Immunol* 2004;173:715-20.
- [107] Rogge, L., D'Ambrosio, D., Biffi, M., Penna, G., Minetti, L.J., Presky, D.H., Adorini, L. et al. The role of Stat4 in species-specific regulation of Th cell development by type I IFNs. *J Immunol* 1998;161:6567-74.
- [108] Smits, H.H., de Jong, E.C., Schuitemaker, J.H., Geijtenbeek, T.B., van Kooyk, Y., Kapsenberg, M.L. and Wierenga, E.A. Intercellular adhesion molecule-1/LFA-1 ligation favors human Th1 development. *J Immunol* 2002;168:1710-6.
- [109] Amsen, D., Blander, J.M., Lee, G.R., Tanigaki, K., Honjo, T. and Flavell, R.A. Instruction of distinct CD4 T helper cell fates by different notch ligands on antigenpresenting cells. *Cell* 2004;117:515-26.
- [110] Eisenbarth, S.C., Piggott, D.A. and Bottomly, K. The master regulators of allergic inflammation: dendritic cells in Th2 sensitization. *Curr Opin Immunol* 2003;15:620-6.
- [111] Gu, L., Tseng, S., Horner, R.M., Tam, C., Loda, M. and Rollins, B.J. Control of TH2 polarization by the chemokine monocyte chemoattractant protein-1. *Nature* 2000;404:407-11.
- [112] Swain, S.L. Interleukin 18: tipping the balance towards a T helper cell 1 response. *J Exp Med* 2001;194:F11-4.
- [113] Veldhoen, M., Hocking, R.J., Atkins, C.J., Locksley, R.M. and Stockinger, B. TGFbeta in the context of an inflammatory cytokine milieu supports de novo differentiation of IL-17-producing T cells. *Immunity* 2006;24:179-89.
- [114] Bettelli, E., Carrier, Y., Gao, W., Korn, T., Strom, T.B., Oukka, M., Weiner, H.L. et al. Reciprocal developmental pathways for the generation of pathogenic effector TH17 and regulatory T cells. *Nature* 2006;441:235-8.
- [115] Mangan, P.R., Harrington, L.E., O'Quinn, D.B., Helms, W.S., Bullard, D.C., Elson, C.O., Hatton, R.D. et al. Transforming growth factor-beta induces development of the T(H)17 lineage. *Nature* 2006;441:231-4.
- [116] Huang, F.P., Platt, N., Wykes, M., Major, J.R., Powell, T.J., Jenkins, C.D. and MacPherson, G.G. A discrete subpopulation of dendritic cells transports apoptotic intestinal epithelial cells to T cell areas of mesenteric lymph nodes. *J Exp Med* 2000;191:435-44.
- [117] Suss, G. and Shortman, K. A subclass of dendritic cells kills CD4 T cells via Fas/Fasligand-induced apoptosis. *J Exp Med* 1996;183:1789-96.
- [118] Hawiger, D., Inaba, K., Dorsett, Y., Guo, M., Mahnke, K., Rivera, M., Ravetch, J.V. et al. Dendritic cells induce peripheral T cell unresponsiveness under steady state conditions in vivo. *J Exp Med* 2001;194:769-79.
- [119] Banz, A., Pontoux, C. and Papiernik, M. Modulation of Fas-dependent apoptosis: a dynamic process controlling both the persistence and death of CD4 regulatory T cells and effector T cells. *J Immunol* 2002;169:750-7.
- [120] Fanger, N.A., Maliszewski, C.R., Schooley, K. and Griffith, T.S. Human dendritic cells mediate cellular apoptosis via tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL). J Exp Med 1999;190:1155-64.
- [121] Faulkner, L., Buchan, G. and Baird, M. Interleukin-10 does not affect phagocytosis of particulate antigen by bone marrow-derived dendritic cells but does impair antigen presentation. *Immunology* 2000;99:523-31.

- [122] Brossart, P., Zobywalski, A., Grunebach, F., Behnke, L., Stuhler, G., Reichardt, V.L., Kanz, L. et al. Tumor necrosis factor alpha and CD40 ligand antagonize the inhibitory effects of interleukin 10 on T-cell stimulatory capacity of dendritic cells. *Cancer Res* 2000;60:4485-92.
- [123] Steinbrink, K., Jonuleit, H., Muller, G., Schuler, G., Knop, J. and Enk, A.H. Interleukin-10-treated human dendritic cells induce a melanoma-antigen-specific anergy in CD8(+) T cells resulting in a failure to lyse tumor cells. *Blood* 1999;93:1634-42.
- [124] Enk, A.H., Saloga, J., Becker, D., Mohamadzadeh, M. and Knop, J. Induction of hapten-specific tolerance by interleukin 10 in vivo. *J Exp Med* 1994;179:1397-402.
- [125] Steinbrink, K., Wolfl, M., Jonuleit, H., Knop, J. and Enk, A.H. Induction of tolerance by IL-10-treated dendritic cells. *J Immunol* 1997;159:4772-80.
- [126] Selenko-Gebauer, N., Majdic, O., Szekeres, A., Hofler, G., Guthann, E., Korthauer, U., Zlabinger, G. et al. B7-H1 (programmed death-1 ligand) on dendritic cells is involved in the induction and maintenance of T cell anergy. *J Immunol* 2003;170:3637-44.
- [127] Jonuleit, H., Schmitt, E., Schuler, G., Knop, J. and Enk, A.H. Induction of interleukin 10-producing, nonproliferating CD4(+) T cells with regulatory properties by repetitive stimulation with allogeneic immature human dendritic cells. *J Exp Med* 2000;192:1213-22.
- [128] Griffin, M.D., Lutz, W., Phan, V.A., Bachman, L.A., McKean, D.J. and Kumar, R. Dendritic cell modulation by 1alpha,25 dihydroxyvitamin D3 and its analogs: a vitamin D receptor-dependent pathway that promotes a persistent state of immaturity in vitro and in vivo. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2001;98:6800-5.
- [129] Lavelle, E.C., McNeela, E., Armstrong, M.E., Leavy, O., Higgins, S.C. and Mills, K.H. Cholera toxin promotes the induction of regulatory T cells specific for bystander antigens by modulating dendritic cell activation. *J Immunol* 2003;171:2384-92.
- [130] Martin, E., O'Sullivan, B., Low, P. and Thomas, R. Antigen-specific suppression of a primed immune response by dendritic cells mediated by regulatory T cells secreting interleukin-10. *Immunity* 2003;18:155-67.
- [131] Wakkach, A., Fournier, N., Brun, V., Breittmayer, J.P., Cottrez, F. and Groux, H. Characterization of dendritic cells that induce tolerance and T regulatory 1 cell differentiation in vivo. *Immunity* 2003;18:605-17.
- [132] Chang, C.C., Ciubotariu, R., Manavalan, J.S., Yuan, J., Colovai, A.I., Piazza, F., Lederman, S. et al. Tolerization of dendritic cells by T(S) cells: the crucial role of inhibitory receptors ILT3 and ILT4. *Nat Immunol* 2002;3:237-43.
- [133] Taams, L.S., van Rensen, A.J., Poelen, M.C., van Els, C.A., Besseling, A.C., Wagenaar, J.P., van Eden, W. et al. Anergic T cells actively suppress T cell responses via the antigen-presenting cell. *Eur J Immunol* 1998;28:2902-12.
- [134] Houot, R., Perrot, I., Garcia, E., Durand, I. and Lebecque, S. Human CD4+CD25high regulatory T cells modulate myeloid but not plasmacytoid dendritic cells activation. J Immunol 2006;176:5293-8.
- [135] Veldhoen, M., Moncrieffe, H., Hocking, R.J., Atkins, C.J. and Stockinger, B. Modulation of dendritic cell function by naive and regulatory CD4+ T cells. *J Immunol* 2006;176:6202-10.
- [136] Jang, M.H., Kweon, M.N., Iwatani, K., Yamamoto, M., Terahara, K., Sasakawa, C., Suzuki, T. et al. Intestinal villous M cells: an antigen entry site in the mucosal epithelium. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2004;101:6110-5.
- [137] Kelsall, B.L. and Rescigno, M. Mucosal dendritic cells in immunity and inflammation. *Nat Immunol* 2004;5:1091-5.
- [138] Niess, J.H., Brand, S., Gu, X., Landsman, L., Jung, S., McCormick, B.A., Vyas, J.M. et al. CX3CR1-mediated dendritic cell access to the intestinal lumen and bacterial clearance. *Science* 2005;307:254-8.
- [139] Rescigno, M., Urbano, M., Valzasina, B., Francolini, M., Rotta, G., Bonasio, R., Granucci, F. et al. Dendritic cells express tight junction proteins and penetrate gut epithelial monolayers to sample bacteria. *Nat Immunol* 2001;2:361-7.
- [140] Becker, C., Wirtz, S., Blessing, M., Pirhonen, J., Strand, D., Bechthold, O., Frick, J. et al. Constitutive p40 promoter activation and IL-23 production in the terminal ileum mediated by dendritic cells. *J Clin Invest* 2003;112:693-706.
- [141] Yoshida, M., Claypool, S.M., Wagner, J.S., Mizoguchi, E., Mizoguchi, A., Roopenian, D.C., Lencer, W.I. et al. Human neonatal Fc receptor mediates transport of IgG into

luminal secretions for delivery of antigens to mucosal dendritic cells. *Immunity* 2004;20:769-83.

- [142] van Niel, G., Raposo, G., Candalh, C., Boussac, M., Hershberg, R., Cerf-Bensussan, N. and Heyman, M. Intestinal epithelial cells secrete exosome-like vesicles. *Gastroenterology* 2001;121:337-49.
- [143] Fleeton, M.N., Contractor, N., Leon, F., Wetzel, J.D., Dermody, T.S. and Kelsall, B.L. Peyer's patch dendritic cells process viral antigen from apoptotic epithelial cells in the intestine of reovirus-infected mice. *J Exp Med* 2004;200:235-45.
- [144] Johansson, C. and Kelsall, B.L. Phenotype and function of intestinal dendritic cells. *Semin Immunol* 2005;17:284-94.
- [145] Macpherson, A.J. and Uhr, T. Induction of protective IgA by intestinal dendritic cells carrying commensal bacteria. *Science* 2004;303:1662-5.
- [146] Iwasaki, A. and Kelsall, B.L. Unique functions of CD11b+, CD8 alpha+, and doublenegative Peyer's patch dendritic cells. *J Immunol* 2001;166:4884-90.
- [147] Bilsborough, J., George, T.C., Norment, A. and Viney, J.L. Mucosal CD8alpha+ DC, with a plasmacytoid phenotype, induce differentiation and support function of T cells with regulatory properties. *Immunology* 2003;108:481-92.
- [148] Barnard, J.A., Warwick, G.J. and Gold, L.I. Localization of transforming growth factor beta isoforms in the normal murine small intestine and colon. *Gastroenterology* 1993;105:67-73.
- [149] Newberry, R.D., McDonough, J.S., Stenson, W.F. and Lorenz, R.G. Spontaneous and continuous cyclooxygenase-2-dependent prostaglandin E2 production by stromal cells in the murine small intestine lamina propria: directing the tone of the intestinal immune response. *J Immunol* 2001;166:4465-72.
- [150] Newberry, R.D., Stenson, W.F. and Lorenz, R.G. Cyclooxygenase-2-dependent arachidonic acid metabolites are essential modulators of the intestinal immune response to dietary antigen. *Nat Med* 1999;5:900-6.
- [151] Sato, A., Hashiguchi, M., Toda, E., Iwasaki, A., Hachimura, S. and Kaminogawa, S. CD11b+ Peyer's patch dendritic cells secrete IL-6 and induce IgA secretion from naive B cells. *J Immunol* 2003;171:3684-90.
- [152] Rimoldi, M., Chieppa, M., Salucci, V., Avogadri, F., Sonzogni, A., Sampietro, G.M., Nespoli, A. et al. Intestinal immune homeostasis is regulated by the crosstalk between epithelial cells and dendritic cells. *Nat Immunol* 2005;6:507-14.
- [153] Fuller, R. Probiotics in man and animals. *J Appl Bacteriol* 1989;66:365-78.
- [154] Rioux, K.P. and Fedorak, R.N. Probiotics in the treatment of inflammatory bowel disease. *J Clin Gastroenterol* 2006;40:260-3.
- [155] Shanahan, F. Probiotics in inflammatory bowel disease--therapeutic rationale and role. *Adv Drug Deliv Rev* 2004;56:809-18.
- [156] Bibiloni, R., Fedorak, R.N., Tannock, G.W., Madsen, K.L., Gionchetti, P., Campieri, M., De Simone, C. et al. VSL#3 probiotic-mixture induces remission in patients with active ulcerative colitis. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2005;100:1539-46.
- [157] Di Giacinto, C., Marinaro, M., Sanchez, M., Strober, W. and Boirivant, M. Probiotics ameliorate recurrent Th1-mediated murine colitis by inducing IL-10 and IL-10dependent TGF-beta-bearing regulatory cells. *J Immunol* 2005;174:3237-46.
- [158] Kim, H.J., Camilleri, M., McKinzie, S., Lempke, M.B., Burton, D.D., Thomforde, G.M. and Zinsmeister, A.R. A randomized controlled trial of a probiotic, VSL#3, on gut transit and symptoms in diarrhoea-predominant irritable bowel syndrome. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2003;17:895-904.
- [159] Drakes, M., Blanchard, T. and Czinn, S. Bacterial probiotic modulation of dendritic cells. *Infect Immun* 2004;72:3299-309.
- [160] Hart, A.L., Lammers, K., Brigidi, P., Vitali, B., Rizzello, F., Gionchetti, P., Campieri, M. et al. Modulation of human dendritic cell phenotype and function by probiotic bacteria. *Gut* 2004;53:1602-9.
- [161] Christensen, H.R., Frokiaer, H. and Pestka, J.J. Lactobacilli differentially modulate expression of cytokines and maturation surface markers in murine dendritic cells. J Immunol 2002;168:171-8.
- [162] Foligne, B., Zoumpopoulou, G., Dewulf, J., Ben Younes, A., Chareyre, F., Sirard, J.C., Pot, B. et al. A key role of dendritic cells in probiotic functionality. *PLoS ONE* 2007;2:e313.

- [163] Smits, H.H., Engering, A., van der Kleij, D., de Jong, E.C., Schipper, K., van Capel, T.M., Zaat, B.A. et al. Selective probiotic bacteria induce IL-10-producing regulatory T cells in vitro by modulating dendritic cell function through dendritic cell-specific intercellular adhesion molecule 3-grabbing nonintegrin. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 2005;115:1260-7.
- [164] Strober, W., Fuss, I. and Mannon, P. The fundamental basis of inflammatory bowel disease. *J Clin Invest* 2007;117:514-21.
- [165] Sartor, R.B. Targeting enteric bacteria in treatment of inflammatory bowel diseases: why, how, and when. *Curr Opin Gastroenterol* 2003;19:358-65.
- [166] Hampe, J., Cuthbert, A., Croucher, P.J., Mirza, M.M., Mascheretti, S., Fisher, S., Frenzel, H. et al. Association between insertion mutation in NOD2 gene and Crohn's disease in German and British populations. *Lancet* 2001;357:1925-8.
- [167] Hugot, J.P., Chamaillard, M., Zouali, H., Lesage, S., Cezard, J.P., Belaiche, J., Almer, S. et al. Association of NOD2 leucine-rich repeat variants with susceptibility to Crohn's disease. *Nature* 2001;411:599-603.
- [168] Ogura, Y., Bonen, D.K., Inohara, N., Nicolae, D.L., Chen, F.F., Ramos, R., Britton, H. et al. A frameshift mutation in NOD2 associated with susceptibility to Crohn's disease. *Nature* 2001;411:603-6.
- [169] Strober, W., Murray, P.J., Kitani, A. and Watanabe, T. Signalling pathways and molecular interactions of NOD1 and NOD2. *Nat Rev Immunol* 2006;6:9-20.
- [170] Watanabe, T., Kitani, A., Murray, P.J. and Strober, W. NOD2 is a negative regulator of Toll-like receptor 2-mediated T helper type 1 responses. *Nat Immunol* 2004;5:800-8.
- [171] Stadnicki, A. and Colman, R.W. Experimental models of inflammatory bowel disease. *Arch Immunol Ther Exp (Warsz)* 2003;51:149-55.
- [172] Autschbach, F., Eisold, S., Hinz, U., Zinser, S., Linnebacher, M., Giese, T., Loffler, T. et al. High prevalence of Mycobacterium avium subspecies paratuberculosis IS900 DNA in gut tissues from individuals with Crohn's disease. *Gut* 2005;54:944-9.
- [173] Wehkamp, J., Harder, J., Weichenthal, M., Mueller, O., Herrlinger, K.R., Fellermann, K., Schroeder, J.M. et al. Inducible and constitutive beta-defensins are differentially expressed in Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2003;9:215-23.
- [174] Wehkamp, J., Salzman, N.H., Porter, E., Nuding, S., Weichenthal, M., Petras, R.E., Shen, B. et al. Reduced Paneth cell alpha-defensins in ileal Crohn's disease. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2005;102:18129-34.
- [175] Hart, A.L., Al-Hassi, H.O., Rigby, R.J., Bell, S.J., Emmanuel, A.V., Knight, S.C., Kamm, M.A. et al. Characteristics of intestinal dendritic cells in inflammatory bowel diseases. *Gastroenterology* 2005;129:50-65.
- [176] te Velde, A.A., van Kooyk, Y., Braat, H., Hommes, D.W., Dellemijn, T.A., Slors, J.F., van Deventer, S.J. et al. Increased expression of DC-SIGN+IL-12+IL-18+ and CD83+IL-12-IL-18- dendritic cell populations in the colonic mucosa of patients with Crohn's disease. *Eur J Immunol* 2003;33:143-51.
- [177] Krajina, T., Leithauser, F., Moller, P., Trobonjaca, Z. and Reimann, J. Colonic lamina propria dendritic cells in mice with CD4+ T cell-induced colitis. *Eur J Immunol* 2003;33:1073-83.
- [178] Leithauser, F., Trobonjaca, Z., Moller, P. and Reimann, J. Clustering of colonic lamina propria CD4(+) T cells to subepithelial dendritic cell aggregates precedes the development of colitis in a murine adoptive transfer model. *Lab Invest* 2001;81:1339-49.
- [179] Malmstrom, V., Shipton, D., Singh, B., Al-Shamkhani, A., Puklavec, M.J., Barclay, A.N. and Powrie, F. CD134L expression on dendritic cells in the mesenteric lymph nodes drives colitis in T cell-restored SCID mice. *J Immunol* 2001;166:6972-81.
- [180] Fuss, I.J., Neurath, M., Boirivant, M., Klein, J.S., de la Motte, C., Strong, S.A., Fiocchi, C. et al. Disparate CD4+ Iamina propria (LP) lymphokine secretion profiles in inflammatory bowel disease. Crohn's disease LP cells manifest increased secretion of IFN-gamma, whereas ulcerative colitis LP cells manifest increased secretion of IL-5. J Immunol 1996;157:1261-70.
- [181] Nakamura, K., Honda, K., Mizutani, T., Akiho, H. and Harada, N. Novel strategies for the treatment of inflammatory bowel disease: Selective inhibition of cytokines and adhesion molecules. *World J Gastroenterol* 2006;12:4628-35.

- [182] Van den Brande, J.M., Braat, H., van den Brink, G.R., Versteeg, H.H., Bauer, C.A., Hoedemaeker, I., van Montfrans, C. et al. Infliximab but not etanercept induces apoptosis in lamina propria T-lymphocytes from patients with Crohn's disease. *Gastroenterology* 2003;124:1774-85.
- [183] Guimbaud, R., Bertrand, V., Chauvelot-Moachon, L., Quartier, G., Vidon, N., Giroud, J.P., Couturier, D. et al. Network of inflammatory cytokines and correlation with disease activity in ulcerative colitis. *Am J Gastroenterol* 1998;93:2397-404.
- [184] Nielsen, O.H., Gionchetti, P., Ainsworth, M., Vainer, B., Campieri, M., Borregaard, N. and Kjeldsen, L. Rectal dialysate and fecal concentrations of neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin, interleukin-8, and tumor necrosis factor-alpha in ulcerative colitis. *Am J Gastroenterol* 1999;94:2923-8.
- [185] Reinecker, H.C., Steffen, M., Witthoeft, T., Pflueger, I., Schreiber, S., MacDermott, R.P. and Raedler, A. Enhanced secretion of tumour necrosis factor-alpha, IL-6, and IL-1 beta by isolated lamina propria mononuclear cells from patients with ulcerative colitis and Crohn's disease. *Clin Exp Immunol* 1993;94:174-81.
- [186] Aberra, F.N. and Lichtenstein, G.R. Infliximab in ulcerative colitis. *Gastroenterol Clin North Am* 2006;35:821-36.
- [187] Blonski, W. and Lichtenstein, G.R. Complications of biological therapy for inflammatory bowel diseases. *Curr Opin Gastroenterol* 2006;22:30-43.
- [188] Hanauer, S.B., Feagan, B.G., Lichtenstein, G.R., Mayer, L.F., Schreiber, S., Colombel, J.F., Rachmilewitz, D. et al. Maintenance infliximab for Crohn's disease: the ACCENT I randomised trial. *Lancet* 2002;359:1541-9.
- [189] Rutgeerts, P., Sandborn, W.J., Feagan, B.G., Reinisch, W., Olson, A., Johanns, J., Travers, S. et al. Infliximab for induction and maintenance therapy for ulcerative colitis. N Engl J Med 2005;353:2462-76.
- [190] Mannon, P.J., Fuss, I.J., Mayer, L., Elson, C.O., Sandborn, W.J., Present, D., Dolin, B. et al. Anti-interleukin-12 antibody for active Crohn's disease. *N Engl J Med* 2004;351:2069-79.
- [191] Duerr, R.H., Taylor, K.D., Brant, S.R., Rioux, J.D., Silverberg, M.S., Daly, M.J., Steinhart, A.H. et al. A genome-wide association study identifies IL23R as an inflammatory bowel disease gene. *Science* 2006;314:1461-3.
- [192] Elson, C.O., Cong, Y., Weaver, C.T., Schoeb, T.R., McClanahan, T.K., Fick, R.B. and Kastelein, R.A. Monoclonal anti-interleukin 23 reverses active colitis in a T cellmediated model in mice. *Gastroenterology* 2007;132:2359-70.
- [193] Hommes, D.W., Mikhajlova, T.L., Stoinov, S., Stimac, D., Vucelic, B., Lonovics, J., Zakuciova, M. et al. Fontolizumab, a humanised anti-interferon gamma antibody, demonstrates safety and clinical activity in patients with moderate to severe Crohn's disease. *Gut* 2006;55:1131-7.
- [194] Ito, H., Takazoe, M., Fukuda, Y., Hibi, T., Kusugami, K., Andoh, A., Matsumoto, T. et al. A pilot randomized trial of a human anti-interleukin-6 receptor monoclonal antibody in active Crohn's disease. *Gastroenterology* 2004;126:989-96; discussion 47.
- [195] van Deventer, S.J., Elson, C.O. and Fedorak, R.N. Multiple doses of intravenous interleukin 10 in steroid-refractory Crohn's disease. Crohn's Disease Study Group. *Gastroenterology* 1997;113:383-9.
- [196] Schreiber, S., Fedorak, R.N., Nielsen, O.H., Wild, G., Williams, C.N., Nikolaus, S., Jacyna, M. et al. Safety and efficacy of recombinant human interleukin 10 in chronic active Crohn's disease. Crohn's Disease IL-10 Cooperative Study Group. *Gastroenterology* 2000;119:1461-72.
- [197] Tilg, H., van Montfrans, C., van den Ende, A., Kaser, A., van Deventer, S.J., Schreiber, S., Gregor, M. et al. Treatment of Crohn's disease with recombinant human interleukin 10 induces the proinflammatory cytokine interferon gamma. *Gut* 2002;50:191-5.
- [198] Steidler, L., Hans, W., Schotte, L., Neirynck, S., Obermeier, F., Falk, W., Fiers, W. et al. Treatment of murine colitis by Lactococcus lactis secreting interleukin-10. *Science* 2000;289:1352-5.
- [199] Braat, H., Rottiers, P., Hommes, D.W., Huyghebaert, N., Remaut, E., Remon, J.P., van Deventer, S.J. et al. A phase I trial with transgenic bacteria expressing interleukin-10 in Crohn's disease. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2006;4:754-9.

- [200] Steidler, L., Neirynck, S., Huyghebaert, N., Snoeck, V., Vermeire, A., Goddeeris, B., Cox, E. et al. Biological containment of genetically modified Lactococcus lactis for intestinal delivery of human interleukin 10. *Nat Biotechnol* 2003;21:785-9.
- [201] Van Assche, G., Van Ranst, M., Sciot, R., Dubois, B., Vermeire, S., Noman, M., Verbeeck, J. et al. Progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy after natalizumab therapy for Crohn's disease. *N Engl J Med* 2005;353:362-8.
- [202] Katz, S. Update in medical therapy of ulcerative colitis: newer concepts and therapies. *J Clin Gastroenterol* 2005;39:557-69.
- [203] Genovese, M.C., Becker, J.C., Schiff, M., Luggen, M., Sherrer, Y., Kremer, J., Birbara, C. et al. Abatacept for rheumatoid arthritis refractory to tumor necrosis factor alpha inhibition. *N Engl J Med* 2005;353:1114-23.
- [204] Mottet, C., Uhlig, H.H. and Powrie, F. Cutting edge: cure of colitis by CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells. *J Immunol* 2003;170:3939-43.
- [205] Korzenik, J.R., Dieckgraefe, B.K., Valentine, J.F., Hausman, D.F. and Gilbert, M.J. Sargramostim for active Crohn's disease. *N Engl J Med* 2005;352:2193-201.
- [206] Rutgeerts, P., Van Assche, G., Vermeire, S., D'Haens, G., Baert, F., Noman, M., Aerden, I. et al. Ornidazole for prophylaxis of postoperative Crohn's disease recurrence: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. *Gastroenterology* 2005;128:856-61.
- [207] Wild, G.E. The role of antibiotics in the management of Crohn's disease. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2004;10:321-3.
- [208] Yamamoto, T., Nakahigashi, M., Umegae, S., Kitagawa, T. and Matsumoto, K. Impact of elemental diet on mucosal inflammation in patients with active Crohn's disease: cytokine production and endoscopic and histological findings. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2005;11:580-8.
- [209] Fiorentino, D.F., Bond, M.W. and Mosmann, T.R. Two types of mouse T helper cell. IV. Th2 clones secrete a factor that inhibits cytokine production by Th1 clones. J Exp Med 1989;170:2081-95.
- [210] Moore, K.W., de Waal Malefyt, R., Coffman, R.L. and O'Garra, A. Interleukin-10 and the interleukin-10 receptor. *Annu Rev Immunol* 2001;19:683-765.
- [211] Pestka, S., Krause, C.D., Sarkar, D., Walter, M.R., Shi, Y. and Fisher, P.B. Interleukin-10 and related cytokines and receptors. *Annu Rev Immunol* 2004;22:929-79.
- [212] Fickenscher, H., Hor, S., Kupers, H., Knappe, A., Wittmann, S. and Sticht, H. The interleukin-10 family of cytokines. *Trends Immunol* 2002;23:89-96.
- [213] Josephson, K., DiGiacomo, R., Indelicato, S.R., Iyo, A.H., Nagabhushan, T.L., Parker, M.H. and Walter, M.R. Design and analysis of an engineered human interleukin-10 monomer. J Biol Chem 2000;275:13552-7.
- [214] Tone, M., Powell, M.J., Tone, Y., Thompson, S.A. and Waldmann, H. IL-10 gene expression is controlled by the transcription factors Sp1 and Sp3. *J Immunol* 2000;165:286-91.
- [215] Powell, M.J., Thompson, S.A., Tone, Y., Waldmann, H. and Tone, M. Posttranscriptional regulation of IL-10 gene expression through sequences in the 3'untranslated region. *J Immunol* 2000;165:292-6.
- [216] Finbloom, D.S. and Winestock, K.D. IL-10 induces the tyrosine phosphorylation of tyk2 and Jak1 and the differential assembly of STAT1 alpha and STAT3 complexes in human T cells and monocytes. *J Immunol* 1995;155:1079-90.
- [217] Ho, A.S., Wei, S.H., Mui, A.L., Miyajima, A. and Moore, K.W. Functional regions of the mouse interleukin-10 receptor cytoplasmic domain. *Mol Cell Biol* 1995;15:5043-53.
- [218] Wehinger, J., Gouilleux, F., Groner, B., Finke, J., Mertelsmann, R. and Weber-Nordt, R.M. IL-10 induces DNA binding activity of three STAT proteins (Stat1, Stat3, and Stat5) and their distinct combinatorial assembly in the promoters of selected genes. *FEBS Lett* 1996;394:365-70.
- [219] Takeda, K., Clausen, B.E., Kaisho, T., Tsujimura, T., Terada, N., Forster, I. and Akira, S. Enhanced Th1 activity and development of chronic enterocolitis in mice devoid of Stat3 in macrophages and neutrophils. *Immunity* 1999;10:39-49.
- [220] Williams, L., Bradley, L., Smith, A. and Foxwell, B. Signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 is the dominant mediator of the anti-inflammatory effects of IL-10 in human macrophages. *J Immunol* 2004;172:567-76.

- [221] Williams, L.M., Ricchetti, G., Sarma, U., Smallie, T. and Foxwell, B.M. Interleukin-10 suppression of myeloid cell activation--a continuing puzzle. *Immunology* 2004;113:281-92.
- [222] Lang, R., Patel, D., Morris, J.J., Rutschman, R.L. and Murray, P.J. Shaping gene expression in activated and resting primary macrophages by IL-10. *J Immunol* 2002;169:2253-63.
- [223] Murray, P.J. The primary mechanism of the IL-10-regulated antiinflammatory response is to selectively inhibit transcription. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2005;102:8686-91.
- [224] Kim, J., Modlin, R.L., Moy, R.L., Dubinett, S.M., McHugh, T., Nickoloff, B.J. and Uyemura, K. IL-10 production in cutaneous basal and squamous cell carcinomas. A mechanism for evading the local T cell immune response. *J Immunol* 1995;155:2240-7.
- [225] Mocellin, S., Wang, E. and Marincola, F.M. Cytokines and immune response in the tumor microenvironment. *J Immunother (1997)* 2001;24:392-407.
- [226] D'Andrea, A., Aste-Amezaga, M., Valiante, N.M., Ma, X., Kubin, M. and Trinchieri, G. Interleukin 10 (IL-10) inhibits human lymphocyte interferon gamma-production by suppressing natural killer cell stimulatory factor/IL-12 synthesis in accessory cells. J Exp Med 1993;178:1041-8.
- [227] de Waal Malefyt, R., Abrams, J., Bennett, B., Figdor, C.G. and de Vries, J.E. Interleukin 10(IL-10) inhibits cytokine synthesis by human monocytes: an autoregulatory role of IL-10 produced by monocytes. *J Exp Med* 1991;174:1209-20.
- [228] Fiorentino, D.F., Zlotnik, A., Mosmann, T.R., Howard, M. and O'Garra, A. IL-10 inhibits cytokine production by activated macrophages. *J Immunol* 1991;147:3815-22.
- [229] Gruber, M.F., Williams, C.C. and Gerrard, T.L. Macrophage-colony-stimulating factor expression by anti-CD45 stimulated human monocytes is transcriptionally up-regulated by IL-1 beta and inhibited by IL-4 and IL-10. *J Immunol* 1994;152:1354-61.
- [230] Niiro, H., Otsuka, T., Tanabe, T., Hara, S., Kuga, S., Nemoto, Y., Tanaka, Y. et al. Inhibition by interleukin-10 of inducible cyclooxygenase expression in lipopolysaccharide-stimulated monocytes: its underlying mechanism in comparison with interleukin-4. *Blood* 1995;85:3736-45.
- [231] Cunha, F.Q., Moncada, S. and Liew, F.Y. Interleukin-10 (IL-10) inhibits the induction of nitric oxide synthase by interferon-gamma in murine macrophages. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 1992;182:1155-9.
- [232] Gazzinelli, R.T., Oswald, I.P., James, S.L. and Sher, A. IL-10 inhibits parasite killing and nitrogen oxide production by IFN-gamma-activated macrophages. *J Immunol* 1992;148:1792-6.
- [233] Mertz, P.M., DeWitt, D.L., Stetler-Stevenson, W.G. and Wahl, L.M. Interleukin 10 suppression of monocyte prostaglandin H synthase-2. Mechanism of inhibition of prostaglandin-dependent matrix metalloproteinase production. *J Biol Chem* 1994;269:21322-9.
- [234] Lacraz, S., Nicod, L.P., Chicheportiche, R., Welgus, H.G. and Dayer, J.M. IL-10 inhibits metalloproteinase and stimulates TIMP-1 production in human mononuclear phagocytes. *J Clin Invest* 1995;96:2304-10.
- [235] Chang, W.L., Baumgarth, N., Eberhardt, M.K., Lee, C.Y., Baron, C.A., Gregg, J.P. and Barry, P.A. Exposure of myeloid dendritic cells to exogenous or endogenous IL-10 during maturation determines their longevity. *J Immunol* 2007;178:7794-804.
- [236] de Waal Malefyt, R., Haanen, J., Spits, H., Roncarolo, M.G., te Velde, A., Figdor, C., Johnson, K. et al. Interleukin 10 (IL-10) and viral IL-10 strongly reduce antigenspecific human T cell proliferation by diminishing the antigen-presenting capacity of monocytes via downregulation of class II major histocompatibility complex expression. J Exp Med 1991;174:915-24.
- [237] Ding, L., Linsley, P.S., Huang, L.Y., Germain, R.N. and Shevach, E.M. IL-10 inhibits macrophage costimulatory activity by selectively inhibiting the up-regulation of B7 expression. *J Immunol* 1993;151:1224-34.
- [238] Koppelman, B., Neefjes, J.J., de Vries, J.E. and de Waal Malefyt, R. Interleukin-10 down-regulates MHC class II alphabeta peptide complexes at the plasma membrane of monocytes by affecting arrival and recycling. *Immunity* 1997;7:861-71.

- [239] Willems, F., Marchant, A., Delville, J.P., Gerard, C., Delvaux, A., Velu, T., de Boer, M. et al. Interleukin-10 inhibits B7 and intercellular adhesion molecule-1 expression on human monocytes. *Eur J Immunol* 1994;24:1007-9.
- [240] Calzada-Wack, J.C., Frankenberger, M. and Ziegler-Heitbrock, H.W. Interleukin-10 drives human monocytes to CD16 positive macrophages. *J Inflamm* 1996;46:78-85.
- [241] te Velde, A.A., de Waal Malefijt, R., Huijbens, R.J., de Vries, J.E. and Figdor, C.G. IL-10 stimulates monocyte Fc gamma R surface expression and cytotoxic activity. Distinct regulation of antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity by IFN-gamma, IL-4, and IL-10. *J Immunol* 1992;149:4048-52.
- [242] Grutz, G. New insights into the molecular mechanism of interleukin-10-mediated immunosuppression. *J Leukoc Biol* 2005;77:3-15.
- [243] Allavena, P., Piemonti, L., Longoni, D., Bernasconi, S., Stoppacciaro, A., Ruco, L. and Mantovani, A. IL-10 prevents the differentiation of monocytes to dendritic cells but promotes their maturation to macrophages. *Eur J Immunol* 1998;28:359-69.
- [244] Buelens, C., Verhasselt, V., De Groote, D., Thielemans, K., Goldman, M. and Willems, F. Interleukin-10 prevents the generation of dendritic cells from human peripheral blood mononuclear cells cultured with interleukin-4 and granulocyte/macrophage-colony-stimulating factor. *Eur J Immunol* 1997;27:756-62.
- [245] De Smedt, T., Van Mechelen, M., De Becker, G., Urbain, J., Leo, O. and Moser, M. Effect of interleukin-10 on dendritic cell maturation and function. *Eur J Immunol* 1997;27:1229-35.
- [246] Akdis, C.A., Joss, A., Akdis, M., Faith, A. and Blaser, K. A molecular basis for T cell suppression by IL-10: CD28-associated IL-10 receptor inhibits CD28 tyrosine phosphorylation and phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase binding. *Faseb J* 2000;14:1666-8.
- [247] de Waal Malefyt, R., Yssel, H. and de Vries, J.E. Direct effects of IL-10 on subsets of human CD4+ T cell clones and resting T cells. Specific inhibition of IL-2 production and proliferation. *J Immunol* 1993;150:4754-65.
- [248] Jinquan, T., Quan, S., Jacobi, H.H., Madsen, H.O., Glue, C., Skov, P.S., Malling, H.J. et al. CXC chemokine receptor 4 expression and stromal cell-derived factor-1alphainduced chemotaxis in CD4+ T lymphocytes are regulated by interleukin-4 and interleukin-10. *Immunology* 2000;99:402-10.
- [249] Gott, P., Beck, S., Machado, J.C., Carneiro, F., Schmitt, H. and Blin, N. Human trefoil peptides: genomic structure in 21q22.3 and coordinated expression. *Eur J Hum Genet* 1996;4:308-15.
- [250] Ribieras, S., Lefebvre, O., Tomasetto, C. and Rio, M.C. Mouse Trefoil factor genes: genomic organization, sequences and methylation analyses. *Gene* 2001;266:67-75.
- [251] Podolsky, D.K., Lynch-Devaney, K., Stow, J.L., Oates, P., Murgue, B., DeBeaumont, M., Sands, B.E. et al. Identification of human intestinal trefoil factor. Goblet cellspecific expression of a peptide targeted for apical secretion. *J Biol Chem* 1993;268:6694-702.
- [252] Kindon, H., Pothoulakis, C., Thim, L., Lynch-Devaney, K. and Podolsky, D.K. Trefoil peptide protection of intestinal epithelial barrier function: cooperative interaction with mucin glycoprotein. *Gastroenterology* 1995;109:516-23.
- [253] Langer, G., Jagla, W., Behrens-Baumann, W., Walter, S. and Hoffmann, W. Secretory peptides TFF1 and TFF3 synthesized in human conjunctival goblet cells. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci* 1999;40:2220-4.
- [254] Hauser, F., Poulsom, R., Chinery, R., Rogers, L.A., Hanby, A.M., Wright, N.A. and Hoffmann, W. hP1.B, a human P-domain peptide homologous with rat intestinal trefoil factor, is expressed also in the ulcer-associated cell lineage and the uterus. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 1993;90:6961-5.
- [255] dos Santos Silva, E., Ulrich, M., Doring, G., Botzenhart, K. and Gott, P. Trefoil factor family domain peptides in the human respiratory tract. *J Pathol* 2000;190:133-42.
- [256] Devine, D.A., High, A.S., Owen, P.J., Poulsom, R. and Bonass, W.A. Trefoil factor expression in normal and diseased human salivary glands. *Hum Pathol* 2000;31:509-15.
- [257] Probst, J.C., Zetzsche, T., Weber, M., Theilemann, P., Skutella, T., Landgraf, R. and Jirikowski, G.F. Human intestinal trefoil factor is expressed in human hypothalamus and pituitary: evidence for a novel neuropeptide. *Faseb J* 1996;10:1518-23.
- [258] Hirota, M., Awatsuji, H., Sugihara, Y., Miyashita, S., Furukawa, Y. and Hayashi, K. Expression of pS2 gene in rat brain. *Biochem Mol Biol Int* 1995;35:1079-84.

[250]	Cook C.A. Familari M. Thim L. and Ciraud A.S. The trafoil pentides TEE2 and
[200]	TEF3 are expressed in rat lymphoid tissues and participate in the immune response.
	FEBS Lett 1999;456:155-9.
[260]	Taupin, D., Pedersen, J., Familari, M., Cook, G., Yeomans, N. and Giraud, A.S.
	Augmented intestinal trefoil factor (TFF3) and loss of pS2 (TFF1) expression
	precedes metaplastic differentiation of gastric epithelium. Lab Invest 2001;81:397-
[261]	400. Rio M.C. Chenard M.P. Wolf C. Marcellin I. Tomasetto C. Lathe R. Belloco
[201]	J.P. et al. Induction of pS2 and hSP genes as markers of mucosal ulceration of the
	digestive tract. Gastroenterology 1991;100:375-9.
[262]	Hanby, A.M., Poulsom, R., Elia, G., Singh, S., Longcroft, J.M. and Wright, N.A. The
	expression of the trefoil peptides pS2 and human spasmolytic polypeptide (hSP) in
	'gastric metaplasia' of the proximal duodenum: implications for the nature of 'gastric
[263]	Khulusi S. Hanby A.M. Marrero, J.M. Patel P. Mendall M.A. Badve S. Poulsom
[200]	R. et al. Expression of trefoil peptides pS2 and human spasmolytic polypeptide in
	gastric metaplasia at the margin of duodenal ulcers. Gut 1995;37:205-9.
[264]	Wright, N.A., Pike, C. and Elia, G. Induction of a novel epidermal growth factor-
	secreting cell lineage by mucosal ulceration in human gastrointestinal stem cells.
[265]	Nature 1990;343:82-5.
[205]	renair kit? <i>J Pathol</i> 1993:171:3-4
[266]	Itoh, H., Inoue, N. and Podolsky, D.K. Goblet-cell-specific transcription of mouse
	intestinal trefoil factor gene results from collaboration of complex series of positive
	and negative regulatory elements. <i>Biochem J</i> 1999;341 (Pt 2):461-72.
[267]	Ogata, H., Inoue, N. and Podolsky, D.K. Identification of a goblet cell-specific
	ennancer element in the rat intestinal trefoil factor gene promoter bound by a gobiet cell pucker protein. <i>L Biol Chem</i> 1998:273:3060.7
[268]	Iwakiri, D. and Podolsky, D.K. A silencer inhibitor confers specific expression of
[=00]	intestinal trefoil factor in gobletlike cell lines. <i>Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol</i>
	2001;280:G1114-23.
[269]	Beck, S., Sommer, P., dos Santos Silva, E., Blin, N. and Gott, P. Hepatocyte nuclear
	factor 3 (winged helix domain) activates trefoil factor gene TFF1 through a binding
[270]	Al-azzeh E Dittrich O Vervoorts I Blin N Gott P and Luscher B
[=: 0]	Gastroprotective peptide trefoil factor family 2 gene is activated by upstream
	stimulating factor but not by c-Myc in gastrointestinal cancer cells. Gut 2002;51:685-
	90.
[271]	Taupin, D., Wu, D.C., Jeon, W.K., Devaney, K., Wang, T.C. and Podolsky, D.K. The
	and MAP kinase-dependent interregulation <i>J Clin Invest</i> 1000:103:P31-8
[272]	Dossinger, V., Kavademir, T., Blin, N. and Gott, P. Down-regulation of TFF
[]	expression in gastrointestinal cell lines by cytokines and nuclear factors. <i>Cell Physiol</i>
	Biochem 2002;12:197-206.
[273]	Loncar, M.B., Al-azzeh, E.D., Sommer, P.S., Marinovic, M., Schmehl, K.,
	Kruscnewski, M., Blin, N. et al. Tumour necrosis factor alpha and nuclear factor
	pentide Gut 2003:52:1297-303
[274]	Tebbutt, N.C., Giraud, A.S., Inglese, M., Jenkins, B., Waring, P., Clay, F.J., Malki, S.
	et al. Reciprocal regulation of gastrointestinal homeostasis by SHP2 and STAT-
	mediated trefoil gene activation in gp130 mutant mice. <i>Nat Med</i> 2002;8:1089-97.
[275]	Nikolaidis, N.M., Zimmermann, N., King, N.E., Mishra, A., Pope, S.M., Finkelman,
	The cytokines and STAT6 in the lung $Am J$ Respir Cell Mol Riol 2003;20:458-64
[276]	Blanchard, C., Durual, S., Estienne, M., Bouzakri, K., Heim, M.H., Blin, N. and Cuber.
	J.C. IL-4 and IL-13 up-regulate intestinal trefoil factor expression: requirement for
	STAT6 and de novo protein synthesis. J Immunol 2004;172:3775-83.
[277]	I him, L. A new family of growth factor-like peptides. 'Trefoil' disulphide loop structures

as a common feature in breast cancer associated peptide (pS2), pancreatic

spasmolytic polypeptide (PSP), and frog skin peptides (spasmolysins). *FEBS Lett* 1989;250:85-90.

- [278] Chinery, R. and Cox, H.M. Modulation of epidermal growth factor effects on epithelial ion transport by intestinal trefoil factor. *Br J Pharmacol* 1995;115:77-80.
- [279] Poulsen, S.S., Thulesen, J., Nexo, E. and Thim, L. Distribution and metabolism of intravenously administered trefoil factor 2/porcine spasmolytic polypeptide in the rat. *Gut* 1998;43:240-7.
- [280] Alison, M.R., Chinery, R., Poulsom, R., Ashwood, P., Longcroft, J.M. and Wright, N.A. Experimental ulceration leads to sequential expression of spasmolytic polypeptide, intestinal trefoil factor, epidermal growth factor and transforming growth factor alpha mRNAs in rat stomach. *J Pathol* 1995;175:405-14.
- [281] Chinery, R. and Playford, R.J. Combined intestinal trefoil factor and epidermal growth factor is prophylactic against indomethacin-induced gastric damage in the rat. *Clin Sci* (Lond) 1995;88:401-3.
- [282] Dignass, A., Lynch-Devaney, K., Kindon, H., Thim, L. and Podolsky, D.K. Trefoil peptides promote epithelial migration through a transforming growth factor betaindependent pathway. *J Clin Invest* 1994;94:376-83.
- [283] Emami, S., Rodrigues, S., Rodrigue, C.M., Le Floch, N., Rivat, C., Attoub, S., Bruyneel, E. et al. Trefoil factor family (TFF) peptides and cancer progression. *Peptides* 2004;25:885-98.
- [284] Lemercinier, X., Muskett, F.W., Cheeseman, B., McIntosh, P.B., Thim, L. and Carr, M.D. High-resolution solution structure of human intestinal trefoil factor and functional insights from detailed structural comparisons with the other members of the trefoil family of mammalian cell motility factors. *Biochemistry* 2001;40:9552-9.
- [285] Tomasetto, C., Masson, R., Linares, J.L., Wendling, C., Lefebvre, O., Chenard, M.P. and Rio, M.C. pS2/TFF1 interacts directly with the VWFC cysteine-rich domains of mucins. *Gastroenterology* 2000;118:70-80.
- [286] Tanaka, S., Podolsky, D.K., Engel, E., Guth, P.H. and Kaunitz, J.D. Human spasmolytic polypeptide decreases proton permeation through gastric mucus in vivo and in vitro. *Am J Physiol* 1997;272:G1473-80.
- [287] Thim, L., Madsen, F. and Poulsen, S.S. Effect of trefoil factors on the viscoelastic properties of mucus gels. *Eur J Clin Invest* 2002;32:519-27.
- [288] Wright, N.A., Poulsom, R., Stamp, G., Van Norden, S., Sarraf, C., Elia, G., Ahnen, D. et al. Trefoil peptide gene expression in gastrointestinal epithelial cells in inflammatory bowel disease. *Scand J Gastroenterol Suppl* 1992;193;76-82.
- [289] Mashimo, H., Wu, D.C., Podolsky, D.K. and Fishman, M.C. Impaired defense of intestinal mucosa in mice lacking intestinal trefoil factor. *Science* 1996;274:262-5.
- [290] Liu, D., el-Hariry, I., Karayiannakis, A.J., Wilding, J., Chinery, R., Kmiot, W., McCrea, P.D. et al. Phosphorylation of beta-catenin and epidermal growth factor receptor by intestinal trefoil factor. *Lab Invest* 1997;77:557-63.
- [291] Efstathiou, J.A., Noda, M., Rowan, A., Dixon, C., Chinery, R., Jawhari, A., Hattori, T. et al. Intestinal trefoil factor controls the expression of the adenomatous polyposis coli-catenin and the E-cadherin-catenin complexes in human colon carcinoma cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 1998;95:3122-7.
- [292] Kalabis, J., Rosenberg, I. and Podolsky, D.K. Vangl1 protein acts as a downstream effector of intestinal trefoil factor (ITF)/TFF3 signaling and regulates wound healing of intestinal epithelium. *J Biol Chem* 2006;281:6434-41.
- [293] Kinoshita, K., Taupin, D.R., Itoh, H. and Podolsky, D.K. Distinct pathways of cell migration and antiapoptotic response to epithelial injury: structure-function analysis of human intestinal trefoil factor. *Mol Cell Biol* 2000;20:4680-90.
- [294] Graness, A., Chwieralski, C.E., Reinhold, D., Thim, L. and Hoffmann, W. Protein kinase C and ERK activation are required for TFF-peptide-stimulated bronchial epithelial cell migration and tumor necrosis factor-alpha-induced interleukin-6 (IL-6) and IL-8 secretion. *J Biol Chem* 2002;277:18440-6.
- [295] Bossenmeyer-Pourie, C., Kannan, R., Ribieras, S., Wendling, C., Stoll, I., Thim, L., Tomasetto, C. et al. The trefoil factor 1 participates in gastrointestinal cell differentiation by delaying G1-S phase transition and reducing apoptosis. *J Cell Biol* 2002;157:761-70.
- [296] Chan, M.W., Chan, V.Y., Leung, W.K., Chan, K.K., To, K.F., Sung, J.J. and Chan, F.K. Anti-sense trefoil factor family-3 (intestinal trefoil factor) inhibits cell growth and

induces chemosensitivity to adriamycin in human gastric cancer cells. *Life Sci* 2005;76:2581-92.

- [297] Chen, Y.H., Lu, Y., De Plaen, I.G., Wang, L.Y. and Tan, X.D. Transcription factor NFkappaB signals antianoikic function of trefoil factor 3 on intestinal epithelial cells. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 2000;274:576-82.
- [298] Siu, L.S., Romanska, H., Abel, P.D., Baus-Loncar, M., Kayademir, T., Stamp, G.W. and Lalani el, N. TFF2 (trefoil family factor2) inhibits apoptosis in breast and colorectal cancer cell lines. *Peptides* 2004;25:855-63.
- [299] Taupin, D.R., Kinoshita, K. and Podolsky, D.K. Intestinal trefoil factor confers colonic epithelial resistance to apoptosis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2000;97:799-804.
- [300] Rodrigues, S., Van Aken, E., Van Bocxlaer, S., Attoub, S., Nguyen, Q.D., Bruyneel, E., Westley, B.R. et al. Trefoil peptides as proangiogenic factors in vivo and in vitro: implication of cyclooxygenase-2 and EGF receptor signaling. *Faseb J* 2003;17:7-16.
- [301] Tan, X.D., Liu, Q.P., Hsueh, W., Chen, Y.H., Chang, H. and Gonzalez-Crussi, F. Intestinal trefoil factor binds to intestinal epithelial cells and induces nitric oxide production: priming and enhancing effects of mucin. *Biochem J* 1999;338 (Pt 3):745-51.
- [302] Hirota, M., Miyashita, S., Hayashi, H., Furukawa, Y. and Hayashi, K. pS2 gene especially expressed in the late G1/S phase of mouse astrocytes. *Neurosci Lett* 1994;171:49-51.
- [303] Kurt-Jones, E.A., Cao, L., Sandor, F., Rogers, A.B., Whary, M.T., Nambiar, P.R., Cerny, A. et al. Trefoil family factor 2 is expressed in murine gastric and immune cells and controls both gastrointestinal inflammation and systemic immune responses. *Infect Immun* 2007;75:471-80.
- [304] Van Klinken, B.J., Dekker, J., Buller, H.A. and Einerhand, A.W. Mucin gene structure and expression: protection vs. adhesion. *Am J Physiol* 1995;269:G613-27.
- [305] Soriano-Izquierdo, A., Gironella, M., Massaguer, A., May, F.E., Salas, A., Sans, M., Poulsom, R. et al. Trefoil peptide TFF2 treatment reduces VCAM-1 expression and leukocyte recruitment in experimental intestinal inflammation. *J Leukoc Biol* 2004;75:214-23.
- [306] Alican, I. and Kubes, P. A critical role for nitric oxide in intestinal barrier function and dysfunction. *Am J Physiol* 1996;270:G225-37.
- [307] Wallace, J.L. and Miller, M.J. Nitric oxide in mucosal defense: a little goes a long way. *Gastroenterology* 2000;119:512-20.
- [308] Beckman, J.S., Beckman, T.W., Chen, J., Marshall, P.A. and Freeman, B.A. Apparent hydroxyl radical production by peroxynitrite: implications for endothelial injury from nitric oxide and superoxide. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 1990;87:1620-4.
- [309] Rachmilewitz, D., Stamler, J.S., Karmeli, F., Mullins, M.E., Singel, D.J., Loscalzo, J., Xavier, R.J. et al. Peroxynitrite-induced rat colitis--a new model of colonic inflammation. *Gastroenterology* 1993;105:1681-8.
- [310] Giraud, A.S., Pereira, P.M., Thim, L., Parker, L.M. and Judd, L.M. TFF-2 inhibits iNOS/NO in monocytes, and nitrated protein in healing colon after colitis. *Peptides* 2004;25:803-9.
- [311] Farrell, J.J., Taupin, D., Koh, T.J., Chen, D., Zhao, C.M., Podolsky, D.K. and Wang, T.C. TFF2/SP-deficient mice show decreased gastric proliferation, increased acid secretion, and increased susceptibility to NSAID injury. *J Clin Invest* 2002;109:193-204.
- [312] Baus-Loncar, M. and Giraud, A.S. Multiple regulatory pathways for trefoil factor (TFF) genes. *Cell Mol Life Sci* 2005;62:2921-31.
- [313] Oppenheim, J.J., Biragyn, A., Kwak, L.W. and Yang, D. Roles of antimicrobial peptides such as defensins in innate and adaptive immunity. *Ann Rheum Dis* 2003;62 Suppl 2:ii17-21.
- [314] Lanningham-Foster, L., Green, C.L., Langkamp-Henken, B., Davis, B.A., Nguyen, K.T., Bender, B.S. and Cousins, R.J. Overexpression of CRIP in transgenic mice alters cytokine patterns and the immune response. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* 2002;282:E1197-203.
- [315] Andoh, A., Kinoshita, K., Rosenberg, I. and Podolsky, D.K. Intestinal trefoil factor induces decay-accelerating factor expression and enhances the protective activities against complement activation in intestinal epithelial cells. *J Immunol* 2001;167:3887-93.

- [316] Heeger, P.S., Lalli, P.N., Lin, F., Valujskikh, A., Liu, J., Muqim, N., Xu, Y. et al. Decayaccelerating factor modulates induction of T cell immunity. *J Exp Med* 2005;201:1523-30.
- [317] Zhu, Y.Q. and Tan, X.D. TFF3 modulates NF-{kappa}B and a novel negative regulatory molecule of NF-{kappa}B in intestinal epithelial cells via a mechanism distinct from TNF-{alpha}. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* 2005;289:C1085-93.
- [318] Vandenbroucke, K., Hans, W., Van Huysse, J., Neirynck, S., Demetter, P., Remaut, E., Rottiers, P. et al. Active delivery of trefoil factors by genetically modified Lactococcus lactis prevents and heals acute colitis in mice. *Gastroenterology* 2004;127:502-13.
- [319] Tan, X.D., Chen, Y.H., Liu, Q.P., Gonzalez-Crussi, F. and Liu, X.L. Prostanoids mediate the protective effect of trefoil factor 3 in oxidant-induced intestinal epithelial cell injury: role of cyclooxygenase-2. *J Cell Sci* 2000;113 (Pt 12):2149-55.
- [320] Blikslager, A.T., Roberts, M.C., Rhoads, J.M. and Argenzio, R.A. Prostaglandins I2 and E2 have a synergistic role in rescuing epithelial barrier function in porcine ileum. *J Clin Invest* 1997;100:1928-33.
- [321] Zushi, S., Shinomura, Y., Kiyohara, T., Minami, T., Sugimachi, M., Higashimoto, Y., Kanayama, S. et al. Role of prostaglandins in intestinal epithelial restitution stimulated by growth factors. *Am J Physiol* 1996;270:G757-62.
- [322] Vassiliou, E., Jing, H. and Ganea, D. Prostaglandin E2 inhibits TNF production in murine bone marrow-derived dendritic cells. *Cell Immunol* 2003;223:120-32.
- [323] Jing, H., Vassiliou, E. and Ganea, D. Prostaglandin E2 inhibits production of the inflammatory chemokines CCL3 and CCL4 in dendritic cells. *J Leukoc Biol* 2003;74:868-79.
- [324] Harizi, H. and Norbert, G. Inhibition of IL-6, TNF-alpha, and cyclooxygenase-2 protein expression by prostaglandin E2-induced IL-10 in bone marrow-derived dendritic cells. *Cell Immunol* 2004;228:99-109.
- [325] Harizi, H., Grosset, C. and Gualde, N. Prostaglandin E2 modulates dendritic cell function via EP2 and EP4 receptor subtypes. *J Leukoc Biol* 2003;73:756-63.
- [326] D'Acquisto, F., Sautebin, L., Iuvone, T., Di Rosa, M. and Carnuccio, R. Prostaglandins prevent inducible nitric oxide synthase protein expression by inhibiting nuclear factor-kappaB activation in J774 macrophages. *FEBS Lett* 1998;440:76-80.
- [327] Wells, J.M., Wilson, P.W. and Le Page, R.W. Improved cloning vectors and transformation procedure for Lactococcus lactis. *J Appl Bacteriol* 1993;74:629-36.
- [328] Ahmed, F.E. Genetically modified probiotics in foods. *Trends Biotechnol* 2003;21:491-7.
- [329] Kleerebezem, M. and Hugenholtz, J. Metabolic pathway engineering in lactic acid bacteria. *Curr Opin Biotechnol* 2003;14:232-7.
- [330] Bolotin, A., Wincker, P., Mauger, S., Jaillon, O., Malarme, K., Weissenbach, J., Ehrlich, S.D. et al. The complete genome sequence of the lactic acid bacterium Lactococcus lactis ssp. lactis IL1403. *Genome Res* 2001;11:731-53.
- [331] Wegmann, U., O'Connell-Motherway, M., Zomer, A., Buist, G., Shearman, C., Canchaya, C., Ventura, M. et al. Complete genome sequence of the prototype lactic acid bacterium Lactococcus lactis subsp. cremoris MG1363. *J Bacteriol* 2007;189:3256-70.
- [332] de Vos, W.M. Gene expression systems for lactic acid bacteria. *Curr Opin Microbiol* 1999;2:289-95.
- [333] Dieye, Y., Usai, S., Clier, F., Gruss, A. and Piard, J.C. Design of a protein-targeting system for lactic acid bacteria. *J Bacteriol* 2001;183:4157-66.
- [334] Le Loir, Y., Azevedo, V., Oliveira, S.C., Freitas, D.A., Miyoshi, A., Bermudez-Humaran, L.G., Nouaille, S. et al. Protein secretion in Lactococcus lactis : an efficient way to increase the overall heterologous protein production. *Microb Cell Fact* 2005;4:2.
- [335] van Asseldonk, M., Rutten, G., Oteman, M., Siezen, R.J., de Vos, W.M. and Simons, G. Cloning of usp45, a gene encoding a secreted protein from Lactococcus lactis subsp. lactis MG1363. *Gene* 1990;95:155-60.
- [336] Lee, S.J., Kim, D.M., Bae, K.H., Byun, S.M. and Chung, J.H. Enhancement of secretion and extracellular stability of staphylokinase in Bacillus subtilis by wprA gene disruption. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 2000;66:476-80.

- [337] Wu, X.C., Lee, W., Tran, L. and Wong, S.L. Engineering a Bacillus subtilis expression-secretion system with a strain deficient in six extracellular proteases. *J Bacteriol* 1991;173:4952-8.
- [338] Poquet, I., Ehrlich, S.D. and Gruss, A. An export-specific reporter designed for grampositive bacteria: application to Lactococcus lactis. *J Bacteriol* 1998;180:1904-12.
- [339] Ravn, P., Arnau, J., Madsen, S.M., Vrang, A. and Israelsen, H. The development of TnNuc and its use for the isolation of novel secretion signals in Lactococcus lactis. *Gene* 2000;242:347-56.
- [340] Lindholm, A., Smeds, A. and Palva, A. Receptor binding domain of Escherichia coli F18 fimbrial adhesin FedF can be both efficiently secreted and surface displayed in a functional form in Lactococcus lactis. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 2004;70:2061-71.
- [341] Enouf, V., Langella, P., Commissaire, J., Cohen, J. and Corthier, G. Bovine rotavirus nonstructural protein 4 produced by Lactococcus lactis is antigenic and immunogenic. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 2001;67:1423-8.
- [342] Andersson, H. and von Heijne, G. A 30-residue-long "export initiation domain" adjacent to the signal sequence is critical for protein translocation across the inner membrane of Escherichia coli. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 1991;88:9751-4.
- [343] Le Loir, Y., Gruss, A., Ehrlich, S.D. and Langella, P. A nine-residue synthetic propeptide enhances secretion efficiency of heterologous proteins in Lactococcus lactis. *J Bacteriol* 1998;180:1895-903.
- [344] Ribeiro, L.A., Azevedo, V., Le Loir, Y., Oliveira, S.C., Dieye, Y., Piard, J.C., Gruss, A. et al. Production and targeting of the Brucella abortus antigen L7/L12 in Lactococcus lactis: a first step towards food-grade live vaccines against brucellosis. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 2002;68:910-6.
- [345] Schotte, L., Steidler, L., Vandekerckhove, J. and Remaut, E. Secretion of biologically active murine interleukin-10 by Lactococcus lactis. *Enzyme Microb Technol* 2000;27:761-5.
- [346] Steidler, L., Robinson, K., Chamberlain, L., Schofield, K.M., Remaut, E., Le Page, R.W. and Wells, J.M. Mucosal delivery of murine interleukin-2 (IL-2) and IL-6 by recombinant strains of Lactococcus lactis coexpressing antigen and cytokine. *Infect Immun* 1998;66:3183-9.
- [347] Steidler, L., Wells, J.M., Raeymaekers, A., Vandekerckhove, J., Fiers, W. and Remaut, E. Secretion of biologically active murine interleukin-2 by Lactococcus lactis subsp. lactis. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 1995;61:1627-9.
- [348] Detmer, A. and Glenting, J. Live bacterial vaccines--a review and identification of potential hazards. *Microb Cell Fact* 2006;5:23.
- [349] Dietrich, G., Griot-Wenk, M., Metcalfe, I.C., Lang, A.B. and Viret, J.F. Experience with registered mucosal vaccines. *Vaccine* 2003;21:678-83.
- [350] Mercenier, A., Muller-Alouf, H. and Grangette, C. Lactic acid bacteria as live vaccines. *Curr Issues Mol Biol* 2000;2:17-25.
- [351] Seegers, J.F. Lactobacilli as live vaccine delivery vectors: progress and prospects. *Trends Biotechnol* 2002;20:508-15.
- [352] Norton, P.M., Wells, J.M., Brown, H.W., Macpherson, A.M. and Le Page, R.W. Protection against tetanus toxin in mice nasally immunized with recombinant Lactococcus lactis expressing tetanus toxin fragment C. *Vaccine* 1997;15:616-9.
- [353] Robinson, K., Chamberlain, L.M., Schofield, K.M., Wells, J.M. and Le Page, R.W. Oral vaccination of mice against tetanus with recombinant Lactococcus lactis. *Nat Biotechnol* 1997;15:653-7.
- [354] Wells, J.M., Wilson, P.W., Norton, P.M., Gasson, M.J. and Le Page, R.W. Lactococcus lactis: high-level expression of tetanus toxin fragment C and protection against lethal challenge. *Mol Microbiol* 1993;8:1155-62.
- [355] Huibregtse, I.L., Snoeck, V., de Creus, A., Braat, H., De Jong, E.C., Van Deventer, S.J. and Rottiers, P. Induction of ovalbumin-specific tolerance by oral administration of Lactococcus lactis secreting ovalbumin. *Gastroenterology* 2007;133:517-28.
- [356] Kuhn, R., Lohler, J., Rennick, D., Rajewsky, K. and Muller, W. Interleukin-10-deficient mice develop chronic enterocolitis. *Cell* 1993;75:263-74.
- [357] Powrie, F., Leach, M.W., Mauze, S., Menon, S., Caddle, L.B. and Coffman, R.L. Inhibition of Th1 responses prevents inflammatory bowel disease in scid mice reconstituted with CD45RBhi CD4+ T cells. *Immunity* 1994;1:553-62.

- [358] Ribbons, K.A., Thompson, J.H., Liu, X., Pennline, K., Clark, D.A. and Miller, M.J. Antiinflammatory properties of interleukin-10 administration in hapten-induced colitis. *Eur J Pharmacol* 1997;323:245-54.
- [359] Tomoyose, M., Mitsuyama, K., Ishida, H., Toyonaga, A. and Tanikawa, K. Role of interleukin-10 in a murine model of dextran sulfate sodium-induced colitis. *Scand J Gastroenterol* 1998;33:435-40.
- [360] Fedorak, R.N., Gangl, A., Elson, C.O., Rutgeerts, P., Schreiber, S., Wild, G., Hanauer, S.B. et al. Recombinant human interleukin 10 in the treatment of patients with mild to moderately active Crohn's disease. The Interleukin 10 Inflammatory Bowel Disease Cooperative Study Group. *Gastroenterology* 2000;119:1473-82.
- [361] Van Montfrans, C., Hooijberg, E., Rodriguez Pena, M.S., De Jong, E.C., Spits, H., Te Velde, A.A. and Van Deventer, S.J. Generation of regulatory gut-homing human T lymphocytes using ex vivo interleukin 10 gene transfer. *Gastroenterology* 2002;123:1877-88.
- [362] Van Montfrans, C., Rodriguez Pena, M.S., Pronk, I., Ten Kate, F.J., Te Velde, A.A. and Van Deventer, S.J. Prevention of colitis by interleukin 10-transduced T lymphocytes in the SCID mice transfer model. *Gastroenterology* 2002;123:1865-76.
- [363] Foligne, B., Nutten, S., Steidler, L., Dennin, V., Goudercourt, D., Mercenier, A. and Pot, B. Recommendations for improved use of the murine TNBS-induced colitis model in evaluating anti-inflammatory properties of lactic acid bacteria: technical and microbiological aspects. *Dig Dis Sci* 2006;51:390-400.
- [364] Chamaillard, M., Philpott, D., Girardin, S.E., Zouali, H., Lesage, S., Chareyre, F., Bui, T.H. et al. Gene-environment interaction modulated by allelic heterogeneity in inflammatory diseases. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2003;100:3455-60.
- [365] Marchbank, T., Westley, B.R., May, F.E., Calnan, D.P. and Playford, R.J. Dimerization of human pS2 (TFF1) plays a key role in its protective/healing effects. J Pathol 1998;185:153-8.
- [366] Playford, R.J., Marchbank, T., Goodlad, R.A., Chinery, R.A., Poulsom, R. and Hanby, A.M. Transgenic mice that overexpress the human trefoil peptide pS2 have an increased resistance to intestinal damage. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 1996;93:2137-42.
- [367] Playford, R.J., Marchbank, T., Chinery, R., Evison, R., Pignatelli, M., Boulton, R.A., Thim, L. et al. Human spasmolytic polypeptide is a cytoprotective agent that stimulates cell migration. *Gastroenterology* 1995;108:108-16.
- [368] Konturek, P.C., Brzozowski, T., Konturek, S.J., Elia, G., Wright, N., Sliwowski, Z., Thim, L. et al. Role of spasmolytic polypeptide in healing of stress-induced gastric lesions in rats. *Regul Pept* 1997;68:71-9.
- [369] McKenzie, C., Marchbank, T., Playford, R.J., Otto, W., Thim, L. and Parsons, M.E. Pancreatic spasmolytic polypeptide protects the gastric mucosa but does not inhibit acid secretion or motility. *Am J Physiol* 1997;273:G112-7.
- [370] Poulsen, S.S., Thulesen, J., Christensen, L., Nexo, E. and Thim, L. Metabolism of oral trefoil factor 2 (TFF2) and the effect of oral and parenteral TFF2 on gastric and duodenal ulcer healing in the rat. *Gut* 1999;45:516-22.
- [371] Babyatsky, M.W., deBeaumont, M., Thim, L. and Podolsky, D.K. Oral trefoil peptides protect against ethanol- and indomethacin-induced gastric injury in rats. *Gastroenterology* 1996;110:489-97.
- [372] Cook, G.A., Thim, L., Yeomans, N.D. and Giraud, A.S. Oral human spasmolytic polypeptide protects against aspirin-induced gastric injury in rats. *J Gastroenterol Hepatol* 1998;13:363-70.
- [373] Tran, C.P., Cook, G.A., Yeomans, N.D., Thim, L. and Giraud, A.S. Trefoil peptide TFF2 (spasmolytic polypeptide) potently accelerates healing and reduces inflammation in a rat model of colitis. *Gut* 1999;44:636-42.
- [374] Zhang, B.H., Yu, H.G., Sheng, Z.X., Luo, H.S. and Yu, J.P. The therapeutic effect of recombinant human trefoil factor 3 on hypoxia-induced necrotizing enterocolitis in immature rat. *Regul Pept* 2003;116:53-60.
- [375] Beck, P.L., Wong, J.F., Li, Y., Swaminathan, S., Xavier, R.J., Devaney, K.L. and Podolsky, D.K. Chemotherapy- and radiotherapy-induced intestinal damage is regulated by intestinal trefoil factor. *Gastroenterology* 2004;126:796-808.

- [376] Knudsen, S., Saadbye, P., Hansen, L.H., Collier, A., Jacobsen, B.L., Schlundt, J. and Karlstrom, O.H. Development and testing of improved suicide functions for biological containment of bacteria. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 1995;61:985-91.
- [377] Molin, S., Boe, L., Jensen, L.B., Kristensen, C.S., Givskov, M., Ramos, J.L. and Bej, A.K. Suicidal genetic elements and their use in biological containment of bacteria. *Annu Rev Microbiol* 1993;47:139-66.
- [378] Schweder, T., Hofmann, K. and Hecker, M. Escherichia coli K12 relA strains as safe hosts for expression of recombinant DNA. *Appl Microbiol Biotechnol* 1995;42:718-23.
- [379] Torres, B., Jaenecke, S., Timmis, K.N., Garcia, J.L. and Diaz, E. A gene containment strategy based on a restriction-modification system. *Environ Microbiol* 2000;2:555-63.
- [380] Diaz, E., Munthali, M., de Lorenzo, V. and Timmis, K.N. Universal barrier to lateral spread of specific genes among microorganisms. *Mol Microbiol* 1994;13:855-61.
- [381] Sorensen, K.I., Larsen, R., Kibenich, A., Junge, M.P. and Johansen, E. A food-grade cloning system for industrial strains of Lactococcus lactis. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 2000;66:1253-8.
- [382] Cohen, S.S. and Barner, H.D. Studies on Unbalanced Growth in Escherichia Coli. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 1954;40:885-93.
- [383] Ahmad, S.I., Kirk, S.H. and Eisenstark, A. Thymine metabolism and thymineless death in prokaryotes and eukaryotes. *Annu Rev Microbiol* 1998;52:591-625.
- [384] Gasson, M.J. Plasmid complements of Streptococcus lactis NCDO 712 and other lactic streptococci after protoplast-induced curing. *J Bacteriol* 1983;154:1-9.
- [385] Bringel, F., Van Alstine, G.L. and Scott, J.R. A host factor absent from Lactococcus lactis subspecies lactis MG1363 is required for conjugative transposition. *Mol Microbiol* 1991;5:2983-93.
- [386] Pedersen, M.B., Jensen, P.R., Janzen, T. and Nilsson, D. Bacteriophage resistance of a deltathyA mutant of Lactococcus lactis blocked in DNA replication. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 2002;68:3010-23.
- [387] MacPherson, G., Milling, S., Yrlid, U., Cousins, L., Turnbull, E. and Huang, F.P. Uptake of antigens from the intestine by dendritic cells. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* 2004;1029:75-82.
- [388] Hanauer, S.B. Inflammatory bowel disease: epidemiology, pathogenesis, and therapeutic opportunities. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2006;12 Suppl 1:S3-9.
- [389] Inaba, K., Inaba, M., Romani, N., Aya, H., Deguchi, M., Ikehara, S., Muramatsu, S. et al. Generation of large numbers of dendritic cells from mouse bone marrow cultures supplemented with granulocyte/macrophage colony-stimulating factor. *J Exp Med* 1992;176:1693-702.
- [390] Masurier, C., Pioche-Durieu, C., Colombo, B.M., Lacave, R., Lemoine, F.M., Klatzmann, D. and Guigon, M. Immunophenotypical and functional heterogeneity of dendritic cells generated from murine bone marrow cultured with different cytokine combinations: implications for anti-tumoral cell therapy. *Immunology* 1999;96:569-77.
- [391] Baus-Loncar, M., Kayademir, T., Takaishi, S. and Wang, T. Trefoil factor family 2 deficiency and immune response. *Cell Mol Life Sci* 2005;62:2947-55.
- [392] Taupin, D. and Podolsky, D.K. Trefoil factors: initiators of mucosal healing. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2003;4:721-32.
- [393] Poulsen, S.S., Kissow, H., Hare, K., Hartmann, B. and Thim, L. Luminal and parenteral TFF2 and TFF3 dimer and monomer in two models of experimental colitis in the rat. *Regul Pept* 2005;126:163-71.
- [394] Otto, W.R. and Thim, L. Trefoil factor family-interacting proteins. *Cell Mol Life Sci* 2005;62:2939-46.
- [395] Banchereau, J., Briere, F., Caux, C., Davoust, J., Lebecque, S., Liu, Y.J., Pulendran, B. et al. Immunobiology of dendritic cells. *Annu Rev Immunol* 2000;18:767-811.
- [396] Steinman, R.M., Inaba, K., Turley, S., Pierre, P. and Mellman, I. Antigen capture, processing, and presentation by dendritic cells: recent cell biological studies. *Hum Immunol* 1999;60:562-7.
- [397] Iwasaki, A. and Kelsall, B.L. Mucosal immunity and inflammation. I. Mucosal dendritic cells: their specialized role in initiating T cell responses. *Am J Physiol* 1999;276:G1074-8.
- [398] Mashimo, H., Podolsky, D.K. and Fishman, M.C. Structure and expression of murine intestinal trefoil factor: high evolutionary conservation and postnatal expression. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 1995;210:31-7.

- [399] Thim, L., Woldike, H.F., Nielsen, P.F., Christensen, M., Lynch-Devaney, K. and Podolsky, D.K. Characterization of human and rat intestinal trefoil factor produced in yeast. *Biochemistry* 1995;34:4757-64.
- [400] Vandesompele, J., De Preter, K., Pattyn, F., Poppe, B., Van Roy, N., De Paepe, A. and Speleman, F. Accurate normalization of real-time quantitative RT-PCR data by geometric averaging of multiple internal control genes. *Genome Biol* 2002;3:RESEARCH0034.
- [401] Haase, C., Jorgensen, T.N. and Michelsen, B.K. Both exogenous and endogenous interleukin-10 affects the maturation of bone-marrow-derived dendritic cells in vitro and strongly influences T-cell priming in vivo. *Immunology* 2002;107:489-99.
- [402] Mazzoni, A. and Segal, D.M. Controlling the Toll road to dendritic cell polarization. J Leukoc Biol 2004;75:721-30.
- [403] Rimoldi, M., Chieppa, M., Larghi, P., Vulcano, M., Allavena, P. and Rescigno, M. Monocyte-derived dendritic cells activated by bacteria or by bacteria-stimulated epithelial cells are functionally different. *Blood* 2005;106:2818-26.
- [404] Guarner, F. Microecology as a target for therapeutic intervention in inflammatory bowel disease. *IDrugs* 2003;6:868-73.
- [405] Shanahan, F. Crohn's disease. Lancet 2002;359:62-9.
- [406] Franchimont, D., Vermeire, S., El Housni, H., Pierik, M., Van Steen, K., Gustot, T., Quertinmont, E. et al. Deficient host-bacteria interactions in inflammatory bowel disease? The toll-like receptor (TLR)-4 Asp299gly polymorphism is associated with Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis. *Gut* 2004;53:987-92.
- [407] Pasare, C. and Medzhitov, R. Toll pathway-dependent blockade of CD4+CD25+ T cell-mediated suppression by dendritic cells. *Science* 2003;299:1033-6.
- [408] Uhlig, H.H. and Powrie, F. Dendritic cells and the intestinal bacterial flora: a role for localized mucosal immune responses. *J Clin Invest* 2003;112:648-51.
- [409] Kobayashi, M., Kweon, M.N., Kuwata, H., Schreiber, R.D., Kiyono, H., Takeda, K. and Akira, S. Toll-like receptor-dependent production of IL-12p40 causes chronic enterocolitis in myeloid cell-specific Stat3-deficient mice. *J Clin Invest* 2003;111:1297-308.
- [410] Kramer, M., Netea, M.G., de Jong, D.J., Kullberg, B.J. and Adema, G.J. Impaired dendritic cell function in Crohn's disease patients with NOD2 3020insC mutation. *J Leukoc Biol* 2006;79:860-6.
- [411] Rakoff-Nahoum, S., Hao, L. and Medzhitov, R. Role of toll-like receptors in spontaneous commensal-dependent colitis. *Immunity* 2006;25:319-29.
- [412] Wells, J.M., Robinson, K., Chamberlain, L.M., Schofield, K.M. and Le Page, R.W. Lactic acid bacteria as vaccine delivery vehicles. *Antonie Van Leeuwenhoek* 1996;70:317-30.
- [413] van Asseldonk, M., Rutten, G., Oteman, M., Siezen, R.J., de Vos, W.M. and Simons, G. Cloning of usp45, a gene encoding a secreted protein from *Lactococcus lactis* subsp. *lactis* MG1363. *Gene* 1990;95:155-60.
- [414] Waterfield, N.R., Le Page, R.W., Wilson, P.W. and Wells, J.M. The isolation of lactococcal promoters and their use in investigating bacterial luciferase synthesis in *Lactococcus lactis. Gene* 1995;165:9-15.
- [415] Happel, K.I., Dubin, P.J., Zheng, M., Ghilardi, N., Lockhart, C., Quinton, L.J., Odden, A.R. et al. Divergent roles of IL-23 and IL-12 in host defense against Klebsiella pneumoniae. J Exp Med 2005;202:761-9.
- [416] Kelly, M.N., Kolls, J.K., Happel, K., Schwartzman, J.D., Schwarzenberger, P., Combe, C., Moretto, M. et al. Interleukin-17/interleukin-17 receptor-mediated signaling is important for generation of an optimal polymorphonuclear response against Toxoplasma gondii infection. *Infect Immun* 2005;73:617-21.
- [417] McKenzie, B.S., Kastelein, R.A. and Cua, D.J. Understanding the IL-23-IL-17 immune pathway. *Trends Immunol* 2006;27:17-23.
- [418] Braat, H., van den Brande, J., van Tol, E., Hommes, D., Peppelenbosch, M. and van Deventer, S. Lactobacillus rhamnosus induces peripheral hyporesponsiveness in stimulated CD4+ T cells via modulation of dendritic cell function. *Am J Clin Nutr* 2004;80:1618-25.
- [419] Mohamadzadeh, M., Olson, S., Kalina, W.V., Ruthel, G., Demmin, G.L., Warfield, K.L., Bavari, S. et al. Lactobacilli activate human dendritic cells that skew T cells toward T helper 1 polarization. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2005;102:2880-5.

- [420] Foligne, B., Nutten, S., Grangette, C., Dennin, V., Goudercourt, D., Poiret, S., Dewulf, J. et al. Correlation between in vitro and in vivo immunomodulatory properties of lactic acid bacteria. *World J Gastroenterol* 2007;13:236-43.
- [421] Niers, L.E., Hoekstra, M.O., Timmerman, H.M., van Uden, N.O., de Graaf, P.M., Smits, H.H., Kimpen, J.L. et al. Selection of probiotic bacteria for prevention of allergic diseases: immunomodulation of neonatal dendritic cells. *Clin Exp Immunol* 2007;149:344-52.
- [422] Zeuthen, L.H., Christensen, H.R. and Frokiaer, H. Lactic acid bacteria inducing a weak interleukin-12 and tumor necrosis factor alpha response in human dendritic cells inhibit strongly stimulating lactic acid bacteria but act synergistically with gramnegative bacteria. *Clin Vaccine Immunol* 2006;13:365-75.
- [423] Bouma, G. and Strober, W. The immunological and genetic basis of inflammatory bowel disease. *Nat Rev Immunol* 2003;3:521-33.
- [424] Langrish, C.L., Chen, Y., Blumenschein, W.M., Mattson, J., Basham, B., Sedgwick, J.D., McClanahan, T. et al. IL-23 drives a pathogenic T cell population that induces autoimmune inflammation. *J Exp Med* 2005;201:233-40.
- [425] Park, H., Li, Z., Yang, X.O., Chang, S.H., Nurieva, R., Wang, Y.H., Wang, Y. et al. A distinct lineage of CD4 T cells regulates tissue inflammation by producing interleukin 17. *Nat Immunol* 2005;6:1133-41.
- [426] Puccetti, P., Belladonna, M.L. and Grohmann, U. Effects of IL-12 and IL-23 on antigen-presenting cells at the interface between innate and adaptive immunity. *Crit Rev Immunol* 2002;22:373-90.
- [427] Hue, S., Ahern, P., Buonocore, S., Kullberg, M.C., Cua, D.J., McKenzie, B.S., Powrie, F. et al. Interleukin-23 drives innate and T cell-mediated intestinal inflammation. J Exp Med 2006;203:2473-83.
- [428] McCormack, G., Moriarty, D., O'Donoghue, D.P., McCormick, P.A., Sheahan, K. and Baird, A.W. Tissue cytokine and chemokine expression in inflammatory bowel disease. *Inflamm Res* 2001;50:491-5.
- [429] Banks, C., Bateman, A., Payne, R., Johnson, P. and Sheron, N. Chemokine expression in IBD. Mucosal chemokine expression is unselectively increased in both ulcerative colitis and Crohn's disease. *J Pathol* 2003;199:28-35.
- [430] Grimm, M.C., Elsbury, S.K., Pavli, P. and Doe, W.F. Enhanced expression and production of monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 in inflammatory bowel disease mucosa. *J Leukoc Biol* 1996;59:804-12.
- [431] Mazzucchelli, L., Hauser, C., Zgraggen, K., Wagner, H.E., Hess, M.W., Laissue, J.A. and Mueller, C. Differential in situ expression of the genes encoding the chemokines MCP-1 and RANTES in human inflammatory bowel disease. *J Pathol* 1996;178:201-6.
- [432] Reinecker, H.C., Loh, E.Y., Ringler, D.J., Mehta, A., Rombeau, J.L. and MacDermott, R.P. Monocyte-chemoattractant protein 1 gene expression in intestinal epithelial cells and inflammatory bowel disease mucosa. *Gastroenterology* 1995;108:40-50.
- [433] Scheerens, H., Hessel, E., de Waal-Malefyt, R., Leach, M.W. and Rennick, D. Characterization of chemokines and chemokine receptors in two murine models of inflammatory bowel disease: IL-10-/- mice and Rag-2-/- mice reconstituted with CD4+CD45RBhigh T cells. *Eur J Immunol* 2001;31:1465-74.
- [434] te Velde, A.A., de Kort, F., Sterrenburg, E., Pronk, I., ten Kate, F.J., Hommes, D.W. and van Deventer, S.J. Comparative analysis of colonic gene expression of three experimental colitis models mimicking inflammatory bowel disease. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2007;13:325-30.
- [435] Melgar, S., Drmotova, M., Rehnstrom, E., Jansson, L. and Michaelsson, E. Local production of chemokines and prostaglandin E2 in the acute, chronic and recovery phase of murine experimental colitis. *Cytokine* 2006;35:275-83.
- [436] Sun, F.F., Lai, P.S., Yue, G., Yin, K., Nagele, R.G., Tong, D.M., Krzesicki, R.F. et al. Pattern of cytokine and adhesion molecule mRNA in hapten-induced relapsing colon inflammation in the rat. *Inflammation* 2001;25:33-45.
- [437] Kucharzik, T., Lugering, N., Pauels, H.G., Domschke, W. and Stoll, R. IL-4, IL-10 and IL-13 down-regulate monocyte-chemoattracting protein-1 (MCP-1) production in activated intestinal epithelial cells. *Clin Exp Immunol* 1998;111:152-7.
- [438] Sato, W., Aranami, T. and Yamamura, T. Cutting edge: Human Th17 cells are identified as bearing CCR2+CCR5- phenotype. J Immunol 2007;178:7525-9.
- [439] Connor, S.J., Paraskevopoulos, N., Newman, R., Cuan, N., Hampartzoumian, T., Lloyd, A.R. and Grimm, M.C. CCR2 expressing CD4+ T lymphocytes are preferentially recruited to the ileum in Crohn's disease. *Gut* 2004;53:1287-94.
- [440] Mowat, A.M. Anatomical basis of tolerance and immunity to intestinal antigens. *Nat Rev Immunol* 2003;3:331-41.
- [441] Harrington, L.E., Hatton, R.D., Mangan, P.R., Turner, H., Murphy, T.L., Murphy, K.M. and Weaver, C.T. Interleukin 17-producing CD4+ effector T cells develop via a lineage distinct from the T helper type 1 and 2 lineages. *Nat Immunol* 2005;6:1123-32.
- [442] Schmidt, C., Giese, T., Ludwig, B., Mueller-Molaian, I., Marth, T., Zeuzem, S., Meuer, S.C. et al. Expression of interleukin-12-related cytokine transcripts in inflammatory bowel disease: elevated interleukin-23p19 and interleukin-27p28 in Crohn's disease but not in ulcerative colitis. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2005;11:16-23.
- [443] Fujino, S., Andoh, A., Bamba, S., Ogawa, A., Hata, K., Araki, Y., Bamba, T. et al. Increased expression of interleukin 17 in inflammatory bowel disease. *Gut* 2003;52:65-70.
- [444] Fuss, I.J., Becker, C., Yang, Z., Groden, C., Hornung, R.L., Heller, F., Neurath, M.F. et al. Both IL-12p70 and IL-23 are synthesized during active Crohn's disease and are down-regulated by treatment with anti-IL-12 p40 monoclonal antibody. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2006;12:9-15.
- [445] Zhang, Z., Zheng, M., Bindas, J., Schwarzenberger, P. and Kolls, J.K. Critical role of IL-17 receptor signaling in acute TNBS-induced colitis. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2006;12:382-8.
- [446] Zhang, Z., Hinrichs, D.J., Lu, H., Chen, H., Zhong, W. and Kolls, J.K. After interleukin-12p40, are interleukin-23 and interleukin-17 the next therapeutic targets for inflammatory bowel disease? *Int Immunopharmacol* 2007;7:409-16.
- [447] Lytle, C., Tod, T.J., Vo, K.T., Lee, J.W., Atkinson, R.D. and Straus, D.S. The peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma ligand rosiglitazone delays the onset of inflammatory bowel disease in mice with interleukin 10 deficiency. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2005;11:231-43.
- [448] Yen, D., Cheung, J., Scheerens, H., Poulet, F., McClanahan, T., McKenzie, B., Kleinschek, M.A. et al. IL-23 is essential for T cell-mediated colitis and promotes inflammation via IL-17 and IL-6. *J Clin Invest* 2006;116:1310-6.
- [449] Denning, T.L., Wang, Y.C., Patel, S.R., Williams, I.R. and Pulendran, B. Lamina propria macrophages and dendritic cells differentially induce regulatory and interleukin 17-producing T cell responses. *Nat Immunol* 2007;8:1086-94.
- [450] Hoffmann, W. Trefoil factors TFF (trefoil factor family) peptide-triggered signals promoting mucosal restitution. *Cell Mol Life Sci* 2005;62:2932-8.
- [451] Loos, M., De Creus, A., Thim, L., Remaut, E. and Rottiers, P. Murine trefoil factor 3 does not directly modulate LPS-mediated dendritic cell function. *Scand J Immunol* 2007;66:35-42.
- [452] Langrish, C.L., McKenzie, B.S., Wilson, N.J., de Waal Malefyt, R., Kastelein, R.A. and Cua, D.J. IL-12 and IL-23: master regulators of innate and adaptive immunity. *Immunol Rev* 2004;202:96-105.